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Letters to the Editor
A key element in the world of publishing is what readers have to say.

We want to hear from you on just about anything that appears in
each issue of Akauntan Nasional. Why not drop us a line now?

Local accounting firms must start preparing for the impending liberalisation of
the finance related services sector. But the manner in which the preparations
will take place remains to be seen. It could either be the formation of a big

accounting firm that also provides some other related services or through mergers
among the smaller firms.

The pace of the transformation is yet unknown. Somehow this has led to comments
that the industry has chosen to play down the inevitable. There are hundreds of reg-
istered firms in Malaysia and the authority wants to see a smaller number of well-
capitalised and well-managed local firms to face the larger foreign competitors which
have the expertise, network and capital.

There are also a lot of opportunities in the country’s business and economic activi-
ties as the nation moves towards rapid economic recovery and progress. Local firms
must have the skills and capital to face these challenges in order to retain the busi-
ness (Ringgit and Sen) within the country.

Consolidation and mergers are inevitable measures needed to strengthen the in-
dustry, resulting in fewer but well-capitalised firms. Currently, it is safe to conclude,
only a fraction of locally incorporated firms are able to compete regionally.

The liberalisation of the financial sector does not only threaten our sector but it
also affects other industries such as banks, insurance, stockbroking companies plus
the entire financial services sector. A player in the accounting industry advocates a
collective programme among the existing firms, which he hopes will result in a finan-
cial services entity with synergy and collective strength.

Other observers believe that, in the future, there will be no more firms as we know
them now but companies with a large capital base offering multiple services much
like a supermarket that provides a wide range of financial consultation services.

But are mergers a panacea for all the challenges facing the accounting and auditing
firms? Will becoming bigger necessarily make the firms better? Or are local firms
likely to be bogged down in the merger process to the detriment of their own firm’s
business, instead acting to the advantage of the foreign firms, whose experiences are
much wider and varied.

Akauntan Nasional takes a good look at possible local accounting firm mergers
and concludes that the potential for merger blues or bliss is almost equivalent. The
most important thing to be assessed by the parties involved is to first identify prob-
lems afflicting the system.

We portray the big picture and look at the various issues impacting the possible
mergers. And at the same time we examine the issues and related case studies to
analyse whether bigger is really better.

Elsewhere, we take a look at Who is pursuing What and Why in Universiti Utara
Malaysia. This article looks into a study conducted by a group of lecturers in the
University to identify factors and reasons behind students decisions in selecting their
academic programmes.

Happy Reading
Editor

Merger Poser
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FROM THE PRESIDENT’S DESK

October Fever

Come October, the nation will be

gripped by a raging fever. While

the die-hard wheelers revel in the

roar of Formula One euphoria, there will

be a group of people grappling with the

trepidation of having to scrutinise the

Budget 2001 Report. At the same time, peo-

ple in the accounting profession will be fe-

verishly awaiting the passing of the pro-

posed amendments to the Accountants Act

1967, which at this moment is creating a

major flurry in the industry. Some view it

with inconsternation and some appear to

be complacent. But most with apprehen-

sion that the amendments will affect the

whole sphere of the profession.

For MIA, the amendments to the Ac-

countants Act 1967, are viewed as a way of

fostering a united profession, enhancing

self-regulation and accelerating the mod-

ernisation of the profession. I believe the

move is important because changes in the

economic, financial and technological land-

scape will gather further momentum in the

future. The risk will be just too great if noth-

ing is done to prepare ourselves for the new

business environment.

The amendments will likely cover four

areas :  extension of council membership;

revision in designation of accountants;

stiffer penalties for misdemeanour; and a

clearly-defined role for the Institute with

respect to training for accountants.

As for now, the Institute has close to

15,000 members while the Malaysian As-

sociation of Certified Public Accountants

(Macpa), has a membership of about 2,700.

Following an effort taken by us to see the

existence of a united accounting body, a

merger between us is on the cards.

With the ever expanding membership

and the dynamics of the industry, the exist-

ing number of council members is too small

for an expanding industry. It is better to have

a bigger group of 30 council members.

Moreover, as a statutory body, there is a

need for direct government input.

I believe the Minister of Finance will

determine the exact number of govern-

ment appointees (there is only one now,

the Accountant-General)

After 20 years of inactivity, MIA has a lot

of work to do in areas such as the mainte-

nance of standards and supervision. Most

of our Council members are overburdened.

On the revision of the designation of ac-

countants, I believe that in the era of

globalisation and information technology,

designations should be more acceptable or

recognisable worldwide.

Currently, nine out of 10 Asean countries

have already adopted the designation ‘Cer-

tified Public Accountant’ (CPA) which, in-

cidentally, is also used by Macpa. However,

our Institute’s system does not appear to

be in line with international practice as it

still uses the designations of ‘Registered

Accountant’ (RA) and ‘Public Accountant’

(PA).

In terms of compatibility and standing,

it would appear that our accountants can-

not reach that level. While the quality of

work by our accountants is not inferior,

people do look at professional designation.

“For MIA, the amendments to the Accountants Act 1967,

are viewed as a way of fostering a united profession,

enhancing self-regulation and accelerating the

modernisation of the profession.”
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VISION AND MISSION

The Malaysian Institute of Accountants is the exclusive accountancy body, repre-

senting the voice of all accountants in Malaysia and a leading partner in nation-
building. The Institute is committed to serving the profession and the nation with

integrity and professionalism.

Its mission is :

* To promote and monitor professional standards and integrity.

* To provide education and training to meet the challenge of the

ever-changing global economy.

* To conduct and promote research and development for the

enhancement of the profession.

Therefore, under the amendments, the

designations RA and PA will be substituted

with ‘Chartered Accountant’ (CA).

In a bid to make Malaysia’s accountants

highly respected internationally, I believe

the amendments to the Act also seek a ten-

fold increase in the fines that will be im-

posed on fraudulent activities and other

misdemeanours.

At present, the fine of between RM1,000

and RM2,000 for misrepresentation by a

body corporate and other offences, I feel,

is still too low.

As vanguards of business financial

records, we shoulder a heavy responsibil-

ity for various users of financial information

to be able to rely on the credibility of busi-

ness organisations. If financial statements

are cooked-up, false or misleading, there

will be a breakdown in trust. Accountants

must be sensitive, as passing examinations

is not the only requirement. They must also

be objective, upright and ethical.

The higher penalty will not only act as a

deterrent; more importantly, it will be rec-

ognition for MIA as the body that regulates

and disciplines accountants in this coun-

try. We need the clout that comes with such

recognition.

On training, MIA is grateful that its pro-

posals on the education of accountants

have been favourably received by both the

Ministries of Education and Finance. MIA

is now holding a series of discussions with

universities and institutions of higher

learning to maintain the standard of edu-

cation and make preparatory courses more

comprehensive.

As part of our ongoing efforts in educa-

tion, we will continue to expose our mem-

bers to related subjects such as organisa-

tion, human behaviour, economics, statis-

tics and law. To ensure that accountants

remain relevant, we have been aggres-

sively promoting and developing our con-

tinuing professional development (CPD)

programmes.

As a window to the world, I believe we

will be better recognised in our role of

training and education. At the same time,

we want to benefit from developments

around the world.

As for re-establishing the merger plan

that did not take off previously, I feel that

there was a lack of communication as well

as mistrust. However, after seeing Macpa’s

president and some of its prominent mem-

bers, they have verbally said “yes” to the

merger.

I took it upon myself to re-establish new

lines of communication. Besides request-

ing certain information, I have also asked

to meet Macpa’s full council. The ball is

now in their court.

If MIA can co-opt some of Macpa’s com-

mittee members, it will break down a lot

of differences, thus making it easier for

MIA and Macpa to merge. A closer rapport

is very much desired and I hope to estab-

lish a working relationship by the end of

the year. In turn, it will pave the way for

the next phase, bringing back both bodies

to the roundtable for merger discussions.

I am adamant that a unified profession

is more focused and authoritative by vir-

tue of having a single reference point.

Does that mean members will eventually

be asked to merge?

Although I believe that accounting firms

should move towards mergers, the new

merger initiative will not interfere with our

members’ business development plans.

The Institute will not go against free en-

terprise. We can give broad guidelines, gen-

eral direction, encouragement or act as ar-

biter, but there will be no forced marriages.

The standing of any organisation is per-

sonified by its leadership. If leaders do

things for self-interest, pretend to know

something which they do not or just do

something merely to be in the limelight, it

is up to the membership to decide whether

they want to be led by such personalities.

I believe that as a government body, MIA

needs to take its rightful place and conduct

itself accordingly even though it has not

been seen in that light in the past.

As part of its plans, MIA will strive to

safeguard its members’ interests, regulate

the profession for practitioners and the

country as well as for those who would like

to come and practise here, influence the

development of the profession internation-

ally and help to promote Malaysia as a con-

ducive place for business.

Happy Belated 43rd Birthday, Malaysia!

Note :  This article is an excerpt from The Edge’s
interview with MIA President Dato’ Syed Amin
Aljeffri, which appeared in the publication on
21 August 2000.

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○
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Merger Chal 

“Quality-wise we do just as good a

job as the big firms. But more
importantly, firms like us offer

personalised services which clients

need. They can call up and drop by
to see us any time. This kind of

personal touch is not the norm for

bigger firms. Clients do not normally
see the partners.”

S. Tharma Iswara

Though size matters in specific areas, the firm’s real
strength will depend on how efficient, innovative and
sound its practices are.

G 
lobal trends towards consoli-
dation and perceived threats
that will come with liberalisa-
tion under the ASEAN Free

Trade Area (AFTA) and World Trade Or-
ganisation (WTO) regimes, accountants
and non-accountants
alike ponder on what
will be the future of lo-
cal accounting firms.
Do they have choices
other than merging?
What are the advan-
tages, disadvantages
and pitfalls associated
with the merger of ac-
counting firms? To get
a feel of the issues con-
cerned and a peek into
the future scenario,
Akauntan Nasional talked to a few practis-
ing accountants.

The Malaysian Institute of Accountants
(MIA) President, personifies the account-
ant who thoroughly believes in going for-
ward via a merger. Setting an example,
Dato’ Syed Amin Aljef fri, whose firm,
Aljeffri & Co., a 20-year old practice, is in
the midst of having merger talks with a few
parties.

He adds, “It is a very hard decision to
make particularly when you are already
comfortable being your own boss. But one
has to be realistic. There is only so much
that one can do on your own. You need to
have more than one pair of hands and that
calls for sharing. It means that you have to
give up something and you cannot have
everything.”

He says this is how the global big boys
go about it — by merging straight away.

Illustrating his logic, he says that it is how-
ever better to share 1,000 units among five
people so that each of them gets 200 units
than having one person on his own with
just 10 units.

Personally campaigning for mergers,

Dato’ Syed Amin says, as a believer in the
merger path and to convince people in his
merger campaigns, he has to do it himself.
Indeed Aljeffri is now at a very advanced
stage of merger negotiations with two lo-
cal parties. He says, “We want to promote
local firms. The merged entity will be quite

sizeable with about eight partners and of-
fices throughout Malaysia. It will of fer
highly-integrated services and will be able
to do more things including participation
in e-commerce and the k-economy.”

He says the Kuala Lumpur Malay Cham-
ber of Commerce, which he heads, has al-
ready propagated the merger idea. Judg-
ing from his meeting with bumiputera ac-
countants, which saw a good turnout, Dato’
Syed Amin says while some prefer to re-
main small, the majority feel the need to
move forward towards merger.

Despite the fear that once
the market opens up, the
smaller firms will face the
prospects of stiffer competi-
tion, some maintain that there
is and there will always be a
market for small firms.

Echoing such a view is S.
Tharma Iswara of Iswara &
Co. He says, “Quality-wise we
do just as good a job as the big
firms. But more importantly,
firms like us offer personal-
ised services which clients

need. They can call up and drop by to see
us any time. This kind of personal touch is
not the norm for bigger firms. Clients do
not normally see the partners.”

Dato’ Syed Amin admits that there are
some areas where the small firms can suc-
ceed. But he argues that the number of

C O V E R
M E R G E R  O F  AC C O U N T I N G  F I R M S

By Tareq Ismaun
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“There is only so much

that one can do on your
own. You need to have more
than one pair of hands and

that calls for sharing. It
means that you have to give

up something and you

cannot have everything.”

Dato’ Syed Amin Aljeffri
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for future listing. Although there is always
the fear that the clients will switch to the
bigger firms when they themselves be-
come bigger, he says there is always room
for small firms. Moreover the switch is not
one way, as his firm also handles clients
which, for want of the personal touch, have
decided to switch from the bigger firms.

Having said that, he reckons that the big
firms compete more with the merchant
banks. As for the accountants working in
the big firms, he says a fair number will
stay on for a long time. The pay and ben-
efits are good and this is seen as job-secu-
rity. But some, he adds, just want to get
the experience, before leaving either to set
up their own practice or joining other busi-
ness organisations in the commercial and
industrial sectors.

One of those who attended Dato’ Syed
Amin’s briefing at the Kuala Lumpur Malay
Chamber of Commerce was Atarek.

With the bumiputera firms having their
own peculiarity, Atarek says it is envisaged
that with mergers, eventually there will be
a few large bumiputera firms.

7

areas which the small firms can do so is
limited, adding that sometimes there are
more small firms than available jobs. He
says, “Nasi lemak stalls can make money.
But if everybody opens up nasi lemak
stalls, then nobody will operate a restau-
rant. What will happen to the image of a
country where there are only stalls and no
proper restaurants, or if there are, the only
restaurants are foreign?”

Agreeing is Atarek Kamil Ibrahim, the
managing partner of Atarek Kamil Ibrahim
& Co. “In business you cannot grow on
your own as you are limited in terms of
range of expertise and so on. So you have
to combine forces.”

Instead of a merger, Iswara prefers stra-
tegic partnerships of a loose kind of ar-
rangement. He believes that smaller prac-
tices still have a role to play and a chance
to survive provided they also strengthen
their capabilities via partnerships or alli-
ances.

He says a firm, which is strong in one
area, may want to find a strategic partner
who is strong in another area. For instance,

a firm which has its core business in audit
but wants to revamp its tax side should find
a partner which is strong in taxation.
Iswara adds that such a move should tie in
with development plans associated with IT
and having partners from other states.
Iswara says joint-marketing, cross-billing
and utilising one another’s expertise are
possible areas of cooperation under stra-
tegic partnerships.

According to Dato’ Syed Amin, instead
of just having a ‘loose arrangement’, a more
permanent tie-up is preferable. He says,
“One needs some permanency in order to
gain recognition. Accounting firms need to
have a clear identity which can be relied
upon. When you just have a loose arrange-
ment, it is difficult to convince people who
are unsure as to how long your arrange-
ment will last.”

Iswara recognises the fact that when cli-
ents become big, they will likely go for the
big accounting firms to improve their im-
age or for prestige reasons. But Iswara says
all clients start small and some have grown
big with his firm. A few have the potential

lenges
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Sharing Syed Amin’s advocacy for merg-
ers, he points out that aside from attaining
economies of scale, mergers will prevent
direct competition with each other as well
as paving the way towards securing big
jobs.

Vir tually all of Atarek’s clients are
bumiputeras comprising of the Govern-
ment, co-operatives and bumiputera private
companies. His firm has also been acting
as a representative of a large European firm
for the past three years. At present he says
there are three partners, adding another
one is joining soon. He says, “It is a bit dif-
ficult to get into the non-bumiputera mar-
ket.”

Atarek says once AFTA and WTO come
into full swing, the external threats which
foreign firms can pose cannot be taken
lightly. He adds, “Although the Big Five are
already here, they are not in full force yet.
If they have a stronger presence here, not
only can they retain existing clients, but
they will also dominate the scene. So what
will happen to us? There will be no room
for us to grow.”

As such Atarek feels that such threats
will only accelerate the merger process
among the local firms. In fact Atarek says
he is now talking to a few parties. If possi-
ble, the new enlarged entity aims to be one
of the large bumiputera firms. If that hap-
pens, it will be a big step forward for the
firm, which has been low-profile by design
— to prepare its core team and equip the
firm accordingly for the bigger task ahead.

According to Atarek, based on Syed
Amin’s briefing, a ‘national’ bumiputera
firm is envisaged to be one which has ten
partners, minimum of ten branches and

I
n early August this year, the usually
calm and unexcitable accounting fra-
ternity was jolted by the decision
concerning the arbitration of

Andersen Consulting (AC) with Andersen
Worldwide (AW) and Arthur Andersen
(AA). The decision marks the end of a two-
and-a-half year arbitration process that be-
gan when AC charged AA with violating
the operating agreement that called for the
two units to separate in completely sepa-
rate areas.

Historically, AA and AC were set up as
two stand-alone business units chartered
with providing separate and complemen-
tary services as part of a September 1989
restructuring. Under the agreement, AA
was to continue as a tax and audit account-
ing firm while AC would provide manage-
ment and technology consulting. And the
mission of AW was to provide coordination
between the two units and ensure they
continued to operate cooperatively.

Eighteen years down the lane, AC
charged that AA had seriously breached
the agreement among the firms by expand-
ing into business consulting areas. But was
there really a basis for AC’s claims and was
AA guilty as charged? If neither firms are
at fault, is there a third party involved?

The truth is, both AC and AA were vic-
tims of circumstances. According to the ar-
bitrator’s decision, it was AW — not AA —
that breached its material obligations to AC
under the member firm inter-firm agree-
ments (MFIFAs) by failing to coordinate
the practices of AC member firms with
those of AA member firms.

Thus, in a 129-page decision and award,

Points  

turnover of RM10 million.
Atarek reckons that once a firm becomes

more established, it is a natural progres-
sion for it to invite others to join as part-
ners. “Whether they are interested or not,
depends on your strengths”, he adds.

According to Atarek, “It depends on your
long-term vision on where you want your
firm to grow.” In a sense, it also goes back
to the question of control. He says, “The
question of leadership — who will lead the
merged entity as the dominant partner is
of paramount importance. You cannot run
the enlarged firm with too many heads.”

He adds, “Some people really cater for
clients. A few big ones are enough for
them. As some people are already comfort-
able, they do not desire to go further espe-
cially with all the hassles?”

If not properly handled, a merger exer-
cise can be problematic, at least during the
transition period. Atarek points out that
apart from leadership, other issues which
include staff morale as well as different
work cultures and procedures need to be
given due attention at the outset. It means
that a merger requires sound planning and
implementation.

While some firms like Aljeffri and Atarek
have already got their merger talks going,
others may need time for the merger idea
to sink in or to simply consider alternative
arrangements. But one thing is sure
though. There will not be forced mar-
riages. Says Dato’ Syed Amin, “We will not
interfere in the (MIA) members’ business
development. We can give broad guidelines
on the general direction, provide encour-
agement and act as arbiter. We will not go
against free enterprise.”

“ … although the Big Five are
already here, they are not in full
force yet. If they have a stronger

presence here, not only can they
retain existing clients, but they
will also dominate the scene. So

what will happen to us? There will
 be no room for us to grow.”

Atarek Kamil Ibrahim

Should there be a
rationalisation of the
accounting industry in
Malaysia?

By Maznah Marjuni
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the International Chamber of Commerce
(ICC) appointed arbitrator Dr. Guillermo
Gamba determined that, “On account of
AW’s fundamental non-performance, the
MFIFAs are terminated. Consequently,
claimant (AC) is released from all its obli-
gations to AW and the AA member firms
under the MFIFAs as of the date the
present award is notified to the parties.”

An industry player comments that the
21/2 year legal battle between AA and AC
is akin to divorce proceedings. Except that

none of the ‘divorcées’ get any monetary
gain (alimony) and the ‘wife’ (AC) is not
allowed to retain the ‘husband’s’ (AA)
name. (Among others, the arbitrator does
require AC to surrender the name AC to
AW effective 31 December 2000, because
legal title to the name AC is held by AA.)

So, besides having to make contractual
transfer payments (totalling almost US$1
billion), it looks like the people at AC would
have to come up with a new name and im-
age make over by end of this year!

clude some mergers and acquisitions and
perhaps restructuring as well in the proc-
ess), it would also be prudent for them to
predict the way we conduct business in the
long term.

As in the case of AA and AC, the agree-
ments they had were perhaps applicable
and workable way back in 1989. But the
world, especially the business world, has
changed so much since then.

Perhaps we should blame the new
economy — in all probability it could be
the cause of the separation between AA and
AC. To serve its burgeoning clientele, in
the new economy, AA has to play a role of
more than just a tax and accounting firm,
if it doesn’t want to lose them. In fact, even
the functions of the accountants have

changed. The practitioners
are even called consultants
rather than accountants —
they don’t just monitor
money coming in and getting
out of a company. In many
cases, they have to give con-
sultation on certain business
or industry conducts of a
company.

Another fact is, other
firms, especially those
among the Big Five, have al-
ready gone into of fering
comprehensive suppor t
services to clients. Drawing
on their strength, that is be-
ing a global company, these
firms are now of fering cli-
ents advice on how to man-
age their operations on a glo-
bal basis, succeed in new
markets, and effect business

changes through state-of-the-art business
processes and optimal use of information
technology.

Thus, shouldn’t AA and AC just merge
into one entity instead of operating sepa-
rately if they want to stave off competition
from rival firms?

What happened in the Andersen ‘family’
saga should also serve as either an exam-
ple (or a lesson) to other firms. As we
know, besides the existence of multina-
tional firms like AA and AC on our shores,

What happens after the ‘divorce’?
AC’s CEO and global managing partner

Joe Forehand said, “Now, it is time to move
on independently, continuing to focus on
our clients, our people and ambitious
reinvention agenda.”

While Louis P. Salvatore, chairman of AA
Oversight Committee of the AW board of
partners and currently interim worldwide
managing partner said, “The separation
from AC neither has any impact on our
firm’s ability to continue to provide clients

with the highest quality professional serv-
ices nor does it affect our ability to afford
excellent growth opportunities to our peo-
ple. Given the realisation that, in one form
or another, both firms would go our sepa-
rate ways, we had already put in place a
business strategy that enables AA to pro-
vide a broad array of services on a fully
integrated basis to our clients.”

The moral of the story is, while it is fine
for large accounting firms to offer a wide
array of services to clients (which may in-

“At the end of the day, what matters most is actually

not the size of the firm but rather the quality of
services that it provides. The firm must understand the

unique needs of each client, whether big or small.”

to Ponder
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M E R G E R  O F  AC C O U N T I N G  F I R M S

C O V E R

With the impending ASEAN Free Trade Area (AFTA), opportunities for
regional mergers are more real than in the past. Is there a move to-
wards an ASEAN-wide merger among the region’s accounting firms?

An interesting European case study is the merger between Neville Russell and
Mazars & Guerard UK, which gave birth to Mazars Neville Russell on 1 September
1998. The first contact was initiated by Mazars & Guerard at the end of 1997. The
parties’ aims were similar :  to set up a truly integrated European organisation and
implement an ambitious international development strategy.

Since the two firms share the same professional approach and a common ambi-
tion to offer an innovative European strategy to accompany companies in their growth,
a merger study was rapidly undertaken. The merger was finalised on 2 and 3 July
1998.

Mazars & Guerard executed a systematic procedure to consolidate its presence
in the UK. In its July 1998 newsletter, it outlines the merger procedure which began
with a market survey of the audit and consulting market, carried out by the firm and
an outside consultant. The survey resulted in the selection of some firms liable to
share Mazars and Guerard’s European plans and its professional approach. Confi-
dential meetings were held with each of the selected firms but it was Neville Russell
which won the final nod. Excerpts :

Nov 1997 :  Survey of the UK’s audit and consulting market. Definition of criteria
(identical strategic vision, international ties, quality of services, size, etc.) leading to
the identification of potential merger candidates among the top 20 British firms

Dec 1997 :  Identification of seven potential firms. Preparation of a memorandum.

Jan 1998 :  The consultant made initial contacts with the pre-selected firms, informing
them on an anonymous basis, that a European firm with a continental presence was
seeking a partnership in the UK. Memorandum supplied to interested firms.

Feb 1998 :  Management Board met with firms in England; gave more details, as-
sessed motives and exchanged information.

Mar 1998 :  Meeting in France with the five most interested firms to evaluate all the
points to be settled before reaching an agreement :  choice of name, impact on any
networks to which they belong, due diligence, timetabling, probationary period etc.

Apr 1998 :  Classification of the four firms declaring a real interest in two categories
according to their characteristics. Further meetings with two firms in the first cat-
egory. Selection of Neville Russell and exclusivity given until end of July for finalisa-
tion of the project.

May 1998 :  Preparation of the MOU defining the conditions for bringing Neville
Russell into Mazars & Guerard Carl on the financial and operational fronts and iden-
tification of the difficulties.

June 1998 :  Due diligence audits in both firms to verify, under various headings
(clientele and business, human resources, technical, financial and organisational
aspects), that there was no major obstacle. At the same time, preparation of a merger
agreement binding the two firms in the event of votes in favour by the respective
partners.

11 June 1998 :  Neville Russell’s national Council unanimously agreed to the merger.
At the same time, the management Board of Mazars & Guerard approved the project.
Notification to partners in the two firms.

2 and 3 July 1998 :  Both Neville Russell and Mazars & Guerard partners approved
the operation almost unanimously.

1 Sept 1998 :  Neville Russell became Mazars Neville Russell.

The Same Game Planthere are hundreds more of Malaysian ori-
gin accounting firms — in various sizes.

The next question is, is there a need for
amalgamation of firms in this industry?
What is the acceptable or ideal size of an
accounting firm?

So far, we’ve seen mergers and acquisi-
tions happening in other finance-related in-
dustries like banking and insurance, with
brokerage to follow soon. Although we may
not see the day when unit trust manage-
ment companies merge, the possibility is
there for accounting firms to merge. What
we’ve seen thus far is the merger of
PriceWaterhouse with Coopers & Lybrand
to become PriceWaterhouseCoopers a few
years ago. So far, so good with that ‘mar-
riage’.

The main comment heard among the fra-
ternity was that the merger was between
two similar organisations — both PW and
C&L were accounting firms — thus the
possibility of an arbitration similar to the
AA and AC case is quite unlikely.

This also infers that if accounting firms
were to merge, the potential partners
should be those with similar line of busi-
ness, not recommended for those with
complementary line of business. The fear
is that the partners may find themselves
stepping on each other’s toes two decades
later.

At the end of the day, what matters most
is actually not the size of the firm but rather
the quality of services that it provides. The
firm must understand the unique needs of
each client, whether big or small.

Administratively, for the client, it is
easier to deal with a single firm that can
provide a myriad of services under one
roof. So, there is no need to run around
town looking for separate consultants and
issue different cheques for payment. How-
ever, a large firm with multi-talented con-
sultants may charge higher fees than a
small firm (even including the external
consultants). On the other hand, a large
firm may be more tolerant of non or late
payment compared to a small firm.

The pro and contra arguments can go on
and on. But whatever it is, to the clients,
it’s the service that counts.

10
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Abstract
Several studies have identified and re-

ported various factors influencing career-
choice decisions of accountants and study-
choice decisions of undergraduate ac-
counting students. None of these studies,
however, have systematically compared
the study-choice factors of matriculation
students who are interested in the account-
ing programme with those who are inter-
ested in other programmes of study. Since
the matriculation programme is formulated
for  bumiputera students, their study-
choice factors can be studied indirectly and
can be a basis for in-
ducing bumiputera
students to study ac-
countancy. Using a
questionnaire ap-
proach, students
were requested to
determine the rela-
tive importance of
11 factors in their
choice of pro-
gramme of study.
The results showed that future accounting
students and those of other programmes
appear more concerned with job satisfac-
tion, earnings potential, availability of em-
ployment and aptitude for the subject.
These results have important implications
for enrolment into the programme of study.

Introduction
In Malaysia, the matriculation pro-

gramme is formulated to provide an aca-
demic programme at pre-university level
for  bumiputera students. The main objec-

tive of Matriculation Centres in
institutions of higher learning
is to increase the number of
qualified bumiputera stu-
dents for first-degree
courses in a local university.

At Universiti Utara Malay-
sia (UUM), matriculation
students take courses like ac-
counting, information technol-
ogy, business administration,
economics, banking and finance.
However, the number of bumiputeras in
many professions is still not achieving the

expected target of
the New Economic
Policy (NEP) and
National Develop-
ment Policy (NDP).
This issue is greatly
felt in the accounting
p r o f e s s i o n .
Bumiputera account-
ants account for
merely 15 percent of
the accountants reg-

istered with the Malaysian Institute of Ac-
countants (MIA).

The accounting profession is demanding
ever-increasing numbers of top-quality re-
cruits (MacNeil and McInnes, 1979). To
induce the most promising young men and
women to choose accounting as a career
requires a knowledge of the factors that
attract them, and how these factors com-
pare with those for other professions that
are competing with accounting for these
same young people (Paolillo and Estes,
1982).

In other words, to induce young
bumiputera men and women to choose ac-
counting as a career, a study has to be con-
ducted to systematically compare study-
choice factors or career-choice factors of
bumiputera students who are interested in
taking an accounting course with those
who are interested in taking other courses.

By knowing the accounting study-
choice factors of bumiputera stu-

dents, we can use them as a
base to inculcate bumiputera
students with a positive per-
ception of the accounting
profession. This, in turn,
could induce more
bumiputera students to

choose accounting as their
career and eventually the

number of bumiputera qualified
accountants could gradually in-

crease.
To our knowledge, no studies have been

conducted to systematically compare
study-choice factors of future accounting
bumiputera students with those of other
courses. Therefore, this study has been
initiated to systematically compare study-
choices of bumiputera students who are in-
terested in accounting programmes with
those who are interested in other pro-
grammes of study.

 Literature Review
Several studies have been undertaken to

identify the factors influencing accountants
in choosing their careers (Simons, 1960;
Thielens, 1966; Ashworth, 1969; Carpen-
ter and Strawser, 1970; Evans, 1974). Im-
portant factors that have been identified
are earning potential, association with oth-
ers in the field, parental influence, cost of
education, social status attainment, job
satisfaction, years of formal education
required, aptitude for subject matter,
teacher influence, peer influence, previous
work experience and availability of employ-
ment.

B U S I N E S S / A C C O U N T I N G
E D U C AT I O N

“… future accounting

students and those of

other programmes appear

more concerned with job

satisfaction, earnings

potential, availability of

employment and aptitude

for the subject.”

Factors influencing students’ choice of academic
programmes at Universiti Utara Malaysia.



Akauntan NasionalSeptember 2000 13

 WHAT AND WHY



September 2000Akauntan Nasional

Choice of Programme Male Female Total

of Study  % % %

B.Acct 28.2 71.8 100

BIT 43.7 56.3 100

BBA 29.6 70.4 100

BHRM 19.3 80.7 100

BTM 33.3 66.7 100

B.Mgt with Edu. 32.1 67.9 100

B.Acct(IS)  58.8 41.2 100

Programme of Study  %

Bachelor of Accounting (B.Acct) 37.6

Bachelor of Information Technology (BIT) 22.5

Bachelor of Business Administration (BBA) 19.6

Bachelor of Human Resource Management (BHRM) 8.1

Bachelor of Management with Education (B.Mgt with Edu.) 2.7

Bachelor of Tourism Management (BTM) 2.6

Bachelor of Accounting (Information Systems) (B.Acct (IS)) 1.6

Others 5.3

Total 100
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E D U C AT I O N

B U S I N E S S / A C C O U N T I N G

UUM’s strategic planning to attract top-
quality students to do their undergradu-
ate programme at UUM.

Research Method
Data Collection

The respondents of this study were all
matriculation students, both in the Ma-
triculation Centre at UUM and at the Mara
College located at Kuala Nerang, Kedah,
for the 1999/2000 academic year. The prin-
ciple objective of the study was to estab-
lish the factors that affect matriculation stu-
dents’ choice of study programme. The
questionnaires were distributed to these
respondents with the assistance of teach-
ers in both matriculation centres.

The questionnaire solicited from the re-
spondents the relative importance of 11
possible influences on their choice of pro-
gramme of study. A seven-point Likert-type
scale was used to determine the signifi-
cance of each factor ranking from one, in-
dicating not important at all, to seven, in-
dicating that it is extremely important.

The factors considered were the same

T A B L E  1           Preferred Programme of Study

Academic Preference According to
Students’ Gender

T A B L E  2

Paolillo and Estes (1982) conducted a
study, which systematically compared the
above career-choice factors of accountants
with those of other professionals. Availabil-
ity of employment is the most important
of the 12 factors to accountants. Earnings
potential, years of education required, ap-
titude for the subject and teacher influence
have a greater impact on career-choice for
accountants than for the other professional
groups, while parental influence, cost of
education, job satisfaction and peer influ-
ence are less important.

Gul et al (1989) compared career-choice
factors of accounting students with those
of other disciplines, where the factors of
earnings potential, years of education and
availability of employment were found to
be more important for accountancy than
for engineering, law and medicine. Haswell
and Holmes (1988) identified seven factors
affecting the employment choice of final
year accounting students and found that
except for self-employment prospects, all
the other factors (salary, job availability, job
security, prospects for promotion, job
satisfaction and standing in the commu-
nity) positively influenced respondents’
choices.

Azhar (1990) studied the factors which
influenced Malaysian undergraduate stu-
dents in choosing social science degree
programmes — accountancy, business ad-
ministration, economics and public admin-
istration. The finding of his study showed
that aptitude for the subject, availability of
employment, parental influence, demand-
able job, job security, job satisfaction and
earnings potential were more important
considerations for choice of study.

However, to our knowledge, no studies
have been undertaken in an effort to iden-
tify the factors, which are influential in the
decisions of pre-university students to
study accounting. Since the intention of
this research is to study the study-choice
factors of bumiputera students, our re-
spondents are matriculation students. The
study on matriculation students is consid-
ered important because of four main rea-
sons :

a The pre-university programme is a
comprehensive and intensive introduc-
tory course to the programme.

b The study-choice factors among
bumiputera students can be revealed
and used as a basis for inducing them
to choose an accounting course in the
future.

c The majority of the accounting stu-
dents in UUM are matriculation stu-
dents.

Research Objective
This study identifies and examines fac-

tors which influence matriculation stu-
dents in choosing their programme of
study at UUM. The significant study-
choice factors might be emphasised dur-
ing the informational programmes di-
rected towards pre-university students
like Malaysia Certificate of Education
(MCE) or Sijil Pelajaran Malaysia (SPM),
Malaysia Higher School Certificate (HSC)
or Sijil Tinggi Persekolahan Malaysia
(STPM), and matriculation students and
their parents as well as high school teach-
ers, administrators and counsellors. In
other words, the findings of this study
might have important implications for
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State B.Acct BIT BBA BHRM BTM B.Mgt Edu B.Acct (IS)

% % % % % % %

Johor 8.0 6.5 8.9 4.8 0.0 7.1 17.6

Kedah 15.3 17.3 16.3 30.1 22.2 21.4 23.5

Kelantan 8.8 14.3 14.8 18.1 7.4 7.1 11.8

Melaka 2.8 2.2 0.0 1.2 0.0 10.7 5.9

Negeri Sembilan  4.1 1.7 2.0 2.4 7.4 0.0 0.0

Pahang 8.0 5.6 11.3 7.2 7.4 10.7 11.8

Pulau Pinang 5.4 3.5 4.4 3.6 0.0 14.3 0.0

Perak 15.3 13.0 12.3 10.8 18.5 10.7 5.9

Perlis 1.8 3.5 2.0 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.0

Selangor 8.0 9.5 8.9 3.6 25.9 7.1 5.9

Terengganu 11.9 9.5 9.9 9.6 3.7 7.1 11.8

Sabah 2.3 2.6 4.4 2.4 3.7 3.6 0.0

Sarawak 0.8 4.3 1.5 2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0

Wilayah Persekutuan 7.3 6.5 3.4 0.0 3.7 0.0 5.9

Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

Preferred Programme Private Public Self- Total 100%

of Study Sector Sector employed

B.Acct 70.2 15.3 14.5 100

BIT 71.4 16.5 12.1 100

BBA 58.1 17.2 24.6 100

BHRM 62.7 30.1 7.2 100

BTM 70.4 22.2 7.4 100

B.Mgt with Edu. 35.7 60.7 3.6 100

B.Acct(IS)  64.7 23.5 11.8 100
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              Choice of Programme Preferred by Job MarketT A B L E  4

T A B L E  3

Data Analysis
Descriptive analysis such as means and

ranking were used to analyse the data. Ba-
sic statistical analysis tools were used be-
cause the objective of the study was to iden-
tify and to examine factors influencing
choice of programme of study only and not
to produce any causal relationship or hy-
pothesis.

Research Results
Background Information

The questionnaire was targeted at all
UUM matriculation students, as it was en-
visaged that there would be no difficulties
in distributing the questionnaires and col-
lecting the responses. Of the approxi-
mately 1,500 questionnaires distributed,
1,026 responses (or 68 per cent) were re-
ceived. The majority of the respondents

were female students (67.9 per cent),
whilst the remaining 32.1 per cent were
male students. When it came to the com-
position of bumiputeras, the Malays con-
tributed the largest proportion, 91 per cent,
and the remaining 9 per cent were other
bumiputeras (mostly from Sabah and
Sarawak).

The percentages for degree pro-
grammes’ selection were as indicated in
Table 1. The remaining programmes of
study such as economics and public man-
agement were very small and therefore
designated as ‘others’. However, due to
their low significance, we have excluded
other programmes of study from the mean
scores and ranking analyses.

Factors Influencing Choice of
Programme of Study

Demographic Factors
There was a significant difference in

choice of programme of study between
male and female students for the
B.Acct(IS) course. As indicated in Table 2,
58.8 per cent male students chose the
B.Acct(IS), whilst the remaining 41.2 per
cent were female students. In contrast, for
other programmes of study, the choice of
programme was dominated by female stu-
dents.

The programme of study chosen by stu-
dents from different states are presented
in Table 3. The majority of the students
from different states who chose the B.Acct
programme came from Kedah, Perak,
Terengganu and Kelantan, whilst for the
B.Acct(IS) programme the students came
predominantly from Kedah, Johor,
Kelantan, Pahang and Terengganu.

This result indicated that most of the stu-
dents who chose the B.Acct and B.Acct(IS)
programmes were from the less-developed
states.

This research also studied the influence
of students’ preferred job sector on their
choice of programme of study.

As indicated in Table 4, the majority of
the students who chose B.Acct, BIT, BBA,
BHRM, BTM and B.Acct(IS) programmes
were interested in the private sector rather
than the public sector or being self-em-
ployed, whereas students who chose the
B.Mgt with Edu. programme preferred the
public sector.

              Preferred Programme of Study by State

as those used by Paolillo and Estes (1982)
and Gul et al (1989), except that cost of edu-
cation and years of formal education were
omitted because there is no difficulty in
getting an education loan in Malaysia, and
the number of years of formal education
for any academic programme at UUM is
almost the same.

The factor, media influence, was instead
added to the list because of its strong role
in the society development process nowa-
days. These 11 factors were synthesised
from previous studies (Simons, 1960;
Thielens, 1966; Ashworth, 1969; Carpen-
ter and Strawser, 1970; Evans, 1974;
Paolillo and Estes, 1982; Haswell and
Holmes, 1988; Gul et. al., 1989) because it
was thought appropriate to use factors
which had already been found to exert
some influence on career choice decisions.
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Factor B.Acct BIT BBA BHRM BTM B.Mgt Edu B.Acct (IS)                 Overall

Mean Mean Mean Mean Mean Mean Mean Mean Rank

Job satisfaction 6.3 6.4 6.4 6.6 6.5 6.2 6.3 6.39 1

Aptitude for subject 6.4 6.5 6.3 6.2 6.6 6.3 6.2 6.36 2

Earning Potential 6.3 6.4 6.3 6.3 6.3 5.7 6.7 6.29 3

Employment Availability 6.2 6.4 6.3 6.4 6.4 5.8 6.2 6.24 4

Prestige & social status 5.4 5.4 5.5 5.2 5.5 5.0 5.7 5.39 5

Association with others 5.4 5.4 5.5 5.4 5.5 5.3 5.1 5.37 6

Parental influence 5.1 5.0 5.0 5.2 5.3 5.2 5.1 5.13 7

Teacher influence 4.4 4.3 4.2 4.5 4.2 4.2 3.9 4.24 8

Work experience 4.2 4.2 4.3 3.8 4.2 3.9 3.9 4.07 9

Media influence 4.0 4.4 4.0 4.1 4.9 3.3 3.7 4.06 10

Friends influence 3.5 3.7 3.4 3.6 4.3 3.8 3.3 3.66 11

Factor                   B.Acct                 BIT                BBA                  BHRM                 BTM                B.Mgt Edu              B.Acct (IS)

Me* Ran** Me Ran Me Ran Me Ran Me Ran Me Ran Me Ran

Aptitude for subject 6.4 1 6.5 1 6.3 2 6.2 4 6.6 1 6.3 1 6.2 4

Job satisfaction 6.3 2 6.4 2 6.4 1 6.6 1 6.5 2 6.2 2 6.3 2

Earning Potential 6.3 3 6.4 4 6.3 3 6.3 3 6.3 4 5.7 4 6.7 1

Employment Availability 6.2 4 6.4 3 6.3 4 6.4 2 6.4 3 5.8 3 6.2 3

Prestige & social status 5.4 5 5.4 5 5.5 6 5.2 6 5.5 5 5.0 7 5.7 5

Association with others 5.4 6 5.4 6 5.5 5 5.4 5 5.5 6 5.3 5 5.1 7

Parental influence 5.1 7 5.0 7 5.0 7 5.2 7 5.3 7 5.2 6 5.1 6

Teacher influence 4.4 8 4.3 9 4.2 9 4.5 8 4.2 11 4.2 8 3.9 8

Work experience 4.2 9 4.2 10 4.3 8 3.8 10 4.2 10 3.9 9 3.9 9

Media influence 4.0 10 4.4 8 4.0 10 4.1 9 4.9 8 3.3 11 3.7 10

Friends influence 3.5 11 3.7 11 3.4 11 3.6 11 4.3 9 3.8 10 3.3 11
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At the moment, the job prospects for
degree holders in education in this coun-
try are still largely limited to being school
teachers in the public sector.

Study-choice Factors
Table 5 presents the mean scores and

the rankings for the factors which influ-
enced students’ choice of programme of
study.

These results suggest that aptitude for
subject, job satisfaction, earning potential
and availability of employment were signifi-
cant factors which influenced the choice
of programme of study in each field. It can
also be observed that the influence of
friends, parents, teachers and the media,
as well as previous work experience were
not influential factors in the choice of pro-

E D U C AT I O N
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gramme of study.
The results obtained here are similar to

those of Gul et al (1989) and Paolillo and
Estes (1982). This perspective is of inter-
est, but a different viewpoint may appear
when the mean scores are ranked horizon-
tally so as to indicate the profession where
each factor was ranked highest and to high-
light the different rankings of each factor
between different programmes of study.

From the horizontal ranking analysis,
the aptitude for subject and job satisfaction
factors were more important for B.Acct,
BIT, BTM and B.Mgt with Edu. than for
other programmes of study. This may in-
dicate that these two factors should be
stressed in promotion programmes under-
taken by UUM to encourage bumiputera
students to choose those four programmes

           Means and Ranking of Factors Influencing Preferred Programme of Study

• Me— mean
•• Ran — Ranking

               Overall Means and Ranking of Factors Influencing Preferred Programme of Study

of study.
Earning potential is more important to

students who chose B.Acct(IS) than for
other programmes of study. This result
suggests that explanations on earning po-
tential should be stressed during promo-
tion sessions for this programme. The ap-
titude for the subject factor was not so im-
portant to BHRM and B.Acct (IS) pro-
grammes of study, although it was for other
programmes of study. This result suggests
that students who chose B.Acct (IS) are
more remuneration-oriented than others.

An analysis of the mean scores from Ta-
ble 6 also shows that the matriculation stu-
dents’ choice of programme of study was
primarily motivated by expectation of job
satisfaction. This result suggests that job
satisfaction should receive more emphasis

T A B L E  5

T A B L E  6
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than other factors when promoting all the
programmes of study.

Conclusion and Implications for
Enrolment to the Accounting

Programme
The four factors which most influenced

bumiputera students to choose the ac-
counting (including accounting with infor-
mation systems) programme are aptitude
for the subject, job satisfaction, earning
potential and employment availability. In
addition, demographic factors like gender,
state of residency, residential category, par-
ents’ income and designation also influ-
enced students’ choice of programme of
study. This suggests that UUM should con-
sider these factors in promotional pro-
grammes and emphasis should be placed
upon the remunerative prospects of an
entrant to the accounting programme.

Since the matriculation programme will
be under the Ministry of Education con-
trol starting from the 2000/2001 academic
year, the above findings might have impor-
tant implications for the accounting pro-
gramme enrolment in two respects :

a Consider them as a basis for inducing
matriculation students to choose ac-
counting as a future career.

b Consider them as a basis for improv-
ing UUM’s competitive advantage for

attracting top-quality matriculation stu-
dents to study accounting.

UUM should consider the above two im-
plications in undertaking its education in-
formational programme. It must be borne
in mind that the results of this study suf-
fer from the usual limitations of question-
naire study and limited external validity.
The respondents came from the matricu-
lation centre in UUM and do not reflect the
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attitudes of the entire population of ma-
triculation students in all universities. But
then if UUM wishes to attract top quality
bumiputera students, the attitudes of this
group of students must be relevant and
therefore influence UUM’s promotional
programmes.

Note :  This article was edited and reviewed by Dr.
Jeyapalan Kasipillai, Associate Professor, School
of Accountancy, Universiti Utara Malaysia.

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

A view of the Universiti Utara Malaysia Administrative Building, from Perdana Square



September 2000Akauntan Nasional

B U S I N E S S  G L O B A L I S AT I O N

B U S I N E S S / A C C O U N T I N G

 Business Glob  
The Impact on  

18 September 2000Akauntan Nasional



Akauntan NasionalSeptember 2000

Globalisation (Duncan, 1996) is
defined as a process which
tends to increase the interde-

pendence between national economies. It
can be seen as a movement towards the
formation of a single market for goods and
services, in which there is no discrimina-
tion based on the geographical origin of
producer or consumers. However, Meigs
(1999) defined globalisation as the process
of managers becoming aware of the impact
of international activities on the future of
their company. On the other hand, Waite
(1999) stated that globalisation means that
accountants need to have a greater under-
standing of regulations and laws govern-
ing accounting standards in other parts of
the world.

There are four global environmental
forces (Meigs, 1999) which affect the ac-
counting information measured, reported,
and created. They are namely political and
legal systems, economic systems, culture,
technology and infrastructure. Each force
is interrelated and influences each other.

Countries use their political and legal
systems to transfer and control business
assets. Political risks occur when govern-
ments shift assets ownership from the com-
pany to the government or when the com-
pany relinquishes command over opera-
tions due to government intervention. For
instance, when Iran nationalised its oil in-
dustry in the late
1970s. Fur ther-
more, some coun-
tries use their politi-
cal power to regu-
late cross-border
commerce in order
to encourage or discourage particular
types of importing or exporting activities.
Others restrict the flow of currency that
can affect the amounts of foreign-earned
profits, which can be transferred out and
used elsewhere.

The economic systems under which
businesses operate significantly affect the
form and availability of accounting infor-
mation. Countries currently operating in a

By Nik Mohamad Zaki bin Nik Salleh
LECTURER, ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE DEPARTMENT,
COLLEGE OF BUSINESS AND MANAGEMENT, UNIVERSITI TENAGA NASIONAL
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market economy may find difficulties when
tr ying to do business in a planned
economy. In a planned economy, the allo-
cation of resources and the determination
of output are based on central planning by
the government. The country that uses this
planning extensively is China. On the other
hand, in market economies, markets dic-

tate the allocation of
resources and the
output among seg-
ments of the
economy. The own-
ership and the
means of produc-

tion are being privatised.
Culture influences business relation-

ships through beliefs and expectations of
customers and business associates. There-
fore, any culture differences (in terms of
religion, ethnic groups, language, and in-
come level) will create significant problems
in designing and administrating an effec-
tive accounting system. For example, a
budgeting system that is effective for a
Malaysian subsidiary may be inappropri-
ate for other subsidiaries in Europe or
other continents.

The technology and infrastructure of
each global location will affect the type and
cost of business activities. Different train-
ing and education levels or programmes
can create problems when transferring in-
formation and knowledge between busi-
ness partners located in different coun-
tries. For instance, differences in internal
accounting systems can create problems
in international business dealings. Further-
more, inadequate infrastructure facilities
also pose problems for globalisation. Some

Environmental Forces Impacting Globalisation

Political and
legal system

Economic
System

Culture

Technology and
Infrastructure

GLOBALISATIONGLOBALISATION

“Globalisation is defined as a

process which tends to

increase the interdependence

between national economies”

alisation :
 Accounting
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business locations may have poor access
to communication equipments, inadequate
R&D facilities and transportation systems
or unreliable power sources. An account-
ant may have to take these factors into con-
sideration when estimating the cost of the
goods sold or the cost for inventory in the
balance sheet items.

As a result of
globalisation, busi-
nesses or companies
located in other
countries can con-
duct business with
suppliers and buyers
outside their coun-
tries of origin. There-
fore, management
accountants need a better understanding of
costs involved in producing or supplying a
product. To meet this new challenge, man-
agement accountants have developed new
tools and techniques, which include target
costing, strategic cost management and
transfer pricing.

Target costing is a ‘backward look’ at
how products should be manufactured
and sold. The firm begins by analysing the
strategic position of the product relative
to the firm and similar products of com-
petitors. It then determines the price the
market will pay for the item. Target cost-
ing teams must then build the product
within the cost target that has been cal-
culated to ensure the profit margin set by
management (Blocher, 1999) is met. The
product cannot be launched if it does not
meet the target cost no matter how much
time and ef fort have already been ex-
pended on that product.

There are several advantages to using
the target-costing technique. First, it en-
courages a firm to view its product from a
customer’s point of view. Secondly, it re-
quires a team to design the product and
this means members of relevant depart-
ments will contribute the inputs to the de-
signers in order for them to design the
product at designated cost level. Lastly, the
managers do not waste time and other re-
sources on products that are not profitable
to the firm.

Strategic cost management (SCM) is
defined as a cost management technique
that improves the strategic position of a

firm and reduces costs at the same time
(Cooper & Slagmulder, 1999). SCM is im-
portant in dealing with global businesses
because the firms must be constantly
aware of their strategic position. The man-
agement accountant must be able to iden-
tify areas where costs reduction will con-

tribute to strategic
positioning. For ex-
ample, when
choosing the sup-
plier, aside from
the price of the
product, the quality
of supplied product
or deliver y time
will also be taken
into consideration.

As a result, even though the firm may not
get the lowest price for the product, it can
satisfy its customers with the best quality
and on-time delivery of the finished goods.
This may contribute towards the firm main-
taining its strategic position.

Transfer pricing is used in global com-
panies with sub-divisions located around
the world. These divisions manufacture
products and transfer them to other sub-
units of the firm to be used in the process-
ing of finished goods. It is difficult to de-
termine accurately the cost of the product
transferred to the subdivision, especially
products used in processing. In this case,
activity-based costing (ABC) plays a role
in transfer pricing. It measures the cost
based on the activities of production, which
lead to more accurate cost when assess-
ing the amount of resources consumed by
an activity.

One of the consequences of the
globalisation of business practices is the
need to harmonise the dif ferent report-
ing standards throughout the world or at
least within a country’s trading partners.
It will ensure that investors and other in-
terested parties have prior warning of
impending dangers of corporate failure so
that they can have an opportunity to take
remedial action at the earliest possible
stage.

The International Accounting Standards
Committee (IASC) is now regarded as the
leading force in the international account-
ing harmonisation effort. Based in London,
the IASC was established in 1973 and is

made up of professional accountancy bod-
ies. The key role of IASC is to develop and
promulgate International Accounting
Standards (IASs).

The actions of various international
stock exchanges towards global harmoni-
sation are positive indications (Larson,
1999). IASs are now accepted from foreign
registrants on a large number of stock ex-
changes, including those in Kuala Lumpur,
Singapore, Australia, London, Germany,
Hong Kong, Paris, and Zurich (IASC 1998).
Recently, the European Union (EU) de-
cided to support the IASC, especially in its
plan to permit large multinational corpo-
rations to use IASs when preparing their
consolidated financial statements (Larson,
1999).

In conclusion, global competition has
forced firms to look beyond the walls sur-
rounding them. They must constantly keep
in mind the potential for growth and de-
velopment that exists in the global market-
place. Through the implementation of tar-
get costing, strategic cost management and
transfer pricing together with activity-
based costing, management accountants
can make a contribution to their firm’s ef-
forts in maintaining and improving its stra-
tegic position. In addition, the need for
harmonisation is self-evident but it can only
become a reality with commitment and
concerted effort.
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Global competition has seen the development of small and medium
enterprises (SMEs) assume a central economic role across the European
Union. These pressures have also led to stronger links among SMEs and
larger corporations. These new economic relations demand more
planning and structure yet fit uneasily with the informality that has
characterised the SME sector. Indeed, this informality has often been seen
 as necessary for their noted flexibility and innovation. However, most
SME research, including the regular quarterly SME surveys conducted
by the Small Business Research Trust (SBRT) in UK, show that only a
minority of SMEs take such a planned and structured approach.
Dr. Colin Gray of the Open University Business School explores this
issue, identifying them and exploring various collection approaches.
The first part of this article appeared last month in the August 2000 issue,
the continuation and final part of the article appears in this issue.
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Use of a Business Plan by Industry, 1995
(row percentages)
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over time and link the survey.
This paper draws mainly on data gath-

ered from a 1995 Open University Business

School study of factors associated with
growth in SMEs, that postal surveyed the
SBRT database (2,517 respondents); a
1997 survey of 389 SME respondents in
Britain, drawn from SBRT and CBI (Con-
federation of British Industry) sources; fol-
lowed in 1999 by a similar survey of 100
SMEs in Ireland (as part of a wider group
and those of larger firms); and from the
NatWest/SBRT Quarterly Survey of Small
Business in Britain (1998, Vol. 14, No. 2)
which included a focus on marketing and
the use of marketing plans.

Findings
It is clear that relatively few SMEs have

the capacity, or the time, to formalise their
intentions and options as a plan. The SBRT
discovered in a 1995 survey of 2,517 SMEs
that 60 per cent admitted that they had no
business plan, one third (33 per cent)
claimed that they had a plan which they
used and seven per cent said they had a
plan but did not use it. Table 2 shows the
different patterns of use of a business plan
across the different industrial sectors (the
same as those used in Table 1 [see
Akauntan Nasional, August 2000]).

S M E S

By Dr. Colin W.J.A. Gray
HEAD OF SME RESEARCH UNIT AND DIRECTOR OF EXTERNAL AFFAIRS,
OPEN UNIVERSITY BUSINESS SCHOOL, UK

Methodology
The SBRT is an independent non-profit

organisation that conducts regular quar-
terly surveys of small firms in Britain. For
the past 15 years the SBRT has monitored
SME performance and main problems.
The 4,000 SBRT national databases of
SMEs has been recruited from a variety of
sources including the main SME repre-
sentative bodies. Like most databases in
the volatile SME sector, it does not claim
to be fully representative. However, expe-
rience indicates that the SBRT database
represents the SME population in Britain
more closely than most other large SME
databases and provides robust responses
that are consistent over time. The SBRT
conducts a number of regular surveys of
SMEs, the longest running (since 1984) is
the NatWest/SBRT Quarterly Survey of
Small Business in Britain. The respondents
vary from survey to survey but there is a
common pool of respondents (roughly 50
per cent) so it is possible to track responses

Successful SMES of   

T A B L E  2

INDUSTRIAL None Yes Yes Total Column

SECTOR passive active %

Manufacturing 57  7  36 472 20

Personal services 61  8  31 309 13

Financial services 64  6  31 670 29

Retail/wholesale 60  7  33 563  24

Construction 63  10  27 155  7

Transport 61  5 33 57 2

Restaurant/catering 52  8  40  60  3

Column Total 1,415 159  753 2,327 100

Row per cent 61 7 32 100

Source :  OUSB/SBRT Survey, 1995
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Although most (61 per cent) admit to
having no business plan, around one third
claim to make active use of their business
plan, which is much higher than expected.
The comparative high use of a business
plan by small manufacturers is not unex-
pected and is in keeping with the relative
stability shown in Table 1 (see Akauntan
Nasional, August 2000). However, the high
possession of plans among almost half of
the small caterers and restaurateurs is sur-
prising, except that many such enterprises
have external investors who may require
plans. At first sight the low use of a plan by
firms in the financial services also seems
surprising but, like small construction
firms, many SMEs in this sector are self-
employed and exposed to the vagaries of
the business cycle where planning has the
least effect. However, the use of the plan
is likely to be more linked to growth inten-
tions rather than the differences in indus-
try environment and structure. Table 3
shows the differences in growth intentions
in 1995 by the use of a business plan.

The dif ferences between SMEs that
grow (either indefinitely or to a specific
target) and those that are hostile to the idea

Intention to Grow and Use of Business Plan, 1995
(row percentages)

T A B L E  3

GROWTH No Plan Yes Yes Total Column

INTENTION passive active %

Growth averse 70 7 24 766 30

Intend to sell/merge 59 6 35 193 8

Intend to grow 55 8 37 1,558 62

Column Total 1,510 178 829 2,517 100

Row per cent 60 7 33 100

of growth and managerial problems that it
entails, are very clear and strong (they are
also statistically significant with a Chi
p<0.000). Either the propensity to plan is
linked to the intention to grow or SMEs
keen to grow are more likely to recognise
the need for proper business planning. The
significant positive relationship between
intention to grow and actual growth has
already been reported to ICSB (Gray,
1994) and elsewhere (Gray, 1998). Re-
sponses to this 1995 survey were crossed
with a 1994 SBRT quarterly survey which,
amongst other things, asked about the ac-

tual growth in workforce and real turno-
ver over the past 10 years.

The tendency for SMEs, that make ac-
tive use of a business plan, to have grown
in workforce and sales turnover (taking
into account inflation) over a period of time
(up to 11 years) is clear. However, the
growth in workforce effects are not signifi-
cant due to the remarkable stability of these
SMEs which have not altered in size over
a statistically very economically turbulent
period. Indeed, this finding provides strong
confirmation for the observation in the first
section of this paper that the SME contri-

 the Future
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Use of Marketing/Sales Promotion Plan
by Turnover Size Bands, 1998

(row percentages)

Actual Growth 1984-94 by use of a Business Plan, 1995
(row percentages)

T A B L E  4

STAFF GROWTH No Plan Yes Yes Total Column

passive active %

Up 59 7 35 430 19

Same 60 7 33 1,549 67

Down 66 6 28 348 15

REAL SALES GROWTH

Up 56 7 37 1,305 53

Same 63 7 30 598 24

Down 64 9 27 511 21

Column Total 1,415 159 753 2,327

Row per cent 61 7 32 100

 S M E S

B U S I N E S S / A C C O U N T I N G

bution to job growth depends on only a mi-
nority of small firms. By contrast, most firms
(52 per cent) reported that they had in-
creased their sales turnover by more than
the average rate of inflation which under-
lines the resilience of the SME sector and
provides a clear indication of a management
or business learning curve on the part of
these managers. The confirmation of the
value of using a business plan is seen in the
difference between those which grew in real
terms (37 per cent made active use of a plan)
compared with those that shrank (just 27
per cent). These differences were statisti-
cally significant with a Chi p<0.00025.

This finding is also behaviourally signifi-
cant because another question in the 1995
survey revealed that more than half of the
firm (51 per cent) used sales turnover as
their preferred measure of growth followed
by 28 per cent who used another financial
measure, profitability. According to their
own measures of success, therefore, SMEs
that have the capacity to express their busi-
ness objectives (intentions) as a plan and
make use of it, enjoy better business per-
formance. It is interesting to note, however,
that those using more marketing type meas-
ures of success are more likely to make
more active use of their business plan. For
instance, although only two per cent of firms
used an ‘increase in market share’ as a meas-
ure of growth , more than half of them (53
per cent) made active use of a business plan.
Also, of the tiny number of classic innova-

tors who use ‘new products’ as a growth
measure, some 42 per cent made use of their
plans and, of the two per cent who actually
did use ‘increase in staff’ as a measure (pre-
sumably more concerned with human re-
source issues), some 40 per cent made ac-
tive use of a business plan.

Before moving on, it is worth comment-
ing on the results of a question that at-
tempted to measure Jacques’ (1976) time
planning horizons. Just 16 per cent of re-
spondents admitted that they tended to plan
their business decisions over a time frame
of less than one year. Most (43 per cent),
planned on an annual basis and many (41
per cent) made use of a plan, 29 per cent of

the annual planners did whereas 40 per cent
of the longer-term planners actively used a
business plan. These differences were sta-
tistically significant with a Chi p<0.000.
More that three-quarters (77 per cent) of
these longer-term planners were keen to
grow (compared with 62 per cent overall as
shown in Table 3) and 60 per cent of them
actually did achieve a real increase in sales
(compared with 53 per cent overall as shown
in Table 4). This provides strong evidence
of links between intentionality and business
development, growth and performance. To
examine these links in more depth, we can
now look more closely at the particular ar-
eas of marketing and human resources.

In the last quarter of 1998, the SBRT quar-
terly survey addressed marketing issues (1,
273 respondents). Since 1991, SBRT sur-
veys had recorded that the biggest problem
facing small firms in Britain was perceived
to be low turnover and lack of business. This
is a particularly severe problem for the mi-
cro-firms (less than 10 employees). The
1998 survey revealed that SME owners and
managers mainly felt this was due to diffi-
culties in finding customers (32 per cent of
respondents) or customer uncertainty over
the economy (30 per cent). The first (once
again felt more acutely by the smaller firms)
is clearly a marketing problem which the
manager can address but the second, along
with the ‘second pound’ (which attracted a
22 per cent response), are exogenous fac-
tors. As Table 5 shows, there were strong
size effects as measured by sales.

24

T A B L E  5

INDUSTRIAL SECTOR Marketing Not but None No budget Row Column
Plan intended allocated Total %

<20 11 3 85 32 91 7

20-49 19 6 73 27 161 13

50-149 23 8 67 21 269 21

150-349 26 6 67 15 227 18

350-749 32 9 58 12 200 16

750-1499 39 11 49 13 166 13

<1,500 49 9 40 8 142 11

Column total 369 89 802 229 1,273 100

Row per cent 29 7 63 18 100
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The larger SMEs either already have or
else have the clear intention of producing
a marketing or sales promotion plan. The
vast majority of micro-firms and smaller
SMEs have no plan, few intend to produce
one and almost one third (32 per cent) of
the ver y smallest do not even have a
budget allocated to marketing. Indeed, an
analysis of marketing activities undertaken
by the SMEs revealed a much wider range
of activities by the larger firms and heavier
reliance by micro-firms on such vague ‘ac-
tivities’ as word of mouth and reputation.
The larger SMEs were twice as likely to
use more intentional and targeted tech-
niques such as employing a direct sales
force, tele-sales, direct mails and, increas-
ingly, the Internet. Firms with a market-
ing plan were significantly more likely to
have taken on staff and increased sales
over the past year (a balance between the
growers and shrinkers of 16 per cent and
five per cent respectively) than those with
no plan (–19 per cent and – 4 per cent). In
terms of their intentions, there is a similar
difference with a balance of 15 per cent of
those with a plan expecting to employ more
staff and 11 per cent to increase sales while
those without a marketing plan expect to
shed staff for sales to decline (-17 per cent
and -9 per cent respectively). In the very
focussed field of marketing, the relation-
ship between intentionality and perform-
ance appears to be strong.

An examination of human resource plan-
ning and policy, with particular emphasis
on managers, was the focus of the 1997
management development study involving,
some 1,200 small firms from the SBRT da-
tabase, plus members of CBI Small Firms
Committee. After rejecting incomplete re-
plies, the effective sample was 389 small
business managers, which comprised of 39
per cent manufacturers, 18 per cent broadly
in the distribution sector and 41 per cent in
services. Nearly two-thirds (64 per cent)
operated from a single site. Half (50 per
cent) anticipated zero growth in employees
and just 12 per cent rapid and high growth
in the coming year. Some 30 per cent of the
sample firms were micro-firms with fewer
than 10 employees, with similar proportions
(28 per cent) in the 10-19 employee and the
20-49 employee bands. Table 6 uses number
of salaried employees as the measure of firm

size plus responses from the 12 per cent of
firms that reported an explicit intention to
grow and increase their staff (their re-
sponses tended to differ considerably from
the rest of the sample and can be monitored
against the average responses for the whole
sample in the last column).

As expected, the smallest firms were, on
balance, generally more verse to adopting
a formal management development policy
though the differences between the size
bands were not large. The important point
to note is that, overall, most firms either
have no management development policy
or else feel the need to retain flexibility and
their options for responding to the needs of
their own markets. Only 8 per cent of the
sample had a formal written management
development policy. The growth firms, how-

giving management development a high
priority and 64 per cent reported that their
management development policies were
successful in achieving their objectives.
Only one third (35 per cent) of the 1999 Irish
sample currently give a high priority to
management development but this rises to
651(?) per cent reporting a high priority in
the foreseeable future. In the case of man-
agement development, planning seems to
be linked to the need to achieve the firm’s
strategy and to improve business efficiency,
both performance related objectives. The
links between intentionality and perform-
ance are clearer in relation to how manage-
ment performance and development needs
are monitored. Table 7, based on multiple
responses, shows the differences between
firms with respect to the monitoring of man-
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Management Development Policy by Firm Size, 1997
(column percentages)

T A B L E  6

FORMALITY OF 1-9 10-19 20-49 50+ Growth Row Column
POLICY Staff Staff Staff Staff Firms Size %

Explicit formal policy 5 6 11 11 19 32 8

informal policy 33 46 44 39 42 158 41

None, react to need 50 36 39 46 38 165 42

no system at all 13 12 6 2 2 34 9

base size (n) 117 108 109 54 48 389 100

row per cent 30 28 28 14 12 100

ever, were more than double this at 19 per
cent confirming the link between intention-
ality and business growth. Overall, some 41
per cent reported having an informal or
unwritten policy. The links between growth
and planning were further highlighted in a
similar telephone survey conducted in 1999
among 100 Irish SMEs (all of which were
growing, a reflection of the extremely buoy-
ant 1990s Irish economy). This revealed a
high 25 per cent having written plans, 35
per cent with informal plans and only 40 per
cent reporting no plans at all.

The overall lack of written management
development plans, however, is not a sign
of lack of intentionality or lack of an aware-
ness of the need to be alert to the human
resource issues in the management labour
market. In separate questions, almost half
the 1997 UK sample (44 per cent) reported

agers’ performance and the setting of man-
agement development objectives.

There are clear size effects present.
Medium enterprises with 50 or more em-
ployees seem to be more systematic in
their assessment of management develop-
ment needs. It is interesting to note, how-
ever, that these size effects are not so clear
in the assessment of management perform-
ance where there is some evidence that the
larger small enterprises (20-49 employees)
are more efficient in their working prac-
tices. The most significant findings are,
however, the consistently higher perform-
ance and attention to the processes of de-
termining management development
needs shown by the growth SMEs. In re-
sponse to another question, it was also
clear that the main responsibility for initi-
ating and implementing management de-
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Management Practice by Firm Size, 1997
(column percentages)

velopment rests with the chief executive
or managing director and not with a line
manager or, significantly, with the founder
or owners of the firms. This reveals inten-
tionality at a more operational rather than
formal level and is in keeping with broader
SME research (Storey, 1994; Gray, 1998).

Conclusion
There clearly is a strong and significant

positive relationship between intentional-
ity, as evidenced by the production and use
of different types of business plans, and the
development, growth and performance of
the small firm. Firms that produce and use
their plans actually grow in employment
and increased sales. This is welcoming
news to banks, policy-makers and business
schools which all place high value on the
production of business plans by small
firms. It is also evident that the medium
and larger small firms (in workforce terms,
roughly those employing 15-100 people),
which are generally considered to offer the
best prospects for innovation and job gen-
eration, do exhibit the highest potential for
planned growth (Storey, 1994; Gray, 1998).
Thus, the findings provide some support
for an economic model of SME develop-
ment as it appears that a reasonably ra-
tional approach does produce tangible and
longer-term benefits.

For the more psychological aspects of
entrepreneurial theory, however, the pic-
ture is a little more mixed. There is strong
support for locus of control theory as a use-
ful defining concept of entrepreneurial be-
haviour. There is also strong support for
Deci and Ryan’s (1985) related concept of
intentionality. In addition, Jacque’s (1976)
levels of planning and time framing capac-
ity, fund support and is a valuable link to

other aspects of entrepreneurial theory.
Indeed, the findings presented in this pa-
per provide a framework for further re-
search in these areas. Unfortunately, there
is little in the findings to help explain causal
direction. Nor is there anything on the per-
manence or mutability of intentions. It is
not clear whether the capacity for planning
and growth are themselves functions of the
size of the firm or whether the growth and
development of a firm is mainly deter-
mined by the owner-manager’s capacity for
competence at planning and at achieving
the objectives of the plan.

There is no doubt that very small firms
face disproportionately higher constraints
of time and resources, including their com-
pliance costs when meeting the obligations
of contract or government regulation. In
addition, most small firms are price takers
and have little room for negotiation mainly
because they operate in low barrier to en-
try industries exposed to a churn of actual
and potential competitors. These are not
ideal conditions for planning. Indeed, flex-
ibility of reactions may offer greater sup-
port for sur vival than a carefully con-
structed business or marketing plan. Be-
cause of their scarce resources and career
prospects, few micro-firms have much
choice in most labour markets so human
resource plans are generally not consid-
ered to be of a high priority. However, en-
trepreneurial theory and the findings pre-
sented here suggest that the process of
business-like way entrepreneurial SME
owner managers must also have the capac-
ity to learn experientially plus the ability
to communicate their ideas of good busi-
ness practice to other members of staff. It
seems clear that the age of the individual-
ist entrepreneur must now give way to the

 S M E S
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more social and structured side of business
behaviour, within and between firms, if
entrepreneurial SMEs are play to their full
potential in the new millennium.
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Set individual performance targets 38 43 46 56 58 44

Appoint managers for specific jobs 44 58 66 76 71 58

Assess managers on performance 51 62 70 65 81 61

Managers assessed for training needs 46 59 56 65 67 55

Base size (n) 117 108 109 54 48 389

row  percentage 30 28 28 14 12 100
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Until recently, the focus of per-
formance measurement sys-
tems was at divisional and

departmental levels, using financially
based measures (Otley 1994). It is now rec-
ommended that the scope should include
non-financial aspects that provide a com-
petitive advantage for the business (Lynch
and Cross 1992, Nanni et al 1992). These
aspects include customer satisfaction, qual-
ity, delivery responsiveness, product flex-
ibility, and product innovation. Also, the
importance of developing operational per-
formance measures that address strategic
concerns is increasingly being recognised;
many activities at the shop-floor level can
directly affect the organisation’s competi-
tive advantage. There is evidence that Aus-
tralian organisations are using innovative
performance measurement systems to sup-
port their strategies, particularly at the op-

erational levels (Thorne et al 1995,
Chenhall and Langfield-Smith 1995).

A feature of the growing number of en-
terprise agreements is the establishment of
specific performance indicators1 as the ba-
sis for future wage increases. Enterprise
agreements entail negotiations between the
employer and employees (or unions) over
issues such as flexible working hours, for-
mation of work teams and the introduction
of new work practices and working condi-
tions, and usually link wage increases to
productivity improvements (Fox et al, 1995).
However, there appears to be confusion
about how productivity should be defined
and measured. Also, systems for monitor-
ing productivity achievements arising from
enterprise agreements appear underdevel-
oped (Green 1993, Rimmer and Watts 1994).

This paper explores how productivity
and performance indicators may be de-

fined and measured. It considers the place
of performance indicators in enterprise
agreements and in the wider context of
organisational performance measurement
systems, and discusses, as an example,
their use at Sydney Electricity

THE ROLE OF PERFORMANCE
MEASUREMENT SYSTEMS

It is generally accepted that performance
measures can be used to instil responsibil-
ity and accountability among managers and
employees (Emmanuel et al 1991). Man-
agers and employees may be held account-
able for achieving certain performance tar-
gets in areas where they exercise some
influence or control. A recent challenge is
developing suitable measures to evaluate
the performance of work-based teams.
Performance measures also allow manag-
ers to monitor their own progress by com-
paring performance targets, and to take
corrective action if necessary. In some or-
ganisations, performance measurement
systems provide the basis for payments of
rewards or bonuses. They therefore have
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The design and implementation of performance measurement
systems is a major interest of management accountants. In recent
years many organisations have made enterprise agreements with
their employees, often specifying performance indicators on
which to base wage increases. This paper explains how perform-
ance indicators are used in enterprise agreements and considers
alternative definitions of indicators and their limitations. It argues
that performance indicators in enterprise agreements should be
consistent with wider organisational performance measurement
systems, particularly those having a strategic focus.

1 The terms ‘performance measures’ and ‘perform-
ance indicators’ are considered synonymous.

  Productivity and 
indicators in ente 
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a ‘behavioural’ dimension, as they may be
used to motivate employees to pursue the
goals and strategic objectives of the firm
(Dixon et al 1990).

A dif ficulty inherent in performance
measurement systems is that not all meas-
ures satisfy all purposes. Accurate measures
may be suitable for assessing progress in
critical areas and determining accountabil-
ity, but may not provide sufficient motiva-
tion if targets are too difficult or measures
too complex for employees to understand.
Further, if the most suitable unit of analysis
for the accountability role is the division,
this may not help in evaluating the perform-
ance of individual managers and awarding
bonuses, particularly where responsibilities
overlap. An interesting question is how per-
formance indicators which arise through
the enterprise bargaining process fit with
wider organisational performance measure-
ment systems.

BACKGROUND TO MODERN
ENTERPRISE AGREEMENTS
Since 1987, the Australian Industrial Re-

lations Commission decisions have re-
flected a shift away from centralised wage-
fixing towards enterprise-level negotiations

based on increased enterprise producti-
vity. The April 1991 national wage case de-
cisions reinforced this process, with rec-
ommended wage increases conditional on
the achievement of various measures of
‘structural efficiency’. However, it was not
until the October 1991 national wage case,
when the commission accepted the ‘enter-
prise bargaining principle’, that employers
and employees could directly negotiate en-
terprise agreements which had the force
of law (AIRC 1991). By April 1993, 800
agreements had been ratified by the com-
mission, and by April 1995 some 3,500
agreements were certified (Fox et al 1995).

Among the requirements for approval of
an enterprise agreement is the condition
that “any wage increases ... are based upon
the actual implementation of efficiency
measures2 designed to effect real gains in
productivity” (AIRC 1991, p. 132). Thus,
wage increases were contingent on changes
in work practices, participation in training
programs, flexible work arrangements and
other measures designed to improve effi-
ciency and productivity. Wage increases
were to be “justified by and commensurate
with employees’ contribution to productiv-
ity improvements and increased efficiency

at the enterprise level” (AIRC 1991, p. 130).
However, the commission noted that achiev-
ing the desired gains depended on the abil-
ity of the parties to translate their commit-
ments into outcomes; no guidance was
given on how efficiency and productivity
were to be defined or measured.

Linking pay to increased productivity is
not new. Productivity bargaining was used
in the UK in the 1960s, and isolated cases
were initiated by management in Australia
in the 1960s and 1970s (Fox et al 1995).
The conventional understanding of ‘pro-
ductivity bargaining’ is that employees re-
linquish restrictive work practices in return
for a lump-sum payment (Riach and
Howard 1973, p. 1). It is not a technique
for establishing an ongoing link between
wages and some productivity indicator
(Fox et al 1995, pp. 584-5). However, the
form of productivity bargaining adopted in
Australia since the late 1980s entails both
lump-sum payments in exchange for
changes in work practices, and ongoing
wage increases for achievement of certain
performance outcomes.

29

2 In this quotation the term ‘measures’ refers to pro-
cedures, activities or reforms implemented, not
specific performance indicators.
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Performance Indicators in
Enterprise Agreements

Several different approaches have been
taken to the incorporation of performance
indicators in enterprise agreements
(Murphy 1993).

In an action-oriented approach, wage in-
creases are granted to employees in
exchange for a commitment to take
specific actions. It is assumed that the
actions will result in improved pro-
ductivity and efficiency for the enter-
prise, although a formal assessment
of the outcomes is seldom under-
taken by the enterprise.

A results-oriented agreement fo-
cuses on the outcomes of agreed
changes. Thus, specific actions and
targets are defined, and future wage
increases may be based on employ-
ees achieving targets by particular
dates. Alternatively, performance in-
dicators may be used in a gainsharing
agreement in which employees and
the enterprise share in improve-
ments in productivity or profit in
agreed proportions.

Under a process-oriented approach,
employee wages are linked to formal
processes of continuous improve-
ment detailed in the agreement.
Companies which encourage this
approach are usually seeking to con-
tinue existing change programs
which may span the organisation and
include ‘total quality management’,
‘valued-added management’ or ‘best
practice’.

Enterprise agreements usually
stipulate changes designed to im-
prove efficiency and productivity.
They may require management and
workers to negotiate suitable per-
formance indicators, or specify indi-
cators and targets forming the basis
for initial or future wage increases.
Examples of types of performance in-
dicators are contained in Table 1.

The incidence, types, and complexity of
performance indicators included in enter-
prise agreements vary across industries
(ADAM 1994, pp. 16-17). Table 2 shows the
percentage of enterprise agreements, by
industry, with provisions relating to per-
formance indicators, taken from the

ADAM database.3 The highest percentages
are in public administration (44.8 per cent
of agreements), metal manufacturing (44.7
per cent), food, beverage and tobacco
manufacturing (33.6 per cent) and commu-
nications (33.3 per cent). Overall, 26.3 per
cent of all enterprise agreements contained

at 31 December 1996, 24.1 per cent con-
tained some clause on performance indi-
cators, and 9.4 per cent of agreements in-
cluded specific targets. Of the agreements
registered since 1992, 26.3 per cent con-
tained a performance indicator clause, and
9.2 per cent quantified performance tar-

gets. While the percentage of en-
terprise agreements containing
per formance indicators has
dropped over the years, the propor-
tion of those with quantified targets
has increased.

It can be seen that the most com-
mon per formance indicator
clauses are concerned with quality,
absenteeism, customer service,
safety and wastage/spoilage.

Performance Indicators
and Firm Performance

There is an implied assumption
that including performance indica-
tors in an enterprise agreement
will lead not only to productivity im-
provements, but to increases in
firm profitability and competitive-
ness. However, support for this
relationship is ambiguous. Some
claim there is only limited evidence
of a strong association between en-
terprise bargaining and productiv-
ity improvement (Rimmer and
Watts 1994, Brown and Zappala
1993). One suggested explanation
is that although wage increases
specified in enterprise agreements
are usually honoured; productivity-
enhancing activities are often im-
plemented only slowly or not at all
(Rimmer and Watts 1994). The ar-
gument that performance-related

E N T E R P R I S E  AG R E E M E N T S
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PERformance indicators
within enterprise agreements

Output indicators include :

• Quantity produced

• Direct labour productivity

• Lead time

• Cycle time

• Machine efficiency

Cost indicators include :

• Operating costs

• Unit cost of production

• Direct labour cost

• Value added per employee

• Cost of downtime

• Cost of scrap

Financial performance indicators include :

• Return of funds employed

• Earnings per share

• Measures of profit

• Sales revenue measures

• Measures of working capital

Human resource indicators include :

• Employee satisfaction

• Safety performance

• Labour turnover

• Absenteeism

• Increases in flexibility and skills

• Ratio of direct to indirect labour

Quality indicators include :

• Customer satisfaction and customer complaints

• Delivery accuracy

• Scrap and rework

• Accreditation to external standards

• Invoicing accuracy

provisions relating to performance indica-
tors.

Table 3 shows the types of performance
indicator provisions in enterprise agree-
ments applying at 31 December 1996, and
for agreements registered since the start
of the compilation of the ADAM data base
(1992). Of registered agreements in force

T A B L E  1

3 The Agreements Database and Monitor
(ADAM) database is compiled by the Aus-
tralian Centre for Industrial Relations Re-
search and Training (ACIRRT) at the Uni-
versity of Sydney. Thanks are due to Betty

Arsovska for providing this data. A difficulty in re-
porting aggregate statistics relates to the partial
nature of available databases. The ADAM database
is considered the most comprehensive of the
databases, even though it covers only enterprise
agreements registered in New South Wales,
Queensland, Western Australia and South Australia,
as well as federal agreements. However, many col-
lective agreements are not registered, so cannot be
included in the analysis. It is estimated that over 20
per cent of workplaces in the mining, recreation and
non-metal manufacturing industries have some
form of unregistered agreement (ADAM 1995. 10).
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reward systems lead to increases in pro-
ductivity (Pfef fer 1994, Weitzman and
Kruse 1990, Kaufman 1992) encounters the
difficulty of separating the effects of per-
formance indicators and a range of other
variables.

The ambiguous evidence about the link
between enterprise agreements and firm

performance does not detract from the
importance of incentives for employees to
focus their efforts on actions that support
the organisation’s strategic priorities. Per-
formance indicators that are too narrowly
defined, or focused on the wrong priorities,
can lead to the pursuit of the wrong goals,
excessive competitiveness among employ-

ees, and deteriorating organisational per-
formance (Pfeffer 1994, Wilson 1995).

The motivational role of performance
indicators is implied in the assumption that
linking wage increases to productivity im-
provements leads to employee actions or
behaviours that will improve organisational
performance. Thus, the objectives of per-
formance indicators in enterprise agree-
ments are consistent with those of wider
organisational performance measurement
systems.

DEFINING MEASURING
PRODUCTIVITY WITHIN

ENTERPRISE AGREEMENTS
Conventional understandings of enter-

prise productivity involve comparing inputs
with outputs. Productivity is enhanced by
choosing the combination of inputs that
will maximise the output. Using the neo-
classical production function, productivity
(P) is measured as the output per unit of
input achieved (Lipsey
et al 1981, Green 1993)
and can be expressed as
the equation:
where y is output of uniform and consist-
ent quality, and the inputs are capital (K),
labour (L) and the influence of technologi-
cal changes (t). Thus, productivity is as-
sumed to be an outcome of a range of in-
puts, each making its own contribution (Al-
exander and Green 1992). Traditionally,
companies have focused on single-factor
productivity where only one input is con-
sidered, usually labour. A more recent ap-
proach, total-factor productivity, combines
all inputs into an index. However, there
may be limitations to the use of economic
notions of productivity in determining the
employees’ contribution and awarding
wage increases.

The Focus on Units of Output
Defining the output of a business in

terms of uniform units may encourage
employees to focus too strongly on
throughput, to the detriment of other criti-
cal aspects of the business such as safety,
quality, and cost. Accepting this definition
may also hamper the adoption of quality
initiatives, which have become an impor-
tant component of change programs in
many enterprises.
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PERformance indicator CLAUSES within
enterprise agreements, by industry

(ADAM Database as at 31 December 1996)

Industry All agreements both expired
and unexpired 1992-1996 (%)

Public administration 44.8

Metal manufacturing 44.7

Food, beverage & tobacco manufacturing 33.6

Communications 33.3

Mining/construction 29.9

Other manufacturing 27.1

Transport/storage 25.4

Wholesale/retail trade 24.9

Agriculture 24.1

Public Utilities 20.5

Financial services 20.4

Community services 19.1

All industries 26.3

T A B L E  3

SPECIFIC PERformance indicator in enterprise
agreements (ADAM Database as at 31 December 1996)

Performance Indicator All agreements, Agreements in

both expired force as at
and unexpired 31 Dec 1996

1992-1996 (%) (%)

Any performance indicator clause (1) 26.3 24.1

Performance indicator targets quantified 9.2 9.4

Quality 11.8 (2) 11.5

Absenteeism 10.5 9.7

Customer service 9.9 9.4

Safety 8.8 8.7

Efficiency (product/hours worked) 5.9 6.3

Wastage/spoilage 6.4 6.6

Delivery performance 5.5 4.7

Level of rejects 3.8 2.2

Labour used per product 3.7 2.0

Rejects 3.0 8.4

(1) Performance indicators quantified are specific references to a performance indicator (for example, “achieve
an absenteeism rate of 2%). Any performance indicators clause also includes quantitive references to per-
formance indicators (for example, “improve levels of absenteeism”).

(2) This indicates 11.8% of agreements included some clause or measure concerned with quality.

P =
      y

          t(K,L)
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Single factor Productivity
Single-factor productivity may be an in-

adequate measure on which to base wage
increases: it may not accurately measure
performance improvements due to that fac-
tor, and it may encourage dysfunctional be-
haviour. First, increases in single-factor pro-
ductivity may result from other changes in
the firm. Labour productivity may appar-
ently increase following investment in new
equipment or technology, but there may in
fact have been no improvement in employee
performance. Second, single-factor produc-
tivity may encourage employees to focus on
improving performance of that one factor,
while decreasing performance in other ar-
eas. This occurred at Penfolds Wines which,
in its first enterprise agreement, based wage
increases on productivity gains resulting
from labour cost reductions, measured as
litres per man-hour. It was soon recognised
that employees could improve this measure
by lowering performance levels in areas
such as waste and overtime hours, actions
that clearly did not improve overall produc-
tivity or firm performance (IRM 1993a). In
a subsequent agreement, wage increases
were based on meeting quantitative and
qualitative targets in environment, safety,
quality, and organisational redesign, which
were believed to encompass productive per-
formance. Third, the narrow focus of sin-
gle-factor productivity may obscure oppor-
tunities for broader performance improve-
ments. For example, the potential for gain-
ing efficiencies in non-labour areas (such
as reducing overheads and making more ef-
fective use of technology) may be missed if
productivity is focused on direct labour
alone (Chew 1988).

Interdependance of Inputs in
Total-Factor Productivity

When total productivity is used, it is diffi-
cult to separate the direct contribution that
labour has made to productivity from that
of other inputs, such as new technology or
equipment. However, some enterprise
agreements have specified that a particular
percentage of overall productivity increase
is a result of employees’ direct efforts. This
was the case at Smorgon Steel.

The 1992 enterprise agreement at
Smorgon Steel included a total productiv-
ity indicator (TPI) as the basis for wage

increases (IRM 1992). This index was a
complex formula that recognised six
causes of production losses :  breakdowns,
changes and setups, minor stoppages, re-
duced machine speed, quality and yield.
These loss areas were combined into the
TPI index :  TPI (%)= availability x effi-
ciency x quality index x yield index where
availability = production time compared
with scheduled time (a measure that quan-
tifies the ef fects of breakdowns and
changes/setups); efficiency = the effect of
minor stoppages and machine speed com-
pared with standard; quality index = per-

centage of perfect products produced com-
pared with total production (a measure of
quality); yield index = relationship between
total production and raw material used.
The TPI index was used within a produc-
tivity indicator :  Productivity indicator =
TPI index x sales index x workforce index.

The sales index was a comparison of the
increase in sales volume over a base year.
A workforce index of 20 per cent was used
as the assumed employees’ contribution to
overall productivity. Other contributors to
productivity were assumed to be invest-
ment in equipment, new technology, train-
ing, and management co-operation. The
TPI index was used as the basis for em-
ployee wage increases.

Smorgon management believed that the
productivity formula gave a full picture of
the overall productivity of the company.
However, it acknowledged its complex na-

ture and allowed an employee committee
to audit the data used in the calculation. The
method used by Smorgon Steel to define
and assess productivity is far broader than
traditional economic approaches to produc-
tivity, in that it recognises a range of inputs,
which are combined in innovative ways.

Narrow Definition of
Productivity

It can be argued that defining inputs in
terms of tangible measurable items, such
as labour and capital investment, results in
an over-restrictive measure of productivity.

This definition fails to recognise the impor-
tance of less tangible inputs in improving
performance. These include the nature of
management systems or technologies, the
way that management chooses to utilise la-
bour, the relationships between manage-
ment and employees, a harmonious work
environment, increased employee respon-
sibility, and under-standings of the work
processes. These factors differ between
workplaces, but may help explain why some
companies are more productive than oth-
ers, despite having similar physical inputs
and operating in similar markets. For ex-
ample, restructuring manufacturing opera-
tions from functionally-based departments
to manufacturing cells may boost produc-
tivity, which may be further enhanced if
there are cooperative relationships between
employees and management. Consistent
with this line of reasoning is the proposal

E N T E R P R I S E  AG R E E M E N T S
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that the price of labour is not a suitable
measure of the input of labour to the pro-
ductive process, as by paying the price, an
organisation is purchasing the capacity to
perform labour (Green 1993).

Further, traditional notions of productiv-
ity do not take into account the quality of
the transformation process between inputs
and outputs (Junor et al 1993). Factors that
contribute to productivity are not additive,
but may interact in complex ways. For ex-
ample, the quality of output may depend on
the quality of the human knowledge input
and attentiveness during the production

process. Despite the apparent relevance of
intangible inputs, they may be difficult to
incorporate in a productivity equation.

Chew (1988) proposed a multi-factor
measure of productivity that identifies the
contributions of each factor to productivity
and combines them into a single index. The
range of inputs would be broadened to in-
clude production cycle time and the impact
of non-shop floor workers. He argued that
the limitations of productivity measures
depend on how they are to be used. If the
measures are the basis for bonuses and
promotions, they must be accurate. How-
ever, if the purpose of measuring produc-
tivity is to influence employees’ behaviour,
then understandability or simplicity be-
comes more important than accuracy This
raises important questions about the mul-
tiple roles that productivity measures may
be expected to play in enterprise agree-

ments, and about whether a measure de-
signed for simplicity and easy acceptance
by employees can be sufficiently accurate
to be used for awarding wage increases.

Indicators of
Productive Performance

The inadequacies of conventional defi-
nitions of productivity in facilitating meas-
urement, providing incentives for employ-
ees to improve performance and develop-
ing a suitable basis for wage increases have
led to more innovative approaches being
proposed. It has been suggested that the
term ‘productivity’ in enterprise agree-
ments is a misnomer and that a better ap-
proach is to measure indicators of ‘produc-
tive performance’. These indicators are the
factors that influence a company’s strate-
gic and competitive position in the market-
place (Green 1993, Detouzos et al 1989, p.
33). They may encompass the quality of
output, a broader concept of input costs
(including timeliness), the role of technol-
ogy and innovation, and the nature of co-
operation in the workplace. This enables
integration of performance criteria with the
strategies and goals of the firm, and evalu-
ation of progress in achieving these goals.

Strategic Approaches to
Performance Measurement

A strong strategic orientation has
emerged since the early 1990s in the de-
velopment of performance measurement
systems. A balanced portfolio of perform-
ance measures linked to strategic priori-
ties has been recognised as an important
determinant in achieving sustainable com-
petitive advantage (Nanni et al 1992). Re-
posed models include a balanced score-
card (Kaplan and Norton 1992) and a per-
formance measurement hierarchy (Lynch
and Cross 1992). While these do not spe-
cifically consider performance measures
used in enterprise agreements, there seem
to be few reasons why balanced scorecard
principles could not be used this way. This
may be particularly true for companies
where existing performance measurement
systems are used for other purposes.

The growing adoption of benchmarking
processes, which compare performance
with the world’s ‘best’ companies, has led
to changes in processes, technology and
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work practices to bridge the performance
gap and improve organisational competi-
tiveness (Macneil et al 1994). The identifi-
cation of key success areas and the skilful
selection of performance indicators is a
critical component of the benchmarking
process; focusing on areas which are not
critical to improving competitiveness may
not only waste valuable resources, but also
direct efforts towards areas which could
erode performance. As part of a strategic
approach to the development of perform-
ance indicators in enterprise agreements,
benchmarking processes may provide suit-
able performance targets.

Another popular development is the use
of performance measures at the operational
levels of an organisation, and the introduc-
tion of participatory processes in the design
of these systems. As ‘employee empower-
ment’ becomes an increasingly important
component of organisational change pro-
grams, operational employees are being
encouraged to play an active part in design-
ing measures and monitoring their own
performance (Ledford 1993, Walton 1990).
Greater participation and empowerment in
the implementation of change programs is
consistent with the consultative ethos un-
derlying enterprise bargaining.

A Balanced Scorecard of Measures
The original balanced scorecard model

presented by Kaplan and Norton (1992) fo-
cused on performance measures derived
from four perspectives: customer satisfac-
tion, internal business processes, innova-
tion and learning, and financial results.
Measures and targets designed to support
these areas have both financial and non-
financial focus and address the short-term
and long-term.

Green (1993) proposed an additional
perspective of ‘workforce role’ to acknowl-
edge the contribution that employees can
make to overall strategy. Performance in-
dicators that could be used include em-
ployee involvement and initiative, training
and skills enhancement, equal opportunity,
work reorganisation, and occupational
health and safety. Green argued that such
a model would allow the measurement of
the level and growth of productivity, as well
as the contribution of employees to produc-
tivity gains. However, the four original per-
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spectives of the balanced scorecard model
already contain measures that address the
workforce’s contribution to the strategy of
the firm (Kaplan and Norton 1996). By ar-
ticulating the vision and strategies of the
four perspectives to all levels of the organi-
sation, the performance measures selected
at the operational area will encompass
many employee-related and productivity-
related areas. For example, performance
indicators and targets directed at measur-
ing employee training and skills enhance-
ment or employee morale may support
learning and innovation objectives, while
process-oriented measures such as rework
or throughput may support internal busi-
ness process perspectives.

The thrust of the balanced scorecard
approach is to develop a coordinated and
integrated performance measurement sys-
tem, which flows from the organisational
strategy and vision to all levels of the or-
ganisation (Kaplan and Norton 1996). The
model specifies that effective communica-
tion and high levels of employee involve-
ment should be used to ensure that em-
ployee actions are consistent with the stra-
tegic direction of the organisation. Thus,
performance indicators used in enterprise
agreements should not be developed in
isolation from wider organisational per-
formance measurement systems.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
AT SYDNEY ELECTRICITY
The enterprise agreement of Sydney

Electricity contains a range of performance
indicators designed to support the strate-
gies of the business and provide sufficient
motivation and rewards for all employees.
Sydney Electricity is located in NSW, and
is a distributor of power to domestic and
business users.4

Competitive Environment and
Strategic Response

Increased government emphasis on
competition, and the privatisation or
corporatisation of state-owned monopolies,
has resulted in significant restructuring of
the Australian electricity industry. In NSW,

separate entities manage the power sta-
tions, the transmission grid and electricity
distribution, with customers able to buy
power from any of six distributors. Free
competition for local and out-of-state cus-
tomers means that protection and expan-
sion of existing business has become im-
portant to survival. Providing high levels
of customer service and lowering costs are

prime strategic concerns.
Sydney Electricity responded to the com-

petitive challenge with a corporate strategy
based on customer satisfaction, a culture
of continual learning and quality, a com-
mercial orientation of sound business prac-
tices and providing employees with the
knowledge and skills to improve service
and reduce costs.5

Source :  Sydney Electric Joint Development Agreement 1994, NSW Industrial Relations
Commission, EA 127

T A B L E  5

productivity matrix for sydney electricity

Reliability Customer Employee Lost-time Operating Perform-

satisfaction absenteeism accidents cost per ances
customer ($)

62 84.2 0.0 0.00 159 10
64 83.2 0.4 0.00 168 9

66 82.2 1.4 0.00 177 8
68 81.2 2.4 0.00 186 7
70 80.2 3.4 0.08 195 6

72 79.2 4.4 0.16 204 5
74 78.2 5.4 0.24 213 4
76 77.2 6.4 0.32 222 3

78 76.2 7.4 0.40 231 2
80 75.2 8.4 0.48 240 1
82 74.2 9.4 0.56 249 0

3 3 3 3 3 Score
5 5 7 1 30 Weight
15 15  21 3 90 Value

144 Index

T A B L E  4

Definitions of performance indicators at
sydney electricity

Indicator Measurement

System reliability Average number of minutes of electricity

service lost per customer per year, discounted

for the effects of major storms and electricity

failures caused by the electricity supplier

(these factors were beyond the control of

Sydney Electricity).

Customer satisfaction Measured by a survey of domestic electricity

customers.

Employee absenteeism Average number of sick days per employee per

year.

Lost-time accidents Average number of days lost due to accidents

per employee per year.

Operating cost per customer Variable cost of running the business per

customer.

4 On 1 March 1996, as part of the corporatisation and
rationalisation of the NSW electricity industry, Syd-
ney Electricity and Orion Electricity merged to be-
come Energy Australia.

5 Energy Australia, annual report 1996, p.7.
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6 These aspects are not discussed in detail in this pa-
per but are covered in references such as Beer et
al (1984), Emmanuel, Otley and Merchant (1991),
Murphy (1993) and Merchant (1989).
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The Productivity Matrix
In 1992, Sydney Electricity developed a

multi-factor productivity matrix as part of
its enterprise agreement. This allowed all
employees to earn pay increases, provided
productivity improvements were achieved
in each of five indicators. Performance was
measured monthly, across the entire busi-
ness. Table 4 describes the five indicators
which constitute the matrix.

These indicators were combined into an
overall index to allow the calculation and
payment of bonuses. Table 5 indicates the
scores and weights given to each indica-
tor. The table shows the performance for
the year to July 1994, which can be re-
garded as the base year. In 1994, employee
absenteeism was an average of 6.4 days per
employee. This is given a score of three,
using the performance scores in the right-
hand column, and when multiplied by the
assigned weight of seven yields a value of
21. Similarly, the operating cost per cus-
tomer was AS$222 which was scored at
three. This was multiplied by a weighting
of 30 to give a value of 90. The values for
all five indicators add to an index of 144. In
subsequent years, performance on each in-
dicator was assessed in a similar manner.
For example, if operating cost per cus-
tomer drops to AS$186, that would yield a
performance score of seven, and after mul-
tiplication by the weighting of 30, a value
of 210. The values for each indicator are
added to give the new index. For each point
increase in the index over the previous
year, an increase in pay of 0.0483 per cent
is awarded to all employees.

Evaluation of the Matrix
In arriving at the first enterprise agree-

ment, management stated that it chose not
to award wage increases as a trade-off for
working conditions; nor did it want to ne-
gotiate specific improvements in produc-
tivity. The agreement’s mix of measures
and the system for awarding pay increases
were regarded as sufficient to develop a
‘commitment to improve’ among employ-
ees (IRM 1993b).

The selection of performance indicators
and the various weightings given to indi-
vidual indicators reflects a compromise
between the desire for a set of indicators
that directly support the strategic concerns

of the business, and the provision of moti-
vational opportunities for employees to
gain pay increases.

The productivity matrix is not an exam-
ple of Kaplan and Norton’s balanced score-
card model — it does not address all four
dimensions of the scorecard. Nor does it
contain measures that address all of the
strategic concerns of Sydney Electricity.
The measures in the matrix are directed
towards improving cost-effectiveness (op-
erating cost per customer and absentee-
ism), customer satisfaction (system reli-
ability), and employee welfare (lost-time
accidents). Notably, the matrix does not
include any direct measures of learning or
skills development. These concerns were
addressed instead through initiatives in the
workplace including formal study pro-
grams.

The relative weighting given to the vari-
ous indicators emphasises the importance
of improving the operating cost per cus-
tomer (weight of 30) and absenteeism
(weight of seven), while down-playing
achievements in other measures, particu-
larly lost-time accidents (weight of one).
Among reasons for giving operating cost
the highest weighting is that employees
find it easy to understand and relate to.
Further, compared with lost-time accidents
and systems reliability, cost-performance
improvement is considered achievable and
within the control of many employees.
Similarly, improvement in absenteeism is
also controllable by employees.

A strong focus on cost performance ena-
bles the business to award sufficient pay
increases to employees — an important ob-
jective of the system. In addition, as well
as being a recognised performance bench-
mark in the electricity industry, operating
cost has become a prime strategic concern
for the business because of increased com-
petition. Cost performance is a critical part
of the chief executive’s performance agree-
ment with the NSW government.

Outcomes and the Future
The productivity matrix has been suc-

cessful in raising awareness among em-
ployees of the critical performance areas
of the business. This was reinforced by the
publication each month of graphs showing
results in the five performance indicators.

From 1993, Sydney Electricity experienced
strong improvements in all five indicators.
The system was successful in enabling the
business to award generous pay increases
to employees, above those of its competi-
tors.

However, by mid-1996 the system was
clearly approaching the point where fur-
ther performance improvements, as de-
fined by the indicators, were not possible.
One manager said :  “When you start the
process you make huge gains, then im-
provements become more marginal and
performance starts to flatten... you hit the
wall. The systems need to be adjusted.”
Consequently, Sydney Electricity was con-
sidering how it might make changes to the
performance-related pay system to allow
employees to achieve further incentive
payments and to ensure continued motiva-
tion.

CONCLUSION
Performance indicators in enterprise

agreements need to satisfy several criteria
if they are to achieve desired productivity
improvements and form a suitable basis for
wage increases.

First they should represent measures of
productive performance, ensuring that ac-
tions taken by employees to meet targets
do improve performance. Second, the in-
dicators must have an effect on employee
motivation. Linking achievements to wage
increases may be an incentive but other
factors may be relevant such as the con-
sultative processes involved, and the em-
ployees’ perceptions of issues such as
understandability, simplicity, controllabil-
ity, and timeliness of feedback and re-
wards.6

Third, the indicators should be designed
to reduce the scope for manipulation such
as improving one measure by decreasing
performance in other areas. Fourth, they
should be consistent with broader per-
formance measurement systems used in
the organisation.

Note :  This article first appeared in Australian
Accounting Review (published by the Austral-
ian Society of Certified Practising Accountants)
in Vol.8, No.2, 1998. Reprinted with permission.
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snapshot on the major economic and financial

developments and to alert accountants on leading

edge issues that are crucial to their operations.

MALAYSIA’S
Productivity Performance
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Malaysia’s Productivity Growth
In 1999, Malaysia’s productivity growth rebounded to 3.9 per cent,

after contracting by 1.8 per cent in 1998 during the Asian financial
crisis. Productivity growth contributed 70 per cent to the economic
growth of 5.6 per cent in 1999, while employment contributed 29
per cent. However, the 1999 productivity growth rate has yet to
recover to the level recorded during the pre-crisis period.

In 2000, productivity growth is projected to expand by 4.2 per
cent due to higher capacity utilisation to meet rising demand.

E C O N O M I C S
P U L S E  O F  T H E  E C O N O M I E S

Productivity GrowthC H A R T  1

Note :  All Charts and Tables in this write-up were obtained from Produc-
tivity Report 1999, National Productivity Corporation.
e — estimates.
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T A B L E  1

Sectoral Productivity Performance
(per cent growth)

Sectoral Productivity Performance
and Prospects

Among the economic sectors, the manufacturing sector regis-
tered the strongest recovery in terms of productivity growth in
1999 (9.1 per cent; Table 1). This was due to improvement in do-
mestic and external demand, which increased capacity utilisation
and performance of the sector.

Although the construction sector fared the worst in 1999 (– 4.9
per cent), its productivity performance was better than a year ago
(– 12.7 percent). This can be attributed to improved domestic de-
mand, lower interest rates, house ownership campaigns and the
implementation of large-scale infrastructure projects.

Meanwhile, productivity growth in the transport sector recorded
an encouraging improvement (3.2 per cent), while it stagnated in
the electricity sector. Productivity growth in the finance sector
fell by 0.4 per cent.

In 2000, all sectors are envisaged to record positive productiv-
ity growth rates, with the construction (3.7 per cent) and finance
(4.4 per cent) sectors expecting to show marked improvement.
However, the productivity growth in the manufacturing sector is
expected to moderate to 4.4 per cent.

            1998           1999          2000
Sector Productivity Output Productivity Output Productivity Output

Manufacturing – 7.0 – 10.2 9.1 13.5 4.4 8.0

Construction – 12.7 – 24.4 – 4.9 – 5.6 3.7 5.0

Transport 1.0 1.2 3.2 3.8 2.7 6.5

Electricity 2.0 6.2 1.8 4.9 2.3 5.5

Finance 1.8 4.3 -0.4 1.2 4.4 5.4

Trade -0.2 -2.0 1.2 2.1 1.7 4.5

Productivity Growth —
Key to Higher Competitiveness

Higher productivity in the private sector should continuously
drive Malaysia’s economic growth, if the country is to remain as
an attractive investment and trading nation. This will require firms
to incorporate productivity-driven growth strategies as part of their
corporate objectives. As outlined in the Productivity Report 1999,
these strategies include :

n Implementing productivity and quality management systems.

n Making use of benchmarking activities.

n Intensifying application of information technology.

n Upgrading skill.
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n Creating quality products through research and development.

Generally, higher productivity growth is associated with growth
in Capital Intensity (CI) and Total Factor Productivity (TFP). CI
measures the physical capital expansion (fixed assets) allocated
to each employee, while TFP measures the synergy and efficiency
of the utilisation of both capital and human resources. Positive
TFP growth indicates efficient utilisation and management of re-
sources, materials and inputs necessary in producing goods and
services. It also measures the degree of technological advance-
ment associated with economic growth.

During 1989-99, the Malaysian economy recorded a TFP growth
of 1.6 per cent resulting in a corresponding 3.8 per cent average
growth rate of productivity. CI contributed 58.8 per cent to produc-
tivity growth, while TFP contributed 41.2 per cent. TFP develop-
ment strategies focus on capital structure, demand intensity, edu-
cation and training, economic restructuring and technical progress.

The five major determinants of TFP growth are defined as follows :

n Demand intensity indicates the extent of productive capacity of
the economy.

n Education and training aims to upgrade skills and knowledge
of the workforce.

n Economic restructuring refers to the movement of resources from
less productive to the more productive sectors of the economy.

n Capital structure relates to the proportion of investments in pro-
ductive capital inputs.

n Technical progress relates to the effective and efficient utilisa-
tion of technology, innovation, work attitudes and management,
and organisational effectiveness.

Manufacturing Sector
Within the manufacturing sector, the non-ferrous metal, trans-

port equipment, machinery (except electrical), footwear and wood
products sub-sectors contributed considerably to productivity
growth in 1999. Unit labour cost fell by 6.7 per cent, indicating
increased competitiveness. Nevertheless, a productivity-linked
wage system, strategic shift towards higher productivity processes
and higher skill intensity in the workforce are needed to further
enhance productivity growth in this sector.

In terms of industry type, the export-oriented industries recov-
ered much faster than the domestic-oriented industries (Table 2).
Exports of manufactured goods amounted to RM265.5 billion or
82 per cent of total merchandise exports in 1999.

The productivity performance of the manufacturing sector (Ta-
ble 3) is summarised below :

n Added Value per Employee — The strong recovery in 1999 (11.1
per cent growth in Sales Value per Employee) was due to the
commendable performance of industries, especially the export-
oriented ones.

n Added Value per Labour Cost — The competitiveness of the do-
mestic-oriented industries improved to 11.9 per cent in 1999
(9.6 per cent for export-oriented industries), due mainly to the
recovery in domestic demand.

n Unit Labour Cost (ULC) — Labour cost competitiveness im-
proved in 1999, reflected in a 6.1 per cent decline in ULC. For
the domestic-oriented industries, ULC fell by 4.1 per cent, while

that for the export-oriented industries grew by five per cent.

n Added Value per Fixed Assets — The decline in capital produc-
tivity in 1998 was due to high investments and capital stock-up.
The economic crisis reduced the capitalisation rate which ad-
versely affected the output level.

n Fixed Assets per Employee — The sharp growth of 41.4 per cent in
1999 reflected the shift towards capital-intensive technologies.

n Added Value Content — The lower growth in added value con-
tent of 1.6 per cent in 1999 was due to higher cost of imported
materials and components during the economic crisis.

n Process Efficiency — The sharp drop in Process Efficiency by
22.8 per cent in 1998 was due to high total input cost, especially
in terms of material consumed and bought-in services. Increases
in input costs grew much faster than output generation.

Services Sector
The services sector contribution to Gross Domestic Product

(GDP) rose to 52.2 per cent in 1999 (43.2 per cent in 1991), reflect-
ing its importance to the national economy. Its contribution to GDP
emanated largely from commerce/trade and finance (Table 4).

T A B L E  2

Performance of Export-oriented and
Domestic-oriented Industries

Productivity Indicators 1997 1998 1999

Added Value per Employee* 20.1 -8.6 11.1

Added Value per Labour Cost* n.a. -16.1 -6.1

Unit Labour Cost n.a. 21.0 -6.1

Added Value per Fixed Assets -3.6 -35.3 n.a.

Fixed Assets per Employee 24.7 41.4 n.a.

Added Value Content 5.5 1.6 n.a.

Process Efficiency 3.9 -22.8 n.a.

* Due to data limitation, the analysis for 1999 was based on sales value
per employee and sales value per labour cost for the period January-
September 1999.

n.a. — not available.

T A B L E  3

Productivity Indicators
(per cent growth)

 Type of Industry Output Growth (%)

1999 1998

Export-oriented  15.3  – 1.2

Reasons for Improvement :  Most of the export-oriented in-
dustries stepped up their output in 1999 due to improved glo-
bal demand, especially for the electronics equipment and com-
ponents, including semiconductors.

 Domestic-oriented  7.3  – 24.3

Reasons for Improvement :  Recovery in the transport sec-
tor, especially in the transport equipment industry which grew
by 74.9 per cent in 1999. This was due to the upsurge in de-
mand for passenger cars as a result of lower interest rates.
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per cent a year, exceeding that of Germany (2.4 per cent), UK (2
per cent), Italy (1.5 per cent), US (1.5 percent), France (1.4 per
cent), Canada (0.9 per cent) and Japan (0.8 per cent). In 1999,
Malaysia’s productivity growth of 3.9 per cent was higher than all
these countries (Table 5).

In Asia, Malaysia’s productivity growth averaged 4.5 per cent a
year during 1991-98, which was higher than that of Thailand (4.3
per cent), Indonesia (2.6 per cent), Hong Kong (1.7 per cent) and
the Philippines (– 0.2 per cent). However, its productivity growth
was lower, compared with South Korea (five per cent) and Tai-
wan (4.8 per cent), while Singapore had the same growth rate.

Productivity, Quality and Economic Growth
More than any other factor, the enhancement of productivity

and quality will have an important bearing on the sustainability of
growth and future growth prospects. This was rightly pointed out
by the Minister of International Trade and Industry, Dato’ Seri
Rafidah Aziz, who urged that :

“... productivity enhancement initiatives such as productivity
and quality management systems, application of information tech-
nology, human resource development, research and development
must continue to be emplaced at the firm level ....”

Indeed, firms should accelerate the implementation of such initia-
tives to produce higher value-added products at competitive prices,
especially with the formidable challenges of globalisation, liberalisa-
tion and advances in information and communications technology.

Note :  The above digest, which is prepared by the Economic Research
team, is largely based on the Productivity Report 1999, published by the
National Productivity Corporation in June 2000.

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○
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 Selected
 Asian
 Economies  1993  1994  1995  1996  1997  1998  1999(e)

Malaysia 4.0 6.1 6.6 5.7 5.6 – 1.8 3.9

Taiwan 4.9 4.2 4.8 5.4 5.6 3.5 n.a.

South Korea 4.2 5.4 6.1 2.6 4.1 – 0.5 n.a.

Singapore 6.9 5.8 3.6 0.7 2.9 0.4 4.0

Philippines – 0.1 1.4 2.7 – 1.3 3.4 – 1.7 n.a.

Thailand 9.3 8.9 7.2 6.6 – 3.2 – 5.1 n.a.

Hong Kong

SAR, China 3.9 2.8 3.3 1.3 0.8 – 7.3 n.a

Indonesia 6.3 3.8 10.8 0.9 3.0 – 14.2 n.a.

 Selected OECD Economies

US 0.8 1.2 0.5 1.4 1.9 2.2 2.3

Japan 0.1 0.6 1.3 3.0 – 0.5 – 1.9 2.3

Germany 0.5 3.4 2.1 2.6 3.7 2.7 1.1

UK 2.5 3.3 1.5 1.2 1.7 2.2 1.0

Canada 0.8 2.0 0.7 0.2 1.9 0.5 1.0

France – 0.1 2.7 1.2 1.7 2.1 1.9 0.9

Italy 1.3 3.9 3.5 0.3 1.3 1.3 – 0.1

e — estimates.
n.a. — not available.

T A B L E  4                 Output Share of Services Sector
(per cent)

1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 (e)

Services 50.59 49.74 50.32 54.23 52.2

Electricity 3.48 3.45 3 3.28 3.29

Transport 7.29 7.07 7.26 7.77 7.71

Commerce/Trade 15 14.61 14.52 15.28 14.59

Finance 10.25 10.82 11.84 12.31 11.69

Govt Services 7 6.42 6.42 7.1 6.91

Other Services 7.58 7.38 7.28 8.21 8.03

e — estimates.

During 1995-99, the output growth of the services sector aver-
aged 6.4 per cent a year. This was due mainly to the output growth
in finance (8.1 per cent), transport (6.9 per cent) and electricity
(5.8 per cent). Meanwhile, productivity growth in the services
sector averaged 3.2 per cent a year, with contribution emanating
mainly from transport (four per cent), finance (3.3 per cent) and
electricity (3.3 per cent).

To expand the services sector further, there is a need to deal
with the following issues :

n Expand industry capacity.

n Upgrade efficiency of service delivery system.

n Enhance competency and innovation through information tech-
nology.

n Provide quality services at competitive prices.

n Create potential for new exports and expand into the global market.

Specifically, there is a need to constantly stress productivity-
driven growth in the services sector. The following factors are
crucial in managing productivity improvement :

n  Human Resource Development (HRD)
The services sector was the largest employer in the country

during 1995-99. This calls for adequate attention to be given to
education and training, which can boost productivity. Equally im-
portant is the need to further enhance the quality of human re-
sources in developing core skills, competency and multi-skilling.

n  Operational Development
Service organisations should stress service quality, ensure cus-

tomer satisfaction and understand their market position. For or-
ganisations to further improve, they would need to constantly
measure and evaluate their service quality, and to benchmark
against the best in their industries.

n  Information Technology (IT) Development
Service organisations should use IT to generate value-added serv-

ices and derive maximum benefits from its application. IT has the
potential to eliminate unwanted processes, transactions and activi-
ties, as well as facilitate the efficient utilisation of resources.

International Comparison of
Productivity Growth

During 1991-99, Malaysia performed better than several major
countries of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and De-
velopment (OECD). Malaysia’s productivity growth averaged 4.4

International Comparison
of Changes in Productivity

(per cent growth)

T A B L E  5
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On Prohibiting Selective
Disclosure

The US Securities and Exchange Com-
mission is deliberating on Regulation FD,
which requires firms to immediately release
material information to everyone if they re-
lease it to anyone. This regulation seeks to
prevent selective disclosure of material in-
formation to analysts, which may result in
their clients benefiting from trading on in-
formation received before others do.

However, Regulation FD has spawned a
debate, ranging from the definition of the
word ‘material’ to whether the regulation
will enhance public confidence in the mar-
kets or create more inefficiency.

Proponents such as Robert J. Shiller con-
tended that equal access to material infor-
mation is important because of the high
public involvement, which is testimony to
public trust in these markets. Moreover,
most large businesses are in full compliance
with the proposed Regulation FD, even be-
fore its approval. And the Internet has made
it possible to make new material informa-
tion known to all investors simultaneously.

Meanwhile, opponents such as Kevin A.
Hassett argued that, with Regulation FD,
analysts would have little incentive to craft
tough questions to gather information, but
every incentive to get a free ride on the ef-
forts of others at public meetings. To him,
there is also the issue of whether selective
disclosure is an important problem, not to
mention the possibility of private suits.

Excerpt from Asian Wall Street Journal,
11-13 August 2000.

On Large Complex
Organisations

“Large US banks are lagging behind in
their risk-measuring systems and the Fed-
eral Reserve intends to put disclosure poli-
cies into place to give the market more in-
formation,” Laurence Meyer, a Federal
Reserve Board Governor said.

The public sector advisory group (com-
prising the Office of the Comptroller and
the Security and Exchange Commission)
was given the task of coming up with ‘best
practices’, aimed at making banks and fi-
nancial institutions more open about their
market risk profiles. The group is to com-
pile the report by end-2000.

Regulators are concerned that the recent
mergers and acquisitions in the banking
industry have created huge banks — called
‘large complex organisations’ or LCBOs by
the Fed. The impression such banks seem
to portray is that they are ‘too big to fail’.
Their global reach also makes it hard for
regulators to assess whether their capital
reserves are adequate for the risks they
take in their lending.

By encouraging more disclosure, the
Fed hopes that market discipline will ef-
fectively regulate banks without the need
for too many regulators, who rely on fixed
capital rules and periodic examinations. In
future, financial institutions own internal
risk models could also be used by regula-
tors as part of the supervisory scheme.

Excerpt from Financial Times,
1 June 2000.

On Technology and
Productivity

There is a case for raising the speed limit
on US economic growth, a study by Dale
Jorgenson of Harvard University and Kevin
Stiroh of the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York showed. This can be attributed to the
application of information technology (IT)
over the past decade, resulting in improved
efficiency and productivity (2.3 per cent
annually during 1995-98).

Productivity growth came from capital
investment, labour quality and technologi-
cal progress, with the third source contrib-
uting to the biggest gains. About 30 per
cent of the gains from technological
progress came directly from productivity
gains in the technology sector.

The sharp drop in computer prices that
started in 1995 (30 per cent annually dur-
ing 1995-98) has led to greater capital in-
vestment, which in turn accelerated the
pace of productivity growth.

Excerpt from Asian Wall Street Journal,
2 August 2000.

On Why IMF Must Change
“... the calls for a reform of the IMF are

justified,” Managing Director of the Inter-
national Monetary Fund (IMF) Horst
Kohler admitted. He offered two reasons

why such a change must take place :

n First, the environment in which it oper-
ates has changed dramatically. Interna-
tional financial markets have seen un-
precedented growth in volume and so-
phistication, especially during the past
decade. Private capital flows are a major
source of promoting growth and produc-
tivity, but they can be a source of abrupt
volatility. To contain the latter and to pro-
mote the former is the issue at stake.

n Second, the IMF has made mistakes, par-
ticularly in not being attentive enough
to the changes in the global financial
markets and their repercussions on the
exchange rate systems and domestic fi-
nancial sectors. It has underestimated
the importance of institution building,
which needs time and requires crucially
ownership by the societies affected.

Excerpt from Horst Kohler’s speech at the
National Press Club, Washington DC,

 7 August 2000
.

On Changing Direction of
Japanese Interest Rates

The Bank of Japan scrapped the country’s
zero rate policy on 11 August 2000 by rais-
ing interest rates for the first time in 10 years.
“We hope the Japanese public will take this
as a sign that the Japanese economy is re-
covering,” its governor Masaru Hayami said.

However, this move has sparked re-
newed concern regarding the outlook for
the lacklustre Japanese economy, where its
growth has rarely exceeded 1.5 per cent a
year since 1991. For example, the IMF, in
its assessment of the Japanese economy,
had warned that the country’s economic
recovery was fragile and urged the central
bank to stick to its zero rate policy.

The unsecured overnight call rate is now
0.25 per cent, although the official discount
rate will be kept at 0.5 per cent. For the
past 18 months, the central bank had kept
overnight rates near zero by supplying suf-
ficient funds into the money markets. The
rate rise, albeit modest, marks a clear
change of direction.

Excerpt from Financial Times,
12-13 August 2000.

Note :  “Snippets around the Globe” is compiled
by the Economic Research team.

SNIPPETS AROUND THE GLOBE
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Malaysia is set to be the fastest
growing economy in Southeast
Asia, with domestic demand

strengthening and exports continuing to
be robust. Growth could hit nearly nine per
cent this year, up from 5.6 per cent in 1999,
edging Singapore’s eight per cent, the re-
gion’s next fastest growing economy.

 “Bank loans growth are picking up and
there’s rising consumer and business con-
fidence in Malaysia,” says Chan Kok Peng,
regional economist at BNP Prime Per-
egrine, a unit of France’s Banque Nationale
De Paris, in Singapore.

Since the first quarter of this
year, domestic demand has
picked up rapidly and is taking
the lead from exports as the
main driver of growth. The
economy expanded by a sharp
11.7 per cent in the January-
March period, and is expected
to grow by a creditable nine per
cent in the second quarter. Ris-
ing domestic demand and bet-
ter exports to Europe, which is
experiencing moderate eco-
nomic growth and the rebound-
ing economies of Asia should
offset any slow down in ship-
ments to the US, a big market.

Consumer demand grew by
an impressive 14 per cent year-
on-year in Januar y-March,
fuelled by brighter employment
prospects, low interest rates, rising in-
comes and better consumer confidence.
Car sales have improved markedly, as has
imports of consumption goods and con-
sumer credit by financial institutions. Pri-
vate consumption accounts for over 40 per
cent of gross domestic product.

Malaysia’s electrical and electronic prod-
ucts, which account for over 60 per cent of
exports, are riding on a strong, extended

upcycle in global demand. There is buoy-
ant demand for Internet and Internet-
related services (fuelled by the growth of
e-commerce) and
mobile phones
and other telecom-
m u n i c a t i o n s
equipment. Ex-
ports of crude oil,
petroleum prod-
ucts, liquefied
natural gas, chemicals and timber are also
robust. Exports could expand by over 10
per cent this year and next.

The US economy is expecting a soft land-
ing in the second half of this year. A sharp
correction in US equities markets could
cause the US economy to decelerate in
2001, but this shouldn’t af fect the
Malaysian economy too badly.

Singaporean stock brokerage G.K. Goh
expects the Malaysian economy to grow
by five per cent in 2001 and 8.7 per cent
this year. “These are fairly good numbers,”

The Way Forward
says regional economist Song Seng Wun.

A gradual revival in private investment and
increased government spending are also
helping the Malaysian economy. Keeping a
lid on private investment is the large excess
capacity in a number of key industries. In-
vestments so far have been mainly in expand-
ing capacity in the semiconductor industry
to cater to better export demand.

However, new
investments in
other manufactur-
ing sectors are
limited. The gov-
ernment is accel-
erating spending
on such infra-

structure projects as the building and up-
grading of ports, airports, bridges, schools,
hospitals and drainage and irrigation facili-

ties to reflate the economy. Pub-
lic spending could expand by
nine per cent this year and eight
per cent next year. The govern-
ment is likely to up spending to
cushion a slowdown in the
economy if necessary.

Bank lending is improving
gradually, as has the issue of cor-
porate bonds to raise capital.
Capping bank lending is the
large excess capacity in key in-
dustries, few large-scale projects
and subdued private investment.
Banks’ non-performing loan ra-
tio has fallen to 6.3 per cent of
total loans (based on six-month
classification) from over eight
per cent at the start of the year.
Banks’ capital adequacy ratio is
a comfortable 12 per cent.

Bank lending — mainly to the manufac-
turing and property sectors — enjoyed its
strongest growth in May since the Asian
financial crisis broke in 1997. Lending grew
by RM3.1 billion or 0.7 per cent month-on-
month (8.7 per cent on an annualised ba-
sis). Bank lending also grew in the previ-
ous three months. Local stock brokerage
K&N Kenanga expects bank lending to
pick up in the second half and predicts it

“Investments so far have

been mainly in expanding

capacity in the semiconductor

industry to cater to better

export demand.”

By T.J. Tan
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Malaysia’s economy is all set to chart an impressive growth
again, however, it is with caution.

“ … with domestic demand strengthening and exports
continuing to be robust. Growth could hit nearly nine
per cent this year, up from 5.6 per cent in 1999…”
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Gross Domestic
Product Growth

(per cent)

Forecast 2000 1999

Malaysia 8.7 5.6

Singapore  8.0 5.4

Thailand 5.5 4.2

Philippines 3.5 3.3

Indonesia 3.9 0.3

Source: G.K. Goh (Singapore)

“By and large Malaysia’s

economic fundamentals are

sound…. Malaysia’s corporate

earnings growth is one of the

strongest in Southeast Asia.”

will expand by 11 per cent this year.
The residential property sector is enjoy-

ing a revival due to rising incomes, better
consumer confidence, easy credit, low in-
terest rates and aggressive marketing by
banks. Recent launches by IOI Properties,
Sime UEP and SP Setia have enjoyed take-
up rates of over 80 percent in Johor and the
Klang Valley. Some 10,000 people have reg-
istered to buy SCB Development’s 2,500
units costing over RM300,000 in its Mutiara
Damansara mixed residential devel-
opment project in Petaling Jaya.

All this has prompted analysts to
recommend investors ‘overweight’
the consumer sector — mainly resi-
dential property, media, tobacco, and
food — banking and finance stocks
and the construction/infrastructure
and building materials sector as well
as selected New Economy stocks.

“By and large Malaysia’s eco-
nomic fundamentals are sound,”
says Chan of BNP Prime Peregrine.
He adds that Malaysia’s corporate
earnings growth is one of the
strongest in Southeast Asia.

However, the Malaysian stock
market could remain lacklustre
until towards the end of the year or
the first quarter of next year, when
the many festivities could boost in-
vestors’ enthusiasm for stocks.
There are concerns about rising US inter-
est rates and worries over the staggered
sale of Central Limit Order Book stocks
over 56 weeks beginning on 3 July.

Market sentiment is also poor following
the sell-off in July, fuelled by ideas that the
Malaysian market was expensive compared
with Singapore, Hong Kong, Taiwan and
Thailand. Malaysian banking stocks were
considered the most expensive in the region.

There are also concerns among foreign
investors that corporate restructuring is not
going far enough, and what some see as
‘regulatory inertia’ in consolidating the bank-
ing sector. “In some parts of Asia, notably
Singapore and Korea, governments have
made rapid and radical institutional reforms
that should improve the way that capital is
allocated in future,” says Anand Aithal, chief
strategist at US investment bank Goldman
Sachs. “Malaysia is more mixed :  financial
sector reforms are happening, but the banks

are still more likely
to allocate capital to
the large conglom-
erates than to
newer small firms.”

US brokerage
Morgan Stanley
Dean Witter Asia has cut Malaysia’s
weighting in its model portfolio to 1.6 per
cent — below the 6.6 per cent weighting it
gets in the Morgan Stanley Capital Inter-

national (MSCI) Far East Ex-Japan index.
US investment bank Salomon Smith

Barney has also underweight Malaysia.
“Higher risks and slowing earnings mo-
mentum will mean lower index targets.” It
says the Composite Index could fall to as
low as 720 points, and expects it to end the
year at 920 and rise to 990 in the middle of

next year. BNP
Prime Peregrine
expects the index
to fluctuate mainly
between 800 and
900 points the rest
of this year.

Malaysia’s domestic liquidity remains
strong, which gives the local stock market
better protection against sharp drops on
the New York market than its neighbours.

Fuelling liquidity are strong trade
and current account surpluses and
restrictions on the outflow of the
ringgit.

The current account surplus is
likely to narrow gradually due to
higher imports, but remain substan-
tial at RM40 billion this year and
RM32 billion in 2001.

Liquidity should remain strong for
some time, with private investment
subdued amid large excess capacity
in key industries and a likely inflow
of over RM45 billion from the bal-
ance of payments this year. (Bank
Negara had to drain some RM50 bil-
lion of excess liquidity from the
money market between September
1998 and May this year) Huge liquid-
ity and benign inflation — the infla-
tion rate is expected to be around 2.5
to 3.2 per cent this year — will en-

sure that interest rates remain low for some
time. Interest rates may only edge up nearer
the end of 2001.

Malaysia’s large trade surplus is prompt-
ing concerns among analysts that the ringgit
is undervalued by as much as 15 per cent.
However, the government is likely to con-
tinue undervaluing the ringgit by keeping
the peg at RM3.80 per US dollar to bolster
economic growth by keeping interest rates
low. Pressure to allow the ringgit to appre-
ciate could mount in the first half of next
year as asset inflation strengthens (leading
to higher speculative activity in the property
market) and higher imported inflation as oil
prices strengthen. Morgan Stanley Dean
Witter Asia does not expect the economy to
overheat until mid-2001.

Note :  T.J. Tan is a Kuala Lumpur based free-
lance journalist. He contributes frequently to the
Financial Times newspaper of London and
Newsweek magazine.

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○

“… riding on a strong, extended upcycle
in global demand. There is buoyant

demand for Internet and Internet-related
services and mobile phones and other

telecommunications equipment.”
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The Good News :
Mankind is Living Longer
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1995 to 58 million in 2020. Malaysia’s spe-
cific situation should track Asia’s.

Lengthening lifespans are a testament to
sterling medical and nutritional advance-
ments. But there is a downside, which re-
lates directly to you.

As the propor tion of old to young
Malaysians rises — on the back of grow-
ing longevity and falling birth-rates — the
‘weight’ of social responsibility pressing on
the younger set will increase. Dramatically.

Today, Malaysians enjoy tremendously
high levels of family support. It may not
always be so.

The grim truth :  As Asians grow richer —
and globally homogenised by the onslaught
of the Coke swigging, Levi’s wearing, Yahoo!
surfing set — the values and norms of the
US will infiltrate our collective psyche.

Therefore, as a responsible Malaysian
accountant, you need to first become aware
of this major demographic shift in popula-
tion composition, and then prepare your

By Rajen Devadason

The bad news :  Attempting to ad-
equately fund growing retirement
periods will be a major migraine
inducer for most of us.

The 28 July 2000 issue of Asiaweek re-
ported on research done for the Ageing and

Physicists love the word ‘entropy’. It refers to the tendency every natural system has
to move from a state of order to that of maximum chaos. Entropy explains why as-
tronomers believe the universe appears to be heading toward a final ‘heat death’,
countless billions of years from now. Entropy can also be used to rationalise why your
clients’ accounts sometimes refuse to balance; and why your teenager’s bedroom might
look like a concussion grenade just went off in it.

Not surprisingly, entropy also works in our financial lives. This regular feature
represents Akauntan Nasional’s (AN) serious bid to educate all Malaysians of the
need for wise adherence to sensible financial planning principles and strategies.
Each accountant is a centre of influence — in your office, to your colleagues and
clients; and in your home, to your family. Money Tree is thus designed to help you
learn and then teach — in steps — all that is important in crafting a life of finan-
cial abundance, bounty and contentment.

Development Repor t  prepared by the
United Nations. Back in 1995, 39 per cent
of the world’s population over the age of
80 lived in Asia. By 2020, that proportion
is expected to escalate to 48 per cent.

If the jump in percentages alarms you,
brace yourself for the absolute figures. Five
years ago, our entire planet housed 60 mil-
lion octogenarians and their even more
mature cohorts. In 20 years’ time, that glo-
bal number will double to 121 million. But
Asia’s share of the aged will increase even
more, by 142 per cent, from 24 million in

“Live long and prosper,

or live long and don’t.”
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official numbers might help you under-
stand why. Table 1 represents the official
figures used by the Malaysian life insur-
ance industry to set premium levels based
on estimated lifespans.

Zero-in on the line for 55-year-olds. A 55-
year-old man can expect, on average, to live
until he is 78.61 — 78 years and a shade over
seven months — old. An average 55-year-old
woman can expect to live 5.6 per cent longer,
to roughly a week past her 83rd birthday.

Think about that for a moment. The aver-
age Malaysian can hope, at age 55, to spend
what will eventually end up being one-third
of his entire life in so-called ‘retirement’.

The data in this table stems from research
done, way back in 1992, by Bank Negara
Malaysia’s Insurance Regulation Depart-
ment. But human longevity is on the march.
Chances are high that more than half of
Malaysians born in the first decade of the
21st century will be alive — if God sees fit to
avert a planetary thermonuclear sterilisa-
tion, or a Deep Impact meets Armageddon
astronomical calamity — to party on an anti-
gravity platform come New Year’s Day 2100.

For those of us uncertain of joining them,
it is still safe to say that in the many dec-
ades ahead, we’ll have to deal with that in-
sidious, chronic malady called inflation.

Because of it then, if you and your cli-
ents hope to work till 55 and subsequently
exit the workforce permanently, large re-
positories of wealth need to be put in place.
For most people, the money available from
the Employee’s Provident Fund (EPF) just
isn’t going to be enough. Last month, I
mentioned that the average 55-year-old
Malaysian, apparently, runs out of EPF
money by the time he is 58.

One solution is to transfer a portion of
those funds into an EPF-based annuity
scheme. But I’ve run the numbers based
on the cost of, and returns from, that
scheme. My findings are disturbing.

They suggest that such annuities —
while infinitely better than running out of
cash completely, a few steps through the
retirement threshold — are not the best
option available to most people.

You are at liberty to disagree with me.
But allow me, first, to explain my rationale
based on simple calculations done for a 54-
year-old average Malaysian. Look at Table
1, again. This chap, whom we’ll call Ali
Average, can expect to live till he’s 78.43

AGE MALE FEMALE

18 75.65 81.45
19 75.71 81.46
20 75.77 81.48
21 75.84 81.50
22 75.92 81.52
23 76.00 81.54
24 76.08 81.57
25 76.16 81.59
26 76.23 81.62
27 76.29 81.65
28 76.35 81.68
29 76.41 81.71
30 76.46 81.74
31 76.50 81.78
32 76.55 81.81
33 76.59 81.85
34 76.63 81.89
35 76.68 81.92
36 76.72 81.96
37 76.77 82.01
38 76.82 82.05
39 76.87 82.09
40 76.93 82.13
41 76.99 82.17
42 77.05 82.22
43 77.12 82.26
44 77.20 82.31
45 77.28 82.36
46 77.37 82.41
47 77.47 82.47
48 77.58 82.52
49 77.70 82.58
50 77.83 82.65
51 77.96 82.71
52 78.11 82.78
53 78.26 82.85
54 78.43 82.94
55 78.61 83.04
56 78.80 83.16
57 79.00 83.28
58 79.21 83.42
59 79.43 83.58
60 79.66 83.74
61 79.89 83.92
62 80.14 84.10
63 80.39 84.30
64 80.66 84.50
65 80.95 84.70
66 81.25 84.91
67 81.56 85.12
68 81.90 85.35
69 82.25 85.61
70 82.62 85.88
71 83.01 86.19
72 83.41 86.51
73 83.84 86.86
74 84.28 87.22
75 84.74 87.60

Source :  Financial Freedom — Your Guide to
Lifetime Financial Planning, p. 313, Appendix
C, Edmond Cheah, Wong Boon Choy, Alex Sito
and Rajen Devadason, (KL MUTUAL 1998); In-
surance Regulation Department, Bank Negara
Malaysia (12 March 1992).

T A B L E  1

Malaysian Life Expectancies

clients, friends and relatives for the inevi-
table stresses this change will put upon
Malaysia’s societal safety net.

Recently, organisations responsible for
international accountancy standards have
recognised that financial planning has be-
come one of the five key disciplines re-
quired of a well-rounded accountant.

That isn’t to say that you — or any other
overworked member of the profession —
should necessarily rush out to become a
Certified Financial Planner (CFP). But you
can help those within your circle of influ-
ence prepare for very long retirements or
point them to sources of help.

Humanity is in the
Middle of a Sea Change

From the time Adam and Eve cavorted
in Eden right up until about 1800 the con-
cept of retirement was unheard of. People
tended to work until they dropped.

In James Michener’s classic, time-sweep-
ing novel Alaska, we find this fictional, yet
telling, account of life 29,000 years ago :

The expected life span in those years was
about 31 years, and from the constant
chewing of meat and gristle, teeth tended
to wear out before the rest of the body, so
that death was hastened by literal starva-
tion (Alaska, p. 53, James A. Michener,
Ballantine Books 1988)

In the subsequent agrarian societies,
there was no room to ever stop working.
The demands of farm-life were as unceas-
ing as the cycle of seasons. But with the
Industrial Revolution, economic output
rose so startlingly, that it became feasible
for people to eventually retire.

But retirement in those days, all the way
to the beginning of the 20th century, was
short-lived, and marked by frailty. In the US,
the average life expectancy for men in 1900
was 48. Today it’s about 75, with official re-
tirement starting between 63 and 67. The
standard retirement age in Malaysia is 55.

Both by global norms and rising
Malaysian life expectancies, that age is
oddly low. It is a legacy of British Colonial
times, when 55 perhaps seemed like a fair
point to end a career of service, out in the
Colonies of Africa, India or Malaya, and
return ‘to civilisation’.

But lengthening lifespans now mean the
viability of retiring fully at 55 is fast becom-
ing a vaporous dream. A hard look at some
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 Total Nominal Income Ali Average
will get from age 55 until he is 78

years and five months old

they plateaued at the all-time high of 8.5
per cent before beginning the current slide
down to 6.7 per cent seen in 1997 and 1998
before the slight upward blip to 6.84 per
cent in 1999.

We don’t think EPF rates will strengthen
significantly in the years ahead. (Note: Vir-
tually all of the EPF’s net income for 1999,
of RM10.24 billion, went toward funding
the increased 6.84 per cent dividend rate.
Nothing was left to flow into the EPF’s re-
serves).

Still, we strongly believe that in the years
ahead the EPF Board will do everything
possible to ensure a positive return after
inflation (the main value ‘subtractor’ to
consider since EPF dividends are, thank-
fully, not subject to taxation).

There is good reason for our confidence:
In the near-half century since the EPF’s in-
ception, there have only been two years,
the Oil Shock Period of 1973 and 1974,
when the real dividend rate (the EPF’s
declared annual dividend minus the (offi-
cial) inflation rate) was negative. In 1973,
the EPF dividend of 5.85 per cent was
swamped by the inflation rate of 10.5 per
cent; the real ‘return’ was thus –4.65 per
cent. The following year was worse : 1974’s
EPF dividend of 6.6 per cent was overshad-
owed by the all-time high of Malaysian in-
flation, 17.4 per cent; the real ‘return’ that
year was –10.8 per cent.

In the quarter century since then, offi-
cial inflation has attenuated a great deal.

I believe the EPF will continue to succeed
in granting returns ahead of inflation. I hope
the 6.5 per cent average rate that I’m imput-
ing for the long-term materialises.

Finally, the return on equities. The
Malaysian stock market is a nightmare for
conservative investors who abhor volatil-
ity. But for all its ups and downs, over the
long-term the stock market will — to a high
degree of certainty — track the nominal
growth rate of the Malaysian economy.

If we avoid another Asian Meltdown,
then it is fair to assume that our GDP will
expand at a compounded annualised
growth rate of at least six per cent for the
next 20 years. Actually, if we hope to
achieve Vision 2020, we’ll need a slightly
higher average. But for now, I’ll stick with
a six per cent real return. If inflation over
that period runs at a mean of four per cent,
then the average nominal growth rate is

approximately the sum of those two num-
bers = six per cent + four per cent. So, eq-
uities ought to yield 10 per cent, long-term.

Using my simple assumptions to impute
alternative returns for Ali Average, my cal-
culations suggest it should not be hard to
exceed annuity returns.

These numbers speak for themselves.
But in case you hadn’t noticed, for all op-
tions — apart from the annuity scheme —
I have assumed that the capital sum is un-
touched and thus available to be left as an
inheritance to beneficiaries.

But in the case of the annuity, the pay-
ments cease at death and nothing else is
payable to the estate — the principal is
gone, taken by the insurance company pro-
viding the annuity policy to fund this in-
strument.

I realise I seem to have come down
quite hard on the annuity scheme, but
there is one type of individual who would
be best served by an EPF-based annuity.
Someone who dares not trust himself with
large sums of money, who thinks he might
squander it on consumption instead of
channelling it to better areas of invest-
ment. In trying to guide anyone, you must
know the sort of individual you are deal-
ing with.

To close, if you take only one thought
away from this column, let it be this : please
help those around you to first understand
and then exercise delayed gratification.

Guide them to grow wealth to fund the
long string of tomorrows they are likely to
face. The alternative is too bleak to bear.

Note :  The writer, a financial planning consult-
ant and trainer, is co-author of the best seller
Financial Freedom — Your Guide to Lifetime Fi-
nancial Planning and its just released sequel Fi-
nancial Freedom 2 — Through Malaysian Equi-
ties and Unit Trusts, (publisher :  KL MUTUAL).
He welcomes questions and comments on any
aspect of personal finance in Malaysia. Feel free
to ‘snail mail’ c/o Akauntan Nasional or e-mail
rajendevadason@yahoo.co.uk.
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years (78 years and five months) old.
He will live 23 years and five months (281

months) past his 55th birthday.
So, if at 54 he takes the EPF annuity op-

tion of ‘buying’ for himself RM100 of regu-
lar monthly income, it will cost him
RM18,154. For that outlay, he will get a life-
time total of RM100 x 281 = RM28,100.

His cost of getting into that scheme to-
day is RM18,154.

His gain — utterly disregarding the time
value of money; it would make the num-
bers worse if we took it into consideration
— is RM (28,100 – 18,154) = RM9,946.

I’m now going to make some assump-
tions of the long-term returns available
from alternative investments:

Instrument Anticipated  long-term
annual yield (%)

Fixed Deposits  6.0
EPF 6.5
Equities 10.0

I admit that these numbers, like all guess-
timates, are open to dispute. So, once you
understand the simple principles behind the
ensuing calculations, you’re welcome to in-
ject your own estimates of returns.

But let me first explain my assumptions.
The average Malaysian fixed deposit rate

over the last 25 years has been between
six to seven per cent. I’m taking the floor
rate to compensate for the low interest rate
regime we have been in for the last two
years and that will continue for some time.
Personally, however, I don’t foresee this
easy money environment being sustained
for longer than a couple of years, after
which I expect Malaysia to return to a more
normal market-driven fluctuation in bank
interest rates. Hence, FDs at six per cent.

The last EPF dividend declared, for 1999,
was 6.84 per cent. As the EPF depositor
base grows, it becomes more and more ex-
pensive to fund each percentage point of
its annual dividend. However, to quote
from the just released Financial Freedom
2 — Through Equities and Unit Trusts :

… the annual EPF dividend rates started
at a low of 2.5 per cent in 1952 and re-
mained stagnant until 1959. They then
jumped to four per cent and gradually crept
up to 5.75 per cent during the 1960s. An-
nual dividends continued rising in fits and
starts right up to 1983. Then for five years,

                            RM

Annuity 28,100
Fixed Deposits 27,037
EPF 29,428
Equities 46,762

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○
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T E C H N O L O G Y

An Opportunity for Acco 
Trust and Confidence in 

The growth of the Internet and elec-
tronic commerce has been incred-
ible. As of June 1999, about 171 mil-

lion people had Internet access, a 50 per cent
growth over the year before. In 1998, Internet
users used the Web to buy over US$3 billion
worth of books, computers, airline tickets,
stocks and bonds, automobiles and a variety
of other merchandise and services.

However, studies have shown that only
20 to 25 per cent of the people who are
online are willing to make a purchase online.
This is due to significant consumer con-
cerns about the use of electronic commerce.
A Yankelovich Partners study sponsored by
the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA) found that consum-
ers lack confidence in E-commerce. The
study identified the following concerns :

n They were worried about security online.

n They were not sure if there was a genu-
ine business behind the website they
were interacting with.

n They didn’t know ‘if and when’ they
would receive the merchandise or serv-
ices they ordered.

n They didn’t like the traceability of trans-
actions on the Internet (many want a
high degree of privacy related to their
personal information and transactions).

n They were worried that they might be-
come victims of electronic fraud.

The Yankelovich study also focused on
the needs of the 75 to 80 per cent of the
population who were unwilling to make an
online purchase. It was highlighted that al-
most half of this group would be more will-
ing to do so if the website displayed a ‘seal
of approval’ from a Certified Public Account-
ant (CPA) or Chartered Accountant (CA)
that addressed their concerns. This was the

basis for the development of the new
WebTrust program by the public account-
ing profession in North America.

What is WebTrust?
WebTrust is a new assurance service

developed jointly by the AIPCA and the Ca-
nadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(CICA). WebTrust is based on a set
of measurement criteria, known as
the AICPA/CICA WebTrust Prin-
ciples and Criteria for Business-to-
Consumer Electronic Commerce.
Using these criteria, a CPA or CA
can ‘audit’ a client’s website. If the site
demonstrates that they have met these cri-
teria for at least 60 days, the CPA/CA can
issue a ‘clean opinion’ and the site can dis-
play the WebTrust seal (as shown).

Because the Internet is a rapidly chang-
ing environment, the CPA/CA needs to
update his or her ‘audit’ at least every three
months for the website to retain the seal.

What is Covered by the Web-
Trust Principles and Criteria?

In developing these principles and crite-
ria, the AICPA/CICA Task Force considered
the results of the Yankelovich and other simi-
lar studies as well as current ‘best practices’
for websites. A key goal was to increase con-
sumer confidence in purchasing goods and
services online. An underlying concept was
to ensure that online shoppers had informa-
tion similar to what they would receive in a
‘bricks and mortar store’. Other concepts in-
cluded transaction processing accuracy and
protection of customer privacy. This lead to
three key principles :

Business and Information Privacy
Practices Disclosure

The entity discloses its business and infor-
mation privacy practices for E-commerce
transactions and executes transactions in
accordance with its disclosed practices.

By Everett C. Johnson
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This principle helps ensure that the cus-
tomer is informed about the website’s busi-
ness practices for electronic commerce
transactions. The website needs to disclose
its business practices for dealing with such
matters as orders (for example, how long
does it take to ship an order), any subse-
quent returns (for example, under what con-

ditions can the goods be returned),
and warranty claims (for example,
where does the customer go to get
service). The website also needs
to disclose how it uses and protects

private customer information along
with related customer options. It needs

to describe its consumer recourse provi-
sions and agree to third-party arbitration to
settle customer complaints. The website
also has to demonstrate that it follows its
disclosed practices.

Transaction Integrity Controls

The entity maintains ef fective controls
to provide reasonable assurance that cus-
tomers’ transactions using E-commerce
are completed and billed as agreed.

These controls address matters such as
validation of the transaction before
processing and the accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of transaction processing
and related billings. Controls also need to
allow the customer to check the status of
their order or payment.

Information Protection Controls

The entity maintains ef fective controls
to provide reasonable assurance that pri-
vate customer information obtained as
a result of E-commerce is protected from
uses not related to the entity’s business.

These controls address privacy and secu-
rity matters such as encryption or other pro-
tection of private customer information (such
as credit card numbers, financial and per-
sonal information) transmitted to the website

W E B T R U S T
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over the Internet. The website also needs to
protect such information once it reaches the
site. Customer permission must be obtained
to use their information for purposes other
than those related to the website’s business.
The website also needs controls to ensure
that it does not store, alter, or copy informa-
tion on the customer’s computer without the
customer’s permission.

The complete copy of the principles and
criteria can be obtained at the AICPA’s
website (www.aicpa.org/webtrust/
princrit.html). In addition to the business-
to-consumer principles and criteria, the
AICPA/CICA have developed a version of
WebTrust for Internet service providers
and are working on new WebTrust ver-
sions for certification authorities for busi-
ness-to-business electronic commerce.
These are expected to provide additional
opportunities for accounting firms to offer
electronic commerce assurance services.

WebTrust Is Going Global
The Internet is clearly a global phenom-

enon. A small company in one country can
reach potential customers all over the
world simply by setting up a website. Yet,
consumers around the world have similar
concerns and lack of confidence about
online purchasing. In response to this mar-
ket need, the AICPA/CICA have arranged
for public accounting firms to provide the
service globally under two options :

n  International public accounting firms can
sign a global license with the AICPA/
CICA to provide the WebTrust service
in all countries in which they operate.

n  Accountancy institutes can sign a license
with the AICPA/CICA that allows them
to license public accounting firms in
their country to provide the WebTrust
service. Todate, accountancy institutes
in Australia, England and Wales, Ireland
and Scotland have signed up for this ar-

rangement and are providing training to
practitioners in their countries.

In addition, the latest version of the
WebTrust is designed to work internation-
ally. This provides a degree of protection to
consumers in one country who wish to do
business with a website in another country.

WebTrust seals are currently on
websites in Australia, Canada, the Nether-
lands and the US with active interest in
several other countries. It is rapidly being
recognised as the global symbol for the
best places to do business on the Internet.

Benefits of WebTrust
WebTrust offers many benefits to the

website, its customers and its CPA or CA.
The website knows that it is using ‘best
practices’, which are periodically audited.
The WebTrust seal is likely to help more
of the site’s visitors become purchasers,
thereby lowering transaction costs.
WebTrust should also help the site attract
new customers.
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Customers benefit because they have as-
surance that the ‘WebTrusted’ site is likely
to be a safe place where they can shop
online with confidence.

For the CPA or CA practitioner, WebTrust
is an opportunity to serve clients with new
recurring assurance services. In addition,
many practitioners have found opportuni-
ties to provide other electronic commerce
services to help their clients be successful
on the Web.

Note :  Everett C. Johnson is a partner of Deloitte
& Touche in the US where he is the International
Director of his firm’s Enterprise Risk Services
practice. He is a member of the IFAC Informa-
tion Technology Committee and the AICPA As-
surance Services Executive Committee. He cur-
rently chairs the joint AICPA/CICA Electronic
Commerce Assurance Services Task Force,
which developed WebTrust and is developing
other electronic commerce assurance services.
This article first appeared in IFAC Quarterly,
January 2000 and is reprinted here with permis-
sion. WebTr ust, CPA WebTr ust and CA
WebTrust are service marks and trademark of
the American Institute of Certified Public Ac-
countants and the Canadian Institute of Char-
tered Accountants.

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○
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Everyone knows the darling of the
e-commerce world: Amazon.com

         There probably isn’t a business-
person alive that doesn’t envy something
about Amazon.com. The site has been able
to maintain its pioneer status in the elec-
tronic medium, where an idea one-day is
often a product offering the next. After a few
short years, it is one of the world’s most rec-
ognised brand names rivalling mainstream
mainstays Coke, Ford and Motorola. Its rev-
enues have been growing exponentially
since the first day it was launched. Despite
these desirable traits, Amazon.com to this
day remains unprofitable!

T E C H N O L O G Y
E - C O M M E R C E

Profitable
E-commerce
By Bruno Lee
GENERAL MANAGER
SYSTEMS UNION, ASEAN REGION

Needs Dependable BackOffice
Why? Because achieving profitability

means finding a positive balance between
revenues and costs during a particular pe-
riod of time. Something that needs a lot of
rethinking when considering e-commerce.

 Every financial or business journal will
likely devote some space to the vast poten-
tial for e-commerce revenues. The argu-
ment for revenues is certainly not unfamil-
iar to the ‘bricks and mortar’ businesses:
take a market segment, add a product of-
fering, provide access and methods for pay-
ment and the result is revenue.

In the world of the Internet, the argu-
ment goes something like this: more peo-
ple are jumping on the Internet bandwagon
everyday. The medium’s speed and flash
intoxicate these Web-sophisticates. They
have access to an assortment of payment

methods with which they do what consum-
ers do best — consume!

 Generating revenues alone, however,
does not guarantee profitability. If it did,
businesses like Amazon.com would be er-
roneously profitable and will be threaten-
ing to topple the likes of IBM and General
Motors.

Current Views Are Myopic
 The problem with e-commerce is that it

is traditionally seen only as a new sales
channel. This view is myopic as it over-
looks the benefits that Internet technolo-
gies such as browsers and e-mail can bring
to the entire business operation, especially
when combined with workflow automation.

 Browsers are a powerful technology
with many intrinsic benefits, making them
an appropriate user interface for many
tasks. They are suitable for data entry and
retrieval of all aspects of a software solu-
tion. While they were designed for use with
the Internet, they may be used with corpo-
rate intranets and extranets or basically any
networked approach to data.

 Low-cost browsers can, in fact, replace
the client portion of many client-server
applications resulting in lower capital and
operating costs for these systems and
broader access to company data especially
for multi-site organisations and those with
a mobile work force.

 Opening your business information sys-
tems directly to your customers via the
Internet transforms the customer service
model to one of self-service thus reducing
your costs while making access more con-
venient. Allowing customers or suppliers
to input data, eliminates re-keying and rec-
onciliation and updates your core financial
systems immediately, thus streamlining
your business operation.

 This will help reduce costly errors. Eve-
ryone knows that every manual process can
introduce error, which can only be detected
and corrected through additional time-con-
suming and costly reconciliation and cor-
rection procedures. Since these procedures
frequently delay the production of valuable
management reports, eliminating them im-
proves your operational efficiency.

 A shorter sales order cycle also im-
proves your productivity and allows sen-
ior management to be better informed
about the changing needs of the market-
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place, leading to better decision-making.
That allows you to maintain lower invento-
ries thus reducing your risk to changing
customer sentiments, which can impact
your bottom-line.

 E-commerce is not limited to just busi-
nesses but is a valuable tool for orthodox
financial and banking institutions. They
can quickly realise profitability because the
Internet offers rapid and immediate access
to information that can shape investment
decisions. Further service fees are often
discounted for online transactions.

 There is another reason why banks, es-
pecially need to e-commerce otherwise
known as e-banking. As the customers they
serve put their trust in the Internet technolo-
gies and e-commerce, banks need to adopt
e-commerce to differentiate and woo the
tech-savvy crowd.
Although banks are
built on trust, in-
creasingly, conven-
ience is becoming a
very telling factor
with new customers.

Where to Start?
 In order to put together the building

blocks of e-commerce, let’s consider the
way business has been done traditionally.
The batch concept of processing a number
of transactions together is historical; trans-
actions such as orders arrived by post per-
haps only once or twice a day. If order en-
try is Internet-enabled, customers can en-
ter directly whenever they wish and busi-
nesses can adopt more efficient transac-
tion-oriented work patterns.

 This, in turn, transforms the specialist
roles required in a batch organisation e.g.
the order entry clerk, letting employees’
play-more effective roles across the entire
business process. Browser technology sup-
ports this by giving a common interface to
a number of systems.

 E-mail has tended to be the most popu-
lar for basic messaging, replacing interof-
fice phone calls and memos yet when
paired with workflow tools, e-mail can drive
events. While staff must know when to run
reports, when to inquire about transaction
status or when to update files, e-mail offers
an ideal alert system. E-mail alerts can pro-
vide faster processing and more effective
working practices resulting in enhanced

customer service.
 Workflow is the linking of business func-

tions into a logical sequence or grouping
to perform a business process. Workflow
automation tools operate according to busi-
ness rules allowing quality measures to be
part of the process rather than an external
measurement. In the case of purchase or-
ders, the rules could include authorisation
levels based on purchase cost or purchase
type. Once implemented, workflow auto-
mation can let you react quickly to budg-
etary changes by revising the rules.

 Budget cuts could be implemented
across the board by freezing the requisition
of certain types of purchases or lowering
the value of purchases requiring high lev-
els of authorisation. Integrating e-mail with
underlying workflow controls cuts out pa-

per work and
lets electronic
purchase req-
uisitions be
passed to the
authoriser the
instant they are
raised. Greater

control in the purchasing cycle reduces er-
ror and delay, gives tighter budgetary con-
trol and may allow you to negotiate more
favourable supplier terms. Proactive budg-
etary control is possible since purchase req-
uisitions can be evaluated against live avail-
able budget figures prior to the raising of
the purchase order.

By harnessing the power of workflow au-
tomation, e-mail alerts and browsers, you
can take advantage of new customer serv-
ice opportunities and internal efficiencies
to boost productivity without adding new
costs. Businesses that are adopting an
Internet sales channel can profit even fur-
ther if the entire business system is ena-
bled for these technologies.

For example, if we look at the sales or-
der process, all major data entry and in-
quiry transactions can be implemented
using browsers so that you can rapidly
develop a full order handling and customer
service solution. A product catalogue
would display product photos and descrip-
tions together with live data such as prices
from a purchasing module.

Customers could then enter sales orders,
pay by credit card, and then enquire about
the status of their orders through links to the

financial systems. In-house processing would
include order fulfilment and perhaps an e-mail
alert to a manager in the case of delay to a
promised delivery date or a credit limit that
has almost been reached. Reports on indi-
vidual customers or other standard sales re-
ports could be e-mailed on request or accord-
ing to a schedule. In all these steps, the finan-
cial systems have been updated immediately,
offering senior management a truly current
picture of the business, leading to better and
more timely decision-making.

The Total Solution
Rapid access to reliable data is made

possible through a single source of finan-
cial data in one integrated ledger. The at-
tributes and functionality of nominal, sales
and purchases ledgers are held within a
single environment, avoiding duplication
and error while offering improved acces-
sibility for larger installations.

 The use of one application worldwide can
lower training costs and provide a quicker
return on investment. Software functional-
ity is only one element of a successful solu-
tion needed to support an organisation.
Implementation services, technical support
and tailored training are integral parts of the
overall solution and can make the difference
between success and failure.

Inventory Control is one example of a busi-
ness module which monitors optimum sup-
ply levels, enabling warehouses to gain high
levels of productivity. The stock control sys-
tem supports assembly structures consist-
ing of up to 800 constituent parts broken
down into as many as ten levels, enabling full
tracking and improving efficiency in order
processing. The stocktaking function allo-
cates individual items with different cycles
for random stocktakes, whilst the perpetual
stocktaking function allocates individual
items and minimises operational disruption.
Comprehensive and flexible analysis, cou-
pled with a negative stock option, serial
number tracking and the full array of cost-
ing techniques, ensures the Inventory mod-
ule keeps you in complete control.

Note :  Bruno Lee is the General Manager for
Systems Union in the ASEAN region. Systems
Union is a leading international solution offer-
ing powerful financial and business manage-
ment software. He was among the pioneer team
involved in building up the infrastructure of the
regional office - sales and business partner re-
cruitment, setting up the administration and op-
erations, developing training and marketing.

○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○ ○
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Why is Productivity Important?
Productivity is vital to companies be-

cause it can make the difference between
failure and success or between barely sur-
viving and really thriving.

Management experts often point out that
one indication of how well an organisation
is functioning can be found in the results
it achieves through the use of its resources.
If the ratio of output to resources is large,
we say that the results are good and the
organisation is functioning effectively. It is
being productive because the value of its
output exceeds its investment in the re-
sources used to achieve that output.

It is doing better with what it has. On
the other hand, if the organisation is not
functioning very well and it wastes or un-
der utilises its resources, it may spend
more in producing its results than those
results themselves are worth. In that case
the ratio of output to resources is small,
and the organisation is being unproductive.

This matters to you for the simple reason
that productive organisations offer you more
of the good things than unproductive ones
can. Things like better wages and benefits,
more job security, stronger morale, greater
advancement opportunities and so on.

Increasing productivity benefits the in-
dividual employee in other ways, too. One
of the most significant is the strong ‘psy-
chic wage’ that each of us begins to draw
when we get involved in a formal produc-

tivity programme. These programmes help
us realise how our jobs fit in the structure
of the organisation. We get a better sense
of how the various divisions and units of
the organisation operate, and the impor-
tance of our own work.

We begin to understand the part that our
positions play in the life of the organisa-
tion, and that what we, do really matters.
We belong. We make a difference.

In addition, as productivity programmes
get established, many people find them-
selves being challenged for the first time in
years. Long neglected skills are brought to
light as people join task teams and address
some of the recurring problems that all or-
ganisations seem to have. After months or
even years of feeling under-utilised, people
experience the satisfaction of taking on a
new responsibility and finding within them-
selves the resources to meet it.

For these reasons, among others, in-
creasing productivity improves an organi-
sation’s ‘climate’ enormously. The emo-
tional atmosphere of the office becomes
much more positive and supportive. Mo-
rale is high and most people actually look
forward to coming to work. They have a
contribution to make-they know it is worth
making and what they do is recognised and
rewarded. The organisation is growing and
succeeding, and so are they, Everybody
wins.

In recent times, most of the major in-

O F F I C E  P  R O D U C T I V I T Y

Office Productivity
         and YouA better understanding of what

productivity is, why it matters,
how it can be increased and
what happens in an office when
an organisation decides to start
a productivity programme.

At coffee break one morning, a di-
vision secretary hears a rumour
that an outside consultant has
been hired to set up a productiv-

ity programme for her company. A few days
later she and all her co-workers receive a
memo from the executive vice-president
that states :  “It is in the best interest of
our whole company that we increase our
productivity. The consulting firm of Jones
& Associates has been trained to help us
accomplish this goal. Your cooperation
with the Jones’ representative assigned to
your division will be appreciated.”

The secretary is not sure what ‘coopera-
tion’ will involve, but she suspects it will
mean a heavier work load in the long run,
or perhaps even a reduction in force.

Does this sound familiar? It very well
may, for this situation is being repeated in
more and more companies all the time. Of
course, conscientious people have little to
be concerned about. Productivity pro-
grammes do not automatically mean more
work or that some jobs will be eliminated.
Still, we all tend to worry about the un-
known, and that applies to productivity as
well as anything else.

What is Productivity?
Productivity is often defined as a process

of getting more out of what you put in. It is
doing better with what you have. Increas-
ing your productivity can and often does
mean increasing your output per hour. But
productivity encompasses not only how ef-
ficiently you operate, but also what actually
gets done. In other words, effectiveness is
as important as efficiency. The ultimate key
to increasing productivity is not to work
harder, but to work smarter.
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creases in productivity have been associated with the ‘utilisation of mate-
rials’ — particularly through advances in technology. And it seems likely
that technology still has much to offer. In the office, automation has al-
ready accomplished a great deal, there is still the promise of fully inte-
grated systems, voice-activated terminals and smaller, less expensive and
easier-to-use versions of everything we already have. Nevertheless, ‘a
materials’ it is generally agreed that we should not expect technology, and
the better use of, to contribute as much to productivity gains in the years
ahead as they have in the past. For real growth in the future, we need to
look to our other resources and see how they can be used more produc-
tively.

This is especially true of people and time. These resources have great
productivity potential, and it can be tapped in many different ways, as most
organisations have begun to discover. For more effective use of ‘people’
and ‘time’, many organisations have found it helpful to convert their per-
sonnel departments into departments of human resources. The idea is to
shift the emphasis from record keeping and policy administration to ac-
tively managing the people’ resource within the organisation.

Human resource management includes taking inventory of the skills, knowl-
edge and abilities of the people who make up the organisation — and match-
ing them to the organisation’s needs. With this approach, the individual re-
ceives career counselling and planning, as well as ongoing training, and the
organisation obtains a virtually inexhaustible supply of the talent and experi-
ence it needs to meet the current goals and support future growth

Managed in this way, the people’s resource becomes more productive
because individuals are given assignments and responsibilities that inter-
est them more and make fuller use of their abilities. Each tends to feel
better motivated because they see the connection between succeeding in
their jobs and attaining their personal career goals and they generally make
better use of time for the same reason.

Human resource management also has a means of improving the effi-
cient use of people and time. This is based on the process of job analysis
and evaluation.

In this process, the responsibilities in each job are identified and the
work load is measured. The quantity, quality and importance of the work
are examined. Typically, some tasks are either reassigned to some other
positions or eliminated outright. Others are simplified or found to require
more time and effort. Ultimately, standards of performance are established,
and the work actually accomplished in each position is evaluated. When
the results are all compiled, there is a reliable indication of the organisa-
tion’s current level of efficiency (as well as a basis for setting its next group
of performance goals).

Taken together, all these methods and processes — human resource
accounting, career planning, performance planning and training, job analy-
sis, redesign and evaluation — offer a reasonably complete system for
improving human resource productivity. However, most productivity en-
hancement efforts start much more modestly. A typical programme might
include a job analysis and evaluation component combined with a task-
force approach to recurring productivity problems.

This sort of programme is well suited to challenge increasing productivity
in office positions, where more and more organisations are concentrating their
efforts. In a number of large corporations and agencies, office productivity
programmes are already well advanced — and the same is true in some smaller
organisations in which human resource management is well developed. But
statistics show that most employed people work in offices, and there are many
of us in that category who are just becoming aware of the new emphasis on
white-collar productivity. We may have heard that a new programme is com-
ing, but we are still not entirely sure about what to expect.

Things That Happen First
n Introduction of the programme, its purpose and

phases.

n Study of each person’s job, with identification of
responsibilities and measurement of daily work.

n Formation of task teams or involvement groups to
assess problems and suggest solutions.

Things That Happen Soon
n Development of performance standards for each

position.

n Simplification of some tasks, elimination of others,
redesign of some jobs.

n Identification of outdated or unnecessary office pro-
cedures.

n Task team recommendations of changes to solve
or lessen immediate problems.

Things That Happen Later
n Introduction of new equipment and technical re-

sources.

n Restructuring of work flow in office.

n Integration of work measurement programme and
employee performance review system.

n Changes in personnel — transfers, upgrading, pro-
motions — based on changes in jobs and work flow.

n Additional training to help people handle new re-
sponsibilities.

n Selective adoption of constructive suggestions gen-
erated by employee task teams.

Things That Finally Happen
n Promotions and pay increases are based on per-

formance rather than seniority.

n Managers and supervisors change their manage-
ment styles.

n Communication becomes open, honest and produc-
tive.

n Human resource accounting and development pro-
grammes match right people to right jobs.

n Employees are recognised as a continuous source
of new ideas for solving problems and improving
organisation effectiveness.

Does all this seem too good to believe? It shouldn’t.
It happens in many modern companies. However, the
process requires time, determination and a clear idea
of how to proceed.

It is difficult to generalise accurately on this point be-
cause what actually happens depends on the conditions
and circumstances in individual offices, and these are
always different.

All the same, it is easy to list some of the things that
frequently happen when office productivity programmes
are established.
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C R E AT I V I T Y

A  ccording to a survey by train-
  ing and consulting firm Gen-
   esis Training Solutions of the

US, 92 per cent of professionals say that
creativity will be critical to sales success
in the 21st century. Further studies by Sales
& Amp and Marketing Management
showed a vast 95 per cent of the workers
want to be more creative on the job. Why
are most workers not creative then? The
reasons are that they do not know how to
apply their creativity and that they work in
very structured environments where crea-
tivity is not encouraged. The studies con-
cluded that if your organisation wants great
performance, then you have to find ways
to feed the creativity of your workers.

Bad System and Good Person
Professors, Alan G. Robinson and Sam

Stern who have done extensive studies on
corporate creativity have made a very im-
portant observation — “A bad system will
beat a good person every time”. Therefore
the way to get your people excited about
creativity is to set up a system that encour-
ages and nurtures creativity.

Mike Vance, the Dean of the Disney
University is in full agreement in having
an organisational system for creativity. This
is what he believes :

“The highest creativity occurs in well-
organised environments. Poor organisa-
tion leads to wasted time and confusion.
Confused people are not creative people.”

World Class CEO
The process starts with the leaders and

the CEOs themselves. It has to be a top-

down approach. Great organisations are
characterised by open-minded leaders who
create a conducive climate for creativity
within their organisations. A noted adver-
tising expert, John Emmerling has this to
say about being a world-class CEO :

“If you eventually become a world-class
CEO, you will be a tiger on the subject of
ideas. You will set up your organisation to
foster creativity, search your organisation
for the best ideas, the best people. You will
glorify those ideas and generously reward
the people who thought them up. You will
quickly forgive the idea-maker who flops.
Your organisation will become well known
as an extraordinary creative place. And the

most creative people will flock to work
there.”

Mentally Illiterate
Tony Buzan, one of the foremost crea-

tivity experts in the world who created the
training programme “Radiant Thinking”
and the “Mind-mapping” technique for
problem-solving emphasises that creativ-
ity is a skill that can be learnt by every-
one. The most impor tant people who
should learn this skill are the business
leaders and CEOs themselves. He quotes
statistics to support his views :

“Sadly, most business leaders are men-
tally illiterate. They have been taught many

By Dr. Yew Kam Keong

 Getting People E 
 about Creativity

“The highest creativity occurs in well-organised
environments. Poor organisation leads to wasted time and

confusion. Confused people are not creative people.”
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things, but never to think. By their own ad-
mission, 90 per cent of business leaders
have never studied creative thinking —
they haven’t studied the basic alphabet of
their own intelligence.”

Asking the Right Question
When Toyota Corporation of Japan

asked the staff to submit :  “Ideas to Im-
prove Productivity”, the response was
rather poor. However, when the problem
was re-stated as :

“How to Make Your Work Easier”, there
was a dramatic increase in response
though both of them have the same end
objective. In the first case, the workers’
perception was that the management and
owners were the beneficiaries of the
project to improve productivity. In the sec-
ond case, the beneficiaries were clearly the
workers themselves.

ink explosion and they invented the highly
successful inkjet printer. This would not have
happened if not for the casual conversation
at the coffee machine.

Such incidents of breakthroughs are by
no means isolated. In fact, it seems to be
the most effective mechanism for innova-
tions and is popularly practised in the Sili-
con Valley.

Idea Campaign
The Idea Campaign concept is a very ef-

fective way of capturing new ideas and get-
ting workers to get excited about creativ-
ity. They are an exciting, fun and a more
structured version of the traditional em-
ployee suggestion program. The major dif-
ference is that, if used properly, there is a
direct bottom-line result. The campaign is
the best way of getting a large number of
ideas from the workforce within a speci-
fied period, say from one week to 30 days.

The goal is to get at least one idea from
everyone in the organisation in an atmos-
phere of fun and celebration. All ideas sub-
mitted are rewarded. They could be in the
form of certificates, T-shirts, caps, pens,
badges, etc. At the end of the celebration,
there should be a grand function such as a
company dinner where outstanding per-
formers are recognised and rewarded.
There should also be some frivolous
awards like the funniest idea, the craziest
idea, the most elaborate idea, the most
playful idea and so on.

The motorcycle company, Harley-
Davidson ran a 30-day Idea Campaign and
saved US$3,000,000!

The above are just some of the many ways
to get your people excited about creativity.
Perhaps you could implement at least one of
them. The most important thing is to get ex-
cited about creativity yourself. I’m working
with the Malaysian Institute of Accountants
to help organise the 1st National Creativity
Convention this December, where several in-
ternational creativity experts will be featured.
Look out for future announcements.

Note :  The author Dr. Yew Kam Keong (YKK) is an
international speaker, trainer and consultant on
creativity. He conducts creativity workshops for
local and multinational corporations in Malaysia and
other countries. He is also the best-selling author
of the book :  You’re Creative — Let Your Creativity
Bloom. Website :  www.mindbloom.com, e-mail :
ykk@mindbloom.com
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This ten-word directive established a
winning formula that empowered and mo-
tivated the team. The directive unleashed
the team’s creativity that enabled them to
design the highly successful range of
Thunderbird and Taurus cars.

Encourage Free Assocation
Casual conversations among employees

are potent weapons for making technologi-
cal breakthroughs. Two engineers who had
just finished their design of the engine for
HP’s new laser printer were having coffee
when they were joined by their other col-
leagues. They talked about the type of printer
they would like to have if they could have
anything they wanted. The consensus was
to have a colour printer with a resolution of
at least 200 dots per inch. The two develop-
ment engineers could not get this idea out of
their mind. They made a connection with the
way coffee percolators worked and tried heat-
ing up the ink. The result was a controlled

The Ford Motor Company was in a sorry
state in 1980 when Donald E. Petersen took
over as President. Sales were down and
Ford was losing market share at a rapid rate.
One of the major factors leading to the de-
cline was the design policy consisting of a
set of strict and complicated design rules
that severely hampered creativity. Petersen
replaced the rigid set of rules with a ten-
word target for the Design Centre :

“Design something that you would be
proud to park in your driveway.”

xcited
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T R AV E L  A N D  L E I S U R E
KOTA  K I N A B A L U

Set between lush tropical hills
fronting emerald green waters,
Kota Kinabalu or KK as it is
popularly known, is the vibrant

and exciting international gateway to the
state of Sabah in East Malaysia. These
traits make KK the ideal holiday destina-
tion for visitors attracted and impressed by
the stark contrast between the old and new,
the diversity of cultures, mutual ethnic tol-
erance and the warm hospitality of the lo-
cals.

Called, Jesselton (so-named after Sir
Charles Jessel, an official of the British
North Borneo Chartered Company) be-
fore gaining independence in 1963, KK was
renamed in reverence to Mount Kinabalu,
the highest peak in Southeast Asia which
is located about 100km away.

As a result of rapid development in the
construction industry, KK now boasts of
several large infrastructural developments.
Once a small British settlement established
circa 1899, KK is now the state capital. It is
the centre of administration, commerce,
culture and education with a multi-ethnic
population of over 200,000 people.

Even though most of KK’s buildings are
modern and new, the State Capital has re-
tained its old shophouses at Gaya Street,
formerly known as Bond Street in the co-
lonial days. Rebuilt in 1951 after being de-
stroyed in the Second World War, these
well-maintained shophouses are well-
known for their restaurants, Chinese
medicine and sundry shops. The high-
light of the week happens every Sunday
when the street is closed to traffic for the

Gaya Street Fair where locals and visitors
can enjoy the interesting sights and
sounds while shopping for bargains at
competitive prices. The Sabah Tourism
Building on Gaya Street holds much his-
torical value as a colonial legacy. For those
seeking a sense of nostalgia of KK’s past,
dine at The Jesselton Hotel on Gaya Street
— KK’s oldest hotel.

A must see is the Australia Place, a short
stretch of road that includes several his-
torical sites such as the Dewan Merdeka
and the KK Police Station which in the early
days was a colonial hotel patronised by
British colonial settlers. From Australia
Place, visitors can stroll to Atkinson Clock
Tower at Bukit Brace which was built as a
memorial in 1902 by the mother of KK’s
(then Jesselton) first District Of ficer,
Francis George Atkinson. It is now a gov-
ernment reserve and is under the purview
of the Sabah Museum. Bukit Brace is also
significant for being the original site of
Radio Sabah.

Visitors keen to have a panoramic view
of KK town, its outskirts and the nearby
islands should visit the Signal Hill Ob-
servatory. From there, a short drive away

“

Flocking to the Land
Below the Wind

Sapi Island, one of five idyllic
island paradises

With the impending Regional Accounting Conference on 13

to 15 November2000 in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, it will be

interesting to find out how you can work and enjoy

yourselves in this captivating city that has lured travellers

around the globe.
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is the Istana Negeri on Bukit
Nanas, the official residence of
the Chief Minister of Sabah.
KK’s Padang Merdeka (town
field) has been the site for nu-
merous historical and impor-
tant events such as the Procla-
mation of Malaysia, National
Day celebrations and Sabah
Fest. Adjacent to Padang
Merdeka is KK’s historic 90-
year-old Sports Club.

Minutes away by boat from
KK is the Tunku Abdul Rahman
Marine Park which covers an
area approximately 89 square
kilometres. Five idyllic islands
within this park, namely Gaya,
Mamutik, Manukan, Sapi and
Sulug, beckon visitors to swim, snorkel or
just relax in the warm, friendly environ-
ment teeming with exotic and colourful
marine life — coral reef, fish and turtles.
Accommodation facilities are available on
Manukan and Mamutik Islands.

The Sabah Foundation Building, a 30-sto-
rey tower block at Likas Bay, is among the
few buildings in the world that utilises the
single column structure. The Chief Minis-
ter’s Department is housed in this build-
ing. Another fascinating attraction is the
Sabah Museum designed in traditional
Sabah architecture. Here, visitors can ap-
preciate the exhibits on Sabah’s
historic development, its Sci-
ence Centre showcasing
Sabah’s oil and gas industry and
the Sabah Art Gallery which
displays the artistic works of
some of Sabah’s foremost tal-
ents. On the grounds of the mu-
seum, one can see five life-size
replicas of Sabah’s traditional
ethnic community houses and
a nursery of native medicinal
plants.

Eight kilometres from KK is
the Prince Philip Park  at
Tanjung Aru Beach. The Park
was named in honour of the consort of
Queen Elizabeth II, while Tanjung Aru de-
rived its name from the abundance of Aru
(Casuarina) trees along the beach. Here,
visitors can enjoy the marvellous view of
the nearby islands and catch the sunset.

A tour around the island is not complete

without a visit to the Monsopiad Cultural
Village, which bears the name of the leg-
endar y warrior from the indigenous
Kadazandusun tribe. Within the village is
the House of Skulls with its 42 ancient hu-
man skulls, traditional hand-crafted build-
ings, a paddy field and a hanging bridge
that collectively showcase the rich cultural
heritage of the Kadazandusun.

The State Government has erected sev-
eral memorials in remembrance of its war
heroes and also a tragic plane crash. Lo-
cated within the town is the War Memorial
that commemorates the victims of both the

World Wars and the Confrontation in the
mid-1960s. The Petaga War Memorial Gar-
den, meanwhile, is a tribute to Sabah’s free-
dom fighters under Albert Kwok who re-
sisted the occupying Japanese Army in the
ill-fated Double Tenth Uprising. The Dou-
ble Six Memorial at Sembulan was erected

on the site of the tragic plane crash in June
1976 that claimed the lives of senior gov-
ernment ministers and officials including
the then Chief Minister, the late Tun Fuad
Muhammad Stephens.

With a thriving economy coupled with a
rich cultural and historical heritage, KK is
the ideal destination for relaxation. As the
gateway to Sabah, KK of fers its warm
friendly hospitality to all visitors with the
promise of boundless opportunities for
thrills and pleasures.

Come and visit this beautiful state dur-
ing the Regional Accountants Conference

2000 this November. Yes, this
time around KK has been cho-
sen to host this prestigious
conference that brings to-
gether the foremost minds in
the Malaysian accounting pro-
fession. With the theme E-
valuation, Emerging Chal-
lenges in the New Digital Fron-
tiers, the conference will ad-
dress the challenges and is-
sues per taining to account-
ants in the new digital era.
Early Conference Registra-
tion Discounts are available
until 30 September 2000. For

more information, please mail, fax or call
the conference organising committee,
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (Sabah
Branch) at Lot 6, 2nd Floor, Block A,
Damai Point, 88300, Kota Kinabalu. Tel :
088-261291/0, fax :  088-261290, e-mail :
miakku@po.jaring.my

The traditional Sumazau Dance performed by a
Kadazandusun dance troupe

Monsopiad Cultural Village, a
must-see attraction in KK
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The feeling of anticipation and trepi-
dation overcast the JW Marriott
Hotel Ballroom on the evening of 4

August 2000. We were all wondering if our
Guest of Honour, Dato’ Hanifah Noordin
would arrive on time in view of the road
closure for the 1st Mega Sale Carnival at
Bintang Walk the next day.

Somehow, the gala-like evening was
laced with a happy atmosphere from be-
ginning until the end of the farewell din-
ner hosted by the Malaysian In-
stitute of Accountants (MIA) for
immediate past president Dato’
Hanifah. The function was the
Institute’s way of thanking Dato’
Hanifah who, over the past 13
years as the President, had pro-
pelled the Institute from its dor-
mant status to become a func-
tional regulatory body serving
the needs of accounting profes-
sionals in Malaysia.

Also present at the event was
the Institute’s new President,
Dato’ Syed Amin Aljeffri, Audi-
tor-General, Dato’ Dr. Hadenan
Abdul Jalil, MIA Vice President,
Soon Kwai Choy, President of
the Federation of Public Listed
Companies and the Malaysian Institute of
Corporate Governance, Dato’ Megat
Najmuddin Megat Khas, MIA  Council
members, branch representatives and Insti-
tute staff.

After the fanfare,
Dato’ Syed Amin
began the night’s
events with his
short address ex-
pressing gratitude
to Dato’ Hanifah for
taking over the
reigns of the then
‘lifeless’ Institute in
1987. He was im-
pressed with Dato
Hanifah’s persever-
ance and commit-
ment in steering

Au Re-voir Shimmering Knight
the Institute through some rough patches;
ultimately establishing it as the national
accounting body. Dato’ Syed Amin said that
he was most moved by Dato’ Hanifah’s
steadfast commitment to the profession
and would continue on from where Dato’
Hanifah had left off and do his best to up-
hold the Institute’s good standing

For a moment, everyone was expecting
Dato’ Syed to break into song when he lik-
ened the lyrics of the song “Greatest Love

of All”, popularised by Whitney Houston, to
Dato’ Hanifah’s steadfast love for the pro-
fession. However, much to the disappoint-
ment of many, he merely recited the words.

What a night ... Good food, great entertainmant and a well managed event.

As dinner commenced, the lights dimmed
for the next event; live entertainment from
up and coming Sarawakian vocal power-
house Deja Moss. The petite lass will cer-
tainly be the next budding singer in the lo-
cal music industry to look out for. As she
demonstrated her vocal prowess complete
with lithe dance steps, she proved her show-
manship and professionalism. She kept the
audience entertained with her lively rendi-
tion of both international and local favour-

ites, thrilling them further with
a track from her newly released
self-titled debut album, ‘Deja
Moss’. Northern Branch Chair-
man, Neoh Chin Wah certainly
decided to move with the groove
when Deja invited him to do the
‘Conga’ with her on stage.

Next, came the highlight of
the evening, a touching but
light-hearted Speech Reading
for the evening. A citation per-
sonally written and delivered by
Soon with the help of visual de-
light kept the audience inter-
ested. They were in stitches at
one point, as in one slide, Dato’
Hanifah’s por trait appeared
alongside the likes of current

Bollywood heart-throbs, Shah Rukh Khan
and Salman Khan, confirming popular be-
lief that his looks and popularity were com-
parable to these screen idols.

Soon’s citation re-
capped the many ac-
complishments of
Dato’ Hanifah dur-
ing his tenure as
President of MIA,
firmly entrenching
him as the moving
force behind the
resurrection and re-
surgence of the In-
stitute in 1987. His
dynamism and vi-
sion were evident in
the many activities
and projects that he

The man of the night, Dato’ Hanifah Noordin (right)
receiving a warm welcome from Dato’ Syed Amin Aljeffri
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had started. Under his
stewardship, the Insti-
tute; regularly submitted
Memorandas to the Gov-
ernment reflecting its
stand and viewpoints on
current issues, started
the Akauntan Nasional
— a monthly publication
that keeps members in-
formed about the up-
dates in the accounting
profession, sponsored
the formation of the
Malaysian Institute of
Taxation and the
Malaysian Association of
Accounting Administra-
tors, and purchased the
current Institute build-
ing, Dewan Akauntan
without burdening the
Government. As Dato’
Hanifah concluded his
reign as President, the
MIA had a registered
membership in excess of
14,000 people.

This was followed by
the “Hall of Fame”; a
multimedia presentation
conceived, organised
and produced by the In-
stitute’s IT Department for this special oc-
casion. It detailed Dato’ Hanifah’s achieve-
ments as a saviour, colleague, leader and a
friend. The audience remained captivated
by the string of multicoloured images of the
past 13 years flashing up on the large
screen. Some were seen craning their necks
to see if their moments of triumph were also
captured alongside Dato’ Hanifah on screen.

Before the appreciative audience could
savour the next item on the dinner menu,
Institute staff Jamilah Jamal delivered a
wonderfully penned ‘sajak’ with the help
of Rodziah Akil who wrote the sajak “Bagai
Sebuah Cermin, Engkau” (You are like a
Mirror). The night of ‘sajaks’ continued
with East Coast Branch Chairman, Wong
Seng Chong taking to the stage with his
composition “In appreciation” that dripped

This was followed by
sniggers all around from
the ‘veteran staff’.

Composing himself,
he went on to express
his gratitude to the Insti-
tute for organising the
night’s dinner. He said
that the time had come
for him to pass the reins
on to someone else as he
had served the Institute
as President for a very
long time. He was confi-
dent that his successor,
Dato’ Syed Amin, was
the right man to take the
Institute even further.
However, he would be
happy to offer his assist-
ance to the Institute in
whatever way he could,
if requested to do so.

For those of us at the
Institute who had served
under Dato’ Hanifah’s
leadership, we will al-
ways remember him in
our individual ways.
While some remember
him as the ‘man of few
words, pious and melan-
cholic’, others saw him as

the ‘vibrant boss with a cheeky and mischie-
vous grin’. As Dato’ Syed Amin correctly
pointed out in his speech, the chorus of the
popular Whitney Houston number, “Great-
est Love of All”, aptly personifies Dato’
Hanifah’s demeanour. The Malaysian Insti-
tute of Accountants bids him farewell with
this chorus :

...I decided long ago,
never to walk in anyone’s shadow
If I fail, if I succeed
At least I’ll live, as I believe
No matter what they take from me
They can’t take away my dignity...

Thank you Dato’ for your 13 years of
guidance. You have given us the distinc-
tion of being guided by you.

Dato’ Hanifah (right) unveils his portrait. Looking on from (left) Soon Kwai Choy
and Dato’ Syed Amin Aljeffri

with accolades to Dato’ Hanifah. For the
record, a compilation of the “Hall of Fame”
presentation, the poem entitled “In appre-
ciation” and the sajak “Bagai Sebuah
Cermin, Engkau” was burnt onto a special
CD by the Institute’s IT Department, and
a copy of it was presented to Dato’ Hanifah
for his rememberance.

Finally, amidst the applause, the man of
the hour, Dato’ Hanifah Noordin took to
the stage to receive a token of apprecia-
tion from Dato’ Syed Amin who, on behalf
of the Institute, presented him with a hand-
painted portrait of Dato’ Hanifah. Clearly
moved by the sequence of events that
evening, Dato’ Hanifah appeared momen-
tarily speechless when asked to say a few
words. In jest, he commented that he used
to have his speeches prepared for him.

Dato’ Hanifah’s ‘bollywood pose’ graces the cover of the special
edition CD produced by the Institute’s IT Department.
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tion the growing reluctance on the part of
manufacturers to take part in the Pesta.
The need to address the problems faced
by the manufacturers was important as the
Pesta was an important contributor to the
state’s tourism industry, drawing hundreds
of foreign tourists and visitors from neigh-
bouring states each year. Also discussed

One for the album; YB Leong Ah Hin (centre) flanked by the Northern
Branch Committee. On his left is Branch Chairman Neoh Chin Wah.

Northern Branch Pays Courtesy Call on
Penang State Financial Officer

The Northern Branch
MIA committee, led

by Branch Chairman
Neoh Chin Wah re-
cently called on YB
Leong Ah Hin, the
newly appointed Penang
State Financial Officer.
Leong held a meeting
with the delegation and
briefed them on the
functions of the State Fi-
nancial Of fice. He in-
vited the delegates to
submit their proposals
on ways to improve busi-
ness procedures in or-
der to propel the state into the forefront of
the national economic agenda.

Also discussed at the meeting was the
need to upgrade the grounds of Pesta Pulau
Pinang, an annual affair in the island state.
Branch Vice-Chairman Datuk Y.H. Tan
who was previously in the Pesta Organis-
ing Committee brought to Leong’s atten-

The Northern Branch Secretariat has re-
located to a new and bigger premise at

Menara Penang Garden, Jalan Sultan
Ahmad Shah in Penang. The new office is
equipped with a conference room, library
and a reading room. MIA
President, Y Bhg Datuk
Syed Amin Aljeffri, offi-
ciated at the opening cer-
emony of the new office
on 6 August 2000.

In his speech, Datuk
Syed called on all ac-
countants to beware of
the challenges to the
profession. “Our do-
main is now being en-
croached by those who
are not trained as ac-
countants; yet they are

MIA President Officiates New Office for Northern Branch
called on accountants to constantly update
their knowledge and embrace the era of
K-economy to keep ahead.

With the relocation, the branch commit-
tee and sub-committee meetings, the MIA

(Nor ther n Branch)
Toastmasters Club
meetings and member
induction courses can
be held in relative com-
fort at the Branch office.
Monthly evening talks
are also scheduled to be
held every third Thurs-
day. Members are wel-
come to rent the confer-
ence room for meetings
or in-house training.
Rental is at RM100 for
half a day.

Branch Chairman Neoh Chin Wah (left)
chairs the first committee meeting at the new office

Tan conferred Dato’ship

was the controversial is-
sue relating to the State’s
recent repeal of the Rent
Control Act.

Heartiest congratulations to Dato’ Tan
who was recently conferred the Darjah
Setia Pangkuan Negeri (D.S.P.N), which
carries the title Dato’, on the occasion of
the Yang Dipertua Negeri Pulau Pinang,
Tuan Yang Terutama Datuk Seri Dr. Haji
Hamdan bin Sheikh Tahir’s 79th birth-
day.

able to offer services once considered the
privilege of our profession”, he said, add-
ing that the time had come to consider
forming strategic alliances with these
groups in order to remain competitive. He
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tax complied with Section 103A of the In-
come Tax Act before submitting their
Form 204.

He congratulated the Malaysian Insti-
tute of Engineers for playing its role in
bringing to its members the latest
changes to the Income Tax Laws. This
being the first such joint seminar with the
IRB in Melaka, he expressed hope that the
Branch could work together with the IRB
in having more such seminars for the ben-
efit of the public.

Viknesvaran (3rd from the right) with the officers of the Melaka IRB, committee
members of the Malaysian Institute of Engineers and Branch Committee members

Participants raising questions at the seminar. In the foreground are, from left :
Lim Lay Hong, Viknesvaran and Ramadas
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Negeri Sembilan and Melaka Branch Organises
Seminar on Self-assessment System

The Negeri Sembilan and Melaka
Branch together with the Melaka In-

land Revenue Board (IRB) recently organ-
ised a seminar on Self-assessment System
for members of the Malaysian Institute of
Engineers and their clients. Forty-five par-
ticipants comprising mainly engineers, ar-
chitects, surveyors, contractors and prop-
erty developers attended the one-day semi-
nar held at a leading hotel in Melaka. Lead-
ing the three-man team from IRB was Mr.
Ramadas while the Branch team was
headed by its Chairman, A. Viknesvaran.

The IRB pointed out that taxpayers
must be fully aware of the latest develop-
ments in the tax laws governing the Self-
assessment System. This included the
various requirements and compliance
under Section 90, 103A and 107C of the
Income Tax Amendment Act governing
self-assessment.

Viknesvaran briefed the participants on
the submission of Form 204 under Section
107C. He explained the need for taxpayers
to estimate their chargeable income cor-
rectly and to ensure that the payment of

The Southern Branch held its Quar-
terly Members’ Gathering on 11

June, at the Grand Bluewave Hotel,
Johor Bahru. Institute President, Datuk
Syed Amin Aljeffri, was present at the
function together with Vice President
Soon Kwai Choy, Chief Operating Of-
ficer V. Jegatheesan and Secretary to
the Public Practice Board Johnny Yong.
Over 70 Branch members who at-
tended the gathering took this oppor-
tunity to get acquainted with and ex-
change views with the President. Other
invited guests include Tan Boen Eng,
President of the Institute of Certified
Public Accountants of Singapore
(ICPAS) who is also President of the
Asean Federation of Accountants and
members of the ICPAS council.

In conjunction with the event, a talk
on “Setting up in Practice” was given
by Branch Chairman Tony Seah.
Members were also given a preview
of the MIA’s homepage and the devel-
opments at the Institute. Datuk Syed
Amin later gave away Certificates of
Membership to newly admitted mem-
bers of the Institute.

Southern Branch

Members
Gathering
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The Sarawak Branch was re-
cently invited by INTI Col-

lege, Kuching to give a talk to its
students currently pursuing the
2+1 accounting programme. The
80 students on this programme
were enlightened on the proce-
dures to become MIA members.
Sarawak Branch Education Com-
mittee member, Monica Wong
was on hand to give a personal
insight into her career experi-
ences and to highlight the vari-
ous demands of the profession.
In Sibu, Sarawak Education Committee
Chairman, Simon Tan and Branch Manager,
Lucy Read conducted similar career talks to
35 Kolej Damansara Utama students and 350
students from SM Methodist Pilley. Simon
Tan also briefed 40 SMB Kuching High
School students on job opportunities for ac-
countants during their visit to the Branch
office recently. He encouraged the students,
who were mostly sitting for their SPM this
year, to pursue a career in accountancy as
the prospects were good for this profession.

Meanwhile, Sabah Branch recently played
host to students from SMK Maktab Sabah
and Universiti Malaysia Sabah during one of
its career guidance talks. Sabah Branch
Chairman Michael Tong and committee
member Chua Soon Lan were on hand to
receive the students and enlighten them on

East Malaysia Branches Promote Accountancy

Branch Manager, Lucy Read briefs SMK Maktab Sabah
students at the Branch office

Branch Visit to INTI College, Kuching. Front row (R to L) G Lee (INTI staff),
Monica Wong, Simon Tan, Natalie Kong (INTI staff) and Lucy Read

Datuk Syed Amin Aljeffri, President of MIA together with coun-
cil members will be holding dialogue sessions with Branch

members in the month of September. Newly admitted members
will be presented with MIA Certificates after the dialogue ses-

SABAH AND SARAWAK BRANCH MEMBERS’ DIALOGUE

ways to prepare job applications
and handle job interviews. The
Sabah Branch also participated
in a Career Guidance Session or-
ganised by the Sabah Rotary
Club. Staff, Freda Fung and
Shirley Lee together with MIA
members, Francis Hii and Chia
Siew Chin, were on hand to han-
dle public enquiries. Other par-
ticipants at the session included
representatives from the archi-
tecture, engineering and law
professional bodies.

sions. Please contact the Branch offices or the following contact
persons to register your attendance. Please note that participat-
ing members will be awarded two CPD points.

DIALOGUE SESSIONS

Date     Time Venue Contact Person Tel No.

  9 September   1.30 pm Sabah Branch Office Shirley 088-261 291

10 September  11.00 pm Marco Polo Hotel, Tawau Ho Yung Kong 089-757 515

18 September   1.30 pm Merdeka Palace, Kuching Hajijah 082-418 427

18 September   7.00 pm Tanahmas, Sibu Ling Ming Leh 084-338 308

19 September   6.00 pm Holiday Inn, Miri Matthew Wong 085-413 179



September 2000Akauntan Nasional

I
FAC has released its first International
Standard on Assurance Engagements
(ISAE) to assist the world’s accountants

in meeting the increasing demand for pro-
viding assurance on an expanding range
of information. The new standard, devel-
oped by IFAC’s International Auditing
Standards Committee (IAPC), reflects the
input of the world’s accountants and the

IFAC Releases Assurance Services Framework

leadership of those organisations that work
with, represent, and rely on accountants’
work.

The project has been a complex one for
IAPC, and the standard issued today rep-
resents the first part of the project’s out-
put. It sets out guidance for professional
accountants and standards for practition-
ers providing a broad range of assurance

services.
The standard makes clear that it should

be applied where no specific standards
exist for assurance engagements or where
there is a lack of guidance for engagements
requiring a high level of assurance. Where
national standards do exist, those stand-
ards are to be followed.

“With increasing frequency, manage-
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New International Public Sector Accounting Standards
Released for Comment

B
uilding on the momentum of the

recently released first set of final

International Public Sector Ac-

counting Standards (IPSASs), the Interna-

tional Federation of Accountants (IFAC)

Public Sector Committee (PSC) has re-

leased for comment six new exposure

drafts and an invitation to comment (ITC).

The exposure drafts and ITC are another

key step in the PSC’s efforts to develop a

comprehensive body of international ac-

counting standards for governments

around the world.

Titles of the exposure drafts and com-

ment deadlines are as follows :

n ED 10, Revenue from Exchange Transac-

tions — Proposes requirements for the

accounting treatment of revenue arising

from exchange transactions and ad-

dresses the issue of revenue recognition

for these transactions. Comment dead-

line :  30 November 2000.

n ED 11, Inventories — Proposes the ac-

counting treatment for inventories under

the historical cost system. Comment

deadline :  30 November 2000.

n ED 12, Construction Contracts — Pro-

poses requirements for the accounting

treatment of revenue and costs associ-

ated with construction contracts. Com-

ment deadline :  30 November 2000.

n ED 13, Financial Reporting in Hyper-

inflationary Economies — Proposes re-

quirements for financial reporting under

conditions of hyperinflation. Comment

deadline :  30 November 2000.

n ED 14, Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proposes the accounting treatment for

property, plant and equipment, including

the timing of their initial recognition, and

the determination of their ongoing car-

rying amounts and related depreciation.

Comment deadline :  30 January 2001.

n ED 15, Leases — Proposes requirements

for the accounting treatment of leasing

transactions. Comment deadline :  30

January 2001.

In addition to these exposure drafts the

PSC is also publishing an ITC on Impair-

ment of Assets. The purpose of the ITC is

to seek comments on the appropriate ac-

counting treatment for the impairment of

assets. It reflects the tentative position of

the PSC that an impairment test should be

applied to all assets. The comment dead-

line for the ITC is 30 January 2001.

“The ultimate goal of the public sector

accounting standards issued by the Public

Sector Committee is to improve the finan-

cial reporting of governments and their

agencies. It is our firm belief that by devel-

oping and promoting the use of a compre-

hensive set of public sector accounting

standards, IFAC can contribute to financial

management in the public sector, enhance

the accountability of governments, and

support social and economic reforms, par-

ticularly in countries that lack structured

public sector accounting systems,” com-

ments Ian Ball, outgoing PSC Chairman.

Ian Mackintosh, the incoming PSC Chair-

man, explained that these exposure drafts

together with the recently released first set

of International Public Sector Accounting

Standards had been developed while the

PSC had been chaired by Ian Ball. Ian

Mackintosh acknowledged the major con-

tribution that Ian Ball had made to the work

of the PSC, particularly in respect of the

initiation and development of the public

sector standards project.

All six exposure drafts and the ITC

are posted on the IFAC website (http:/

/www.ifac.org). Comments may be sub-

mitted to EDComments@ifac.org or

faxed to the IFAC Secretariat (1-212-286-

9570). Visitors to IFACs website may

also download International Public Sec-

tor Accounting Standards (IPSAS’s) 1-

8, exposure draft ED 9, Financial Re-

porting Under the Cash Basis of Account-

ing and Study 11, Governmental Finan-

cial Reporting :  Accounting Issues and

Practices.
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IFAC Releases New Auditing Standard on
External Confirmations

I
FAC has issued a new International

Standard on Auditing (ISA) to provide

guidance on the auditors’ use of exter-

nal confirmations as a means of obtaining

audit evidence. Developed by IFAC’s Inter-

national Auditing Practices Committee

(IAPC), the new standard defines the ex-

ternal confirmation process and the situa-

tions under which it should be used.

External confirmations are frequently

used in relation to account balances and

their components, but they need not be re-

stricted to these items. For example, the

auditor may request external confirmation

of the terms of agreement or transactions

of an entity with third parties.

Corporate Governance in the
Public Sector Subject of New IFAC Study

I
FAC’s Public Sector Committee has re-

leased for comment a new study di-

rected at improving governance by

public sector entities. Entitled, Corporate

Governance in the Public Sector :  A Gov-

erning Body Perspective, the study provides

an overview of accountability arrange-

ments in the public sector, discusses vari-

ous aspects of corporate governance and

includes a corporate governance checklist

for governing bodies.

Governance is concerned with struc-

tures and processes for decision-making,

accountability, control and behaviour at the

top of organisations. For purposes of this

study, the term ‘corporate’ in corporate

governance has a broad application to all

public sector entities.

“Public sector entities do not operate

within a common legislative framework or

have a standard organisational shape or

size. Because of the diversity of the public

sector and the different models of govern-

ance that apply in different countries, it was

not possible to develop one framework and

one set of recommendations of corporate

governance that would be applicable to all

public sector entities,” emphasises Ian

Mackintosh, PSC chairman. “Thus, the

study aims to provide guidance by defin-

ing common principles and recommenda-

tions concerning the governance of public

sector entities.”

The new standard extends IAPC’s exist-

ing guidance on confirmation of accounts

receivable to all types of external confirma-

tions, provides greater guidance on the de-

sign and process of obtaining external con-

firmations, and gives more guidance on how

the auditor should respond to confirmations

requests where no reply is received.

“It is important for the world’s auditors

to understand the extent to which audit evi-

dence is needed to support financial state-

ment assertions,” explains Robert Roussey,

IAPC chairman. “This ISA provides guid-

ance on this by pointing out that in making

their determinations, auditors should con-

sider materiality, the assessed level of in-

herent and control risk, and how the evi-

dence and other planned audit procedures

will reduce audit risk to an acceptable level.”

External Confirmations also outlines

how auditors should respond to certain

management requests, how to evaluate the

results of the confirmation process, and the

use of positive and negative confirmations.

This new ISA is effective for audits of fi-

nancial statements for periods ending on

or after 31 December 2001. It may be

downloaded for a fee of US$22 through the

IFAC bookstore. It is also available as part

of IFAC’s online auditing subscription serv-

ice. Printed versions were available since

July.

ment and others are relying on account-
ants’ assurance services to enhance the
credibility of information that they con-
sider in their decision-making. Bench-
mark standards are vital to ensuring that
accountants approach assurance engage-
ments with the same level of objectivity
as they approach other more traditional
engagements,” states Robert Roussey,
who chaired the IAPC for five years and

led the development of this new guid-
ance.

The new standard is effective for reports
dated on or after 31 December 2001, with
earlier application encouraged. An explana-
tory memorandum, providing the history
and rationale of the new guidance, accom-
panies the standard. Both documents are
available online through the IFAC book-
store for a fee of US$22. They are also avail-

able as part of IFAC’s online auditing sub-
scription service. Printed versions were
available since July.

IAPC, which is responsible for the de-
velopment of worldwide standards on au-
diting and related services, plans to con-
duct further research into the issues sur-
rounding the moderate level of assurance
and the ways in which that level of assur-
ance can be expressed.
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Background
The Public Sector Committee (PSC) was

given the authority on behalf of the Inter-
national Federation of Accounts Council to
issue pronouncements on accounting, au-
diting and reporting in the public sector.
The PSC recently announced the publica-
tion of IPSASs 1-8 representing the first
series of accrual accounting standards for
governments with the objective of achiev-
ing transparency, consistency, guidance
and acceptance by various parties. The
need for the standards was established due
to the lack of standards applicable for pub-
lic sector reporting. It is supported by or-
ganisations including the World Bank,
Asian Development Bank, the Interna-
tional Monetary Fund and the United Na-
tions Development Program.

The eight IPSAS are :

IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements.

IPSAS 2 Cash Flow Statements.

IPSAS 3 Net Surplus or Deficit for
the Period, Fundamental
Errors, and Changes in
Accounting Policies.

IPSAS 4 The Effect of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates.

IPSAS 5 Borrowing Costs.

IPSAS 6 Consolidated Financial
Statements and Accounting
for Controlled Entities.

IPSAS 7 Accounting for Investments
in Associates.

IPSAS 8 Financial Reporting of
Interests in Joint Ventures.

In addition, a Preface to International
Public Sector Accounting Standards was set
out to corroborate the objectives and op-
erating procedures of the IFAC and to ex-
plain the scope and authority of the IPSASs.

The IPSASs are based on the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards (IAS) with
few differences as set out in the following
table :

International Public Sector Accounting Standard
Presentation of Financial Statements

General Presentation

Requires presentation of a statement showing all changes in net assets/
equity.

Allows presentation of either a statement showing all changes in net as-
sets/equity, or a statement showing changes in net assets/equity other
than those arising from capital transactions with owners and distributions
to owners in the capacity as ‘owners’.

Differing Terminology

IPSAS

Entity
Revenue
Statement of financial performance
Statement of financial position
Net assets/equity

‘Extraordinary Item’

Definition includes additional criterion, namely, that the items be ‘out-
side the control or influence of the entity’ (Para 6).

Transitional Provision

Allows non-disclosure of items which have been excluded from the finan-
cial statements.

Cash Flow Statements

General Presentation

Allows either the direct or indirect method to be used to present cash
flows from operating activities. Where the direct method is used to present
cash flows from operating activities, IPSAS encourages disclosure of a
reconciliation of net surplus from ordinary activities to operating cash
flows in the notes to the financial statements (para 29) .

Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

Requires exchange differences arising from a severe devaluation or de-
preciation of a currency under certain circumstances to be capitalised in
the related asset.

Contains additional requirement that such capitalisation cannot exceed
the lower of the replacement cost and recoverable amount of the asset.

Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for Controlled
Entities

Includes transitional provision that permits entities to not eliminate all
balances and transactions between entities within the economic entity for
the reporting periods beginning on a date within three years following
the date of first adoption of this Standard.

Accounting for Investments in Associates

Ownership

Applies to all investments in associates where the investor holds an own-
ership interest in the associate in the form of a shareholding or other
formal equity structure.

Does not contain similar ownership requirements. Unlikely that equity
accounting could be applied unless the associate had a formal or other
reliably measurable equity structure.

Financial Reporting of Interest in Joint Ventures

Contractual agreement replaced by binding agreement.

STANDARD

ISSUE

IPSAS

IAS

ISSUE

ISSUE

IPSAS

ISSUE

IPSAS

STANDARD

ISSUE

IPSAS

STANDARD

IPSAS

IAS

STANDARD

IPSAS

STANDARD

ISSUE

IPSAS

IAS

STANDARD

IPSAS

IAS

Enterprise
Income
Income statement
Balance sheet
Equity

I A S C
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T
he Staf f of the International Ac-
counting Standards Committee
(IASC) on 20 July 2000 published a

Discussion Paper entitled Accounting for
Share-based Payment. This Discussion Pa-
per results from efforts of a Working Group
consisting of board members and senior
staff of the standard-setting bodies of Aus-
tralia, Canada, New Zealand, the UK, the
US and the International Accounting Stand-
ards Committee. Whilst members of the
Working Group represented the standard-
setting bodies to which they were affiliated,
the views they expressed were their own
and had not necessarily been officially de-
liberated by the bodies themselves.

The main proposals in this Paper are :

n A transaction whereby an entity obtains
goods and services from other parties,
including employees and suppliers, with
payment taking the form of shares or
share options issued by the entity to
those other parties, should be recog-
nised in the financial statements, with a
corresponding charge to the income
statement when those goods or services
are consumed;

n Such a transaction should be measured
at the fair value of the shares or options
issued. In most cases, an option-pricing
model should be applied to establish the

IASC Publishes G4+1 Position Paper on
Accounting for Share-based Payment

fair value of an option;

n Vesting date is the appropriate measure-
ment date, i.e. the date at which the fair
value of the shares or options issued
should be established, for the purposes
of measuring the transaction amount.
Vesting date is the date upon which the
other party (the employee or supplier),
having performed all of the services or
provided all of the goods necessary, be-
comes unconditionally entitled to the
options or shares; and

n Where performance by the other party
occurs between grant date, being the
date upon which the contract between
the entity and the other party (the em-
ployee or supplier) is entered into, and
vesting date, an estimate of the transac-
tion amount should be accrued over the
performance period.

Other issues discussed include the treat-
ment of lapsed options, options that are
repriced or otherwise modified, employee
share plans with cash alternatives and
share appreciation rights.

Sir Bryan Carsberg, IASC Secretary-
General, welcomed the publication of the
Discussion Paper, noting that :  “account-
ing for share-based payments is an area of
increasing importance internationally. As
more enterprises enter public ownership,

the existence of (and thus the need for
appropriate accounting for) share-based
payments is growing rapidly. In responses
to the United States Securities and Ex-
change Commission’s Concept Release on
International Standards, this topic was one
of the most often mentioned areas where
IASC standards are needed. The US has
had accounting standards in place for a
number of years, but their most recent
standard, Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards No.123 — Accounting for
Stock-based Compensation, was extremely
controversial. This Position Paper draws
on the US experience as well as recent
developments in other countries, and
should aid the convergence of accounting
standards for share-based payments. The
comments received will be of great value
to the new IASC Board who will have the
responsibility of developing accounting
standards in this area.”

All the organisations that participate in
the G4+1 have agreed to publish the Posi-
tion Paper in their own jurisdictions. They
will consider, in the light of comments re-
ceived in response to the Position Paper,
whether its proposals should form a basis
for developing new accounting standards.

Comments on the Discussion Paper are
invited by 31 October 2000 to IASC’s e-mail
address :  commentletters@iasc.org.uk

IASC’s Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC)
Issues Five Interpretations

T
he Standard Interpretations Com-
mittee (SIC) on 11 July 2000 pub-
lished five new Interpretations to

clarify accounting issues under Interna-
tional Accounting Standards. The Interpre-
tations are :

n SIC-20, Equity Accounting Method
— Recognition of Losses.

n SIC-21, Income Taxes — Recovery

of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets.

n SIC-22, Business Combinations —
Subsequent Adjustment of Fair Val-
ues and Goodwill Initially Reported.

n SIC-23, Property, Plant and Equip-
ment — Major Inspection or Over-
haul Costs.

n SIC-25, Income Taxes — Changes in

the Tax Status of an Enterprise or
its Shareholders.

Commenting on the new Interpretations,
Paul Cherry, SIC Chairman, said : “These
five interpretations provide guidance on a
wide range of interpretative points on the
application of International Accounting
Standards.

SIC-20 confirms that in applying the eq-



September 2000Akauntan Nasional

permits the subsequent recognition of
identifiable assets and liabilities that had
not been recognised in the original ac-
counting for an acquisition under the pur-
chase method or adjustment of the
amounts initially assigned to identifiable
assets and liabilities to reflect additional
evidence which has become available.
SIC-22 indicates that the adjustment made
in such circumstances should be calcu-
lated as if the newly assigned values had
been used from the date of the acquisi-
tion. In some cases there will also be an
effect on goodwill or negative goodwill.
The Interpretation also addresses the
presentation and disclosure of such an
adjustment.

SIC-23 confirms that the cost of a major
inspection or overhaul generally should be
expensed as incurred. The exception is

T
he International Accounting Stand-
ards Committee (IASC) on 3 July
2000 published three Exposure

Drafts proposing limited changes to its
existing Standards. The three Exposure
Drafts, — E66, Proposed Limited Revisions
to IAS 39 and Other Related Standards,
E67, Pension Plan Assets, and E68, Income
Tax Consequences of Dividends — are avail-
able on IASC’s Internet website (http://
www.iasc.org.uk). Printed copies of the
three Exposure Drafts will be mailed to
IASC subscribers automatically and addi-
tional copies can be ordered from IASC.

n  E66, Proposed Limited Revisions
to IAS 39 and Other Related Stand-
ards

E66 proposes the following limited revi-
sions to IAS 39, Financial Instruments :
Recognition and Measurement, and other
related Standards :

• Changes to require consistent account-
ing for purchases and sales of financial
assets using either trade date account-
ing or settlement date accounting. IAS
39 currently requires settlement date
accounting for sales of financial assets,
but permits both trade date and settle-

uity method of accounting, the investor
normally stops recording its share of the
continuing losses of an associate once the
carrying amounts of financial interests,
which are accounted for under the equity
method, are reduced to nil.

SIC-21 deals with cases where a non-
depreciable asset is carried at revaluation
under IAS 16. No part of the carr ying
amount of such an asset is considered to
be recovered through its use. Therefore,
SIC concluded that the deferred tax liabil-
ity or asset that arises from revaluation
must be measured based on the tax conse-
quences that would follow from the sale of
the asset rather than through use. In some
jurisdictions, this will result in the use of a
capital gains tax rate rather than the rate
applicable to corporate earnings.

In very limited circumstances, IAS 22

where the enterprise treats the cost of a
major inspection or overhaul as a separate
‘component’ for accounting purposes and
depreciates that component to reflect the
consumption of benefits resulting from the
major inspection or overhaul.

Finally, SIC-25 indicates that because a
change in the tax status of an enterprise
or its shareholders does not give rise to
increases or decreases in the pre-tax
amounts recognised directly in equity, the
current and deferred tax consequences of
the change in tax status should be included
in net profit or loss for the period. How-
ever, where a transaction or event does
result in a direct credit or charge to equity,
for example the revaluation of property,
plant or equipment under IAS 16, the re-
lated tax consequence would still be rec-
ognised directly in equity.”

ment date accounting for purchases;

• Elimination of the requirement in IAS 39
for a lender to recognise certain collat-
eral received from a borrower in its bal-
ance sheet;

• Improvement of the wording on impair-
ment recognition;

• Changes to require consistent account-
ing for temporary investments in equity
securities between IAS 39 and other In-
ternational Accounting Standards; and

• elimination of redundant disclosure re-
quirements for hedges in IAS 32, Finan-
cial Instruments :  Disclosure and Pres-
entation.

Explaining the Exposure Draft, James
Saloman, Technical Director of IASC, said
: “None of the proposed revisions repre-
sents a change to a fundamental principle
in IAS 39. Instead, the purpose of the pro-
posed changes is primarily to address tech-
nical application issues that have been iden-
tified following the approval of IAS 39 in
December 1998. The Board’s assessment
is that the proposed changes will assist
enterprises preparing to implement IAS 39
for the first time in 2001 and help ensure a

consistent application of the Standard. No
further changes to IAS 39 are contem-
plated. It is the Board’s intention to have
the proposed changes to IAS 39 in place
when IAS 39 becomes effective, that is, for
financial years beginning on or after 1 Janu-
ary 2001.”

n E67, Pension Plan Assets
E67, Pension Plan Assets, proposes to

extend the definition of plan assets in IAS
19, Employee Benefits, to cover certain
types of plan whose assets do not satisfy
the current definition. E67 defines plan
assets as assets (other than non-transfer-
able financial instruments issued by the
reporting enterprise) that :

• Are held by an entity (a fund) that is le-
gally separate from the reporting enter-
prise and was established solely to pay
or fund employee benefits; and

• Are available to be used only to pay or
fund employee benefits, are not available
to the enterprise’s own creditors (even in
bankruptcy), and cannot be returned to
the reporting enterprise, unless either :

The remaining assets of the fund are suf-
ficient to meet all the related employee

IASC Publishes Three Exposure Drafts
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In a series of articles on Finance and Management Account-

ing, the Institute has been publishing articles from the Fi-

nance and Management Accounting Committee (FMAC) Inter-

national Federation of Accountants (IFAC) Theme Booklet 1999.

The Institute has also published the Distinguished Contribu-

tion to Management Accounting from the 1999 Articles of Merit

competition.

The Institute selects articles on Finance and Management

Accounting, which are published in the Akauntan Nasional, and

submits them to the FMAC of IFAC. From among similar arti-

cles submitted by other member bodies, those of Merit are se-

lected and published in an annual booklet. The Institute will

continue to publish these in the Akauntan Nasional every

month.

The Institute takes the opportunity to encourage members

in various fields of the profession to submit articles on Finance

and Management Accounting. The term on the FMAC has been

renewed for another two years. The Institute is represented on

the FMAC by Council member, Tay Beng Wah and Council

member Yue Sau Him as Technical Advisor.

The Finance and Management Accounting Committee

(FMAC)intends to form Resource Panels. The Panels will

be headed by a member of the FMAC. Members of the Panel

however, will come from the membership at large. The planned

Panels will cover the fields of banking and economy, public sec-

tor accounting, new technologies and education.

The purpose of the various Panels is to create a knowledge

base and make this available to members. The Panels will also

arrange for articles, activities and talks of discussion groups

on the various subjects.

The FMAC invite members who are specialists or who have

experience in these fields to volunteer themselves to be mem-

bers of these Panels. Your contribution will be of great benefit

to the FMAC and we look forward to your participation to help

make these useful and functional Panels.

If you are interested, please contact Surinder Kaur at :

Dewan Akauntan

2 Jalan Tun Sambanthan 3

Brickfields, 50470 Kuala Lumpur

Tel :  03-2274 5055, Fax : 03-2273 1016

e-mail: surinder@mia.org.my
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benefit obligations of the plan or the re-
porting enterprise; or

The assets are returned to the report-
ing enterprise to reimburse it for paying
employee benefits.

Explaining the proposal, IASC Senior
Research Manager, Peter Clark said : “We
have become aware of certain pension
plans where the employer retains a legal
or constructive obligation to pay directly
but is entitled to receive a refund from the
plan. Where the assets of these plans
qualify as plan assets under the proposals,
the employer will present them netted
against the benefit obligations rather than
gross as a separate asset.”

E67 also proposes recognition and meas-
urement requirements for certain reim-
bursements of employee benefits — for ex-
ample, reimbursements under insurance

policies that an enterprise holds directly
(rather than through a fund) in order to
fund employee benefits. E67 proposes that
an enterprise should recognise its rights
under the policies gross as a separate as-
set, rather than net as a deduction from the
related obligations. In all other respects,
E67 proposes that an enterprise should
treat such reimbursements in the same
way as plan assets.

n  E68, Income Tax Consequences of
Dividends

E68 proposes limited changes to IAS 12,
Income Taxes. James Saloman explained
the purpose of E68 : “In some countries,
previously paid income taxes may be re-
fundable if retained earnings are paid out
as a dividend. In some other countries,
additional income taxes are payable if re-
tained earnings are paid out as a dividend.

This Exposure Draft addresses such in-
come tax consequences of dividends, a
subject that is currently excluded from the
scope of IAS 12.”

E68 proposes that an enterprise should :

• Measure current and deferred tax assets
and liabilities using the tax rate applica-
ble to undistributed profits;

• Recognise the income tax consequences
of dividends when the dividends are rec-
ognised as a liability. In most cases, those
consequences are included in net profit
or loss for the period; and

• Disclose information about the potential
income tax consequences of dividends.

Comments on the three Exposure
Drafts are invited by 10 September
2000 to IASC’s e-mail address:
commentletters@iasc.org.uk

FMAC Articles of MeritFMAC News

FINANCE AND MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING COMMITTEE
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THE CONFERENCE AT A GLANCE

November 7 — Tuesday

6.30am The CAPA Millennium Cup @ Sta. Elena Golf Course

8.00am Registration of Delegates

10.00am Opening of “The IT World Exhibit” @ PICC Delegate

Lounge

10.00am PICPA Accounting Educators Forum

7.00pm “Mabuhay” Welcome Reception @ Manila

November 8 — Wednesday

8,00am Registration of Delegates

8.00am PICPA Accounting Educators Forum

8.00am PICPA Chapter Presidents’ Meeting

8.00am 55th CAPA Excom Meeting

4.00pm “Miss Cantada” @ San Agustin Church Intramuros

6.00pm “Fiestas” Grand Opening Rites @ Puerta Real

November 9 — Thursday

8.00am Technical Sessions @ PICC Plenary Hall

12.00 noon Lunch @ PICC Reception Hall

1.00 noon Technical Sessions @ PICC Plenary Hall

5.00pm Intramuros @ Par

6.00pm Romancing the Tuna @ Baluarte de San Andres

6.00pm “Manila.. Manila!!!”

November 10 — Friday

8.00am Technical Sessions @ PICC Plenary Hall

12.00noon CAPA Assembly of Delegates with Lunch

12.00noon Lunch @ PICC Reception Hall

1.00pm Technical Sessions @ PICC Plenary Hall

4.00pm 56th CAPA Excom Meeting

4.00pm PICPA Awarding Ceremony @ PICC Plenary Hall

7.00pm Closing rites & Handover Ceremony @ Intramuros

8.00pm “Baile de Honor” @ Intramuros

November 11 — Saturday

9.00am “The IT World Exhibit” Hands on workshops

12.00noon Closing of “ The IT World Exhibit”

Go global! Globalisation! The catchword of the
times, everyone and anyone is talking about go-
ing global. Has your business actually reached

global levels? If you think yes, well, think again. Your busi-
ness just isn’t global if you lack a thorough understanding
of the competencies and challenges that affect your busi-
ness. To stay ahead, you need to refocus your work meth-
odologies by equipping yourself with networks and systems
that give you access to limitless opportunities that are just
waiting to be tapped. Remember, nothing is constant and
change is inevitable.

The 15th Confederation of Asian and Pacific Accountants
(CAPA) conference now gives you the opportunity of your
lifetime to arm yourself with invaluable knowledge about
21st century challenges in the new economy. For the sec-
ond time, Manila, Philippines has been chosen to host the
conference which will be held from November 7-11, 2000.
It is also significant to note that Manila is the very place
where the idea of having a CAPA was conceived in 1957
during the First Far East Conference of Accountants.

With the theme, accountancy@newEconomy.2000,
the conference aims to enhance awareness of the complex
demands and new competencies urgently required by a
totally new business landscape where things are done dif-
ferently at a great speed. The conference, which coincides
with the 54th Annual National Convention of the Philippine
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (PICPA), is only
held three times every ten years and will bring together a
host of speakers from around the globe who will share their
insights, views and expectations on what to expect in the
new economy.

Among the topics for discussion that will be of interest
are :

1 A Glimpse of the Future World

2 Value Creation in the New Economy

3 Emerging Trends in Global Financial Management

4 The Accountants and the Internal Auditors Role in Cor-
porate Governance

5 Competencies to Succeed in the New Economy

6 Ethics...a Competitive Edge or a Restrictive Twine? and

7 Cybertaxation

Apart from the technical programmes, there will be an
I.T. World Exhibit that will provide short talks and hands-
on business solutions. The technologies featured will in-
clude state-of-the-art computers and peripherals, softwares
and groupwares, internet tools and services, internet ap-

The 15th CAPA Conference, Awaits You
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plications, multimedia and visual communications and emerging tech-
nologies.

Delegates’ attendance fees start at US$650. Please note that attractive
early bird discounts are available for those who register before 15 Sep-
tember 2000. For detailed information on the conference, kindly contact
telephone : (00632) 723.33-37, 723-0691 to 95, 726-9452&56, 723-6306 or
e-mail: picpa@qinet.net.
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Port of Manila and Manila Bay

Manila, Philippines
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Incorporation
and Aim

The Malaysian Asso-
ciation of Accounting
Administrators (MAAA)
was incorporated in
1990 with limited liabil-
ity under Section 16(4)

of the Companies Act, 1965 in recognition of the
two-tiered nature of the accountancy profession.
MAAA (previously known as Malaysian Associa-
tion of Accounting Technicians) is a company
sponsored by the Malaysian Institute of Account-
ants (MIA).

Main Objectives
• To provide a qualification to be known as Ac-

counting Technicians/Administrators for per-
sons employed on duties customarily under-
taken by assistants to accountants registered
with the MIA.

• To provide an organisation and membership
for such persons who are desirous of acquir-
ing such qualification and persons who are
granted such qualification.

• To promote in the public interest the techni-
cal competence of such persons engaged in
positions and performing the functions of
accounting technicians/administrators.

Council Members (2000/2001 Term)
Elected Members
Izhar Abd Kahar (President)
Koo Yew Fook, Allan (Vice President)
Chin Wah Yin
Hanapi Rasol
Kasim Darus
Lim Ah Leck
Low Han Men, Aric
Mahadevan s/o Gengadaram
Mok Kam Seng
Panneer Selvam
YM Raja Noorhana bt Raja Harun
Yong Yoon Kee

MIA Nominated Members
Lam Kee Soon
Yue Sau Him

Secretariat Office
Malaysian Association of Accounting Administrators
Dewan Akauntan, 2 Jalan Tun Sambanthan 3,
Brickfields, 50470 Kuala Lumpur.
Tel : 03-2274 5055 or Fax : 03-2274 1783
e-mail : maaa@mia.org.my

MALAYSIAN ASSOCIATION
OF ACCOUNTING ADMINISTRATORS

Editor for MAAA News : Low Han Men,  Aric
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MAAA CONFERENCE

Facing the Future

T
he Malaysian Association of Accounting Administrators’ (MAAA) recently
held a one-day conference with the theme “Meeting the Challenges of
New Technologies and Regulatory Framework” as part of its efforts to

provide continuous development for people related to the profession. YB Datuk
Dr. Haji Shafie bin Mohd Salleh, the First Deputy Minister of Finance, was the
guest of honour. Also present at the opening ceremony were Soon Kwai Choy,
Vice President of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) and MAAA Presi-
dent, Izhar Abdul Kahar.

Apart from MAAA members, the conference was open to the public and drew
a range of participants from the accounting profession which included execu-
tives and technicians. MAAA is pleased with the response as the conference man-
aged to attract over 150 participants. According to MAAA, the conference was
aimed at providing a platform for accounting professionals to keep abreast of
current issues and developments in the areas of Company Law, Regulatory Com-
pliance, Taxation and E-Commerce.

Four sessions were
held with topics cover-
ing current develop-
ments vital to the ac-
counting fraternity. The
speaker for the first ses-
sion was Heng Chiang
Pooh, a Fellow of the
Malaysian Association of
the Institute of Char-
tered Secretaries and
A d m i n i s t r a t o r s
(MAICSA) who deliv-
ered a paper on Com-
pany Secretariat Prac-
tices — An Update.
Among others, the paper
covered the following :

1 The recent amendments to the Companies Act 1965.

2 An overview of the ROC guidelines that have been issued this year.

3 The role of company secretaries in corporate governance.

The second session covered the Updates of the Malaysian Accounting Stand-
ards Board (MASB), a board set up under the Financial Reporting Act 1997 as an
independent authority to develop and issue accounting and financial reporting
standards in Malaysia. Its Technical Director, Dr. Nordin Md Zain was the in-
vited speaker. His paper drew attention to the Board’s achievements to date and
the development of Islamic Accounting Standards.

In the afternoon, Dr. Veerinderjeet Singh, Executive Director of Arthur
Anderson & Co., Tax and Business Advisory spoke on Taxation Issues in Elec-
tronic Commerce while K.K. Leong, the General Manager of Corporate Affairs,
AccTrak21 Sdn. Bhd. presented a paper on Electronic Commerce and Accounting
Competencies.

MAAA President, Encik Izhar addressing the
participants
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Datuk Dr Haji Shafie meets the press immediately after officiating the
conference, flanked by Encik Izhar (on his right) and Mr Soon Kwai Choy

In his speech, Datuk Dr. Shafie stressed
on the need for members of the account-
ing fraternity to keep abreast of global tech-
nological advancements in order to remain
competitive. He applauded the MAAA’s ini-
tiative for organising the conference as it
gave members the opportunity to upgrade
their knowledge on the technological chal-
lenges and current regulations in a globally
connected economy.

The MAAA was initially incorporated in
March 1990 as The Malaysian Association
of Accounting Technicians (MAAT) under
Section 16(4) of the Companies Act 1965 as
a company limited by guarantee. In August
1996, the MAAT formally changed its name
to MAAA in recognition of the more dy-
namic role played by the members of this

Participants rapt with attention at the
conference

Datuk Shafie mingling with the participants

second tier accounting body which is spon-
sored by the national accounting body MIA.

To date, the total membership of MAAA
stands at 1,041, which comprises of 471
Accounting Administrators (A.Adm) and
570 Associate Accounting Technicians
(AAT). The membership of the Association
is expected to increase with the growing
recognition of the pre-professional account-
ing qualification and where holders of such
qualifications can be part of a body that rep-
resents their interests and promotes the
accountancy profession as a whole.
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HOW TO BECOME A MEMBER OF THE

MALAYSIAN INSTITUTE OF TAXATION

Benefits and Privileges of
Membership

The principal benefits to be derived from mem-
bership are :

1 Members enjoy full membership status and
may elect representatives to the Council of the Institute.

2 Status attaching to membership of a professional body deal-
ing solely with the subject of taxation.

3 Supply of technical articles, current tax notes and news from
the Institute.

4 Supply of the Annual Tax Review, together with the Finance Act.

5 Opportunity to take part in technical and social activities or-
ganised by MIT.

Qualification Required For Membership
There are two classes of members, namely, Associate Members

and Fellows. The class to which a member belongs to is herein
referred to as his status. Any Member of MIT so long as he re-
mains a Member may use after his name in the case of a Fellow,
the letters FTII and in the case of an Associate, the letters ATII.

Associate Membership
1 Any person who has passed the Advanced Course examination

conducted by the Department of Inland Revenue and who has
not less than five years practical experience in practice or em-
ployment relating to taxation matters approved by the Council.

2 Any person whether in practice or in employment who is an
advocate or solicitor of the High Court of Malaya, Sabah and
Sarawak and who has had not less than three years practical
experience in practice or employment relating to taxation
matters approved by the Council.

3 Any Registered Student who has passed the examinations
prescribed (unless the Council shall have granted exemptions
from such examinations or parts thereof) and who has had not
less than five years practical experience in practice or employ-
ment relating to taxation matters approved by the Council.

4 Any person who is registered with MIA as a Registered Ac-
countant and who has had not less than two years practical
experience in practice or employment relating to taxation
matters  approved by the Council after passing the examina-
tion specified in Part 1 of the First Schedule or the Final Ex-
amination of The Association of Accountants specified in Part
II of the First Schedule to the Accountants Act, 1967.

5 Any person who is registered with MIA as a Public Accountant.

6 Any person who is registered with MIA as a Licensed Account-
ant and who has had not less than five years practical experi-

ence in practice relating to taxation matters ap-
proved by the Council after admission as a li-
censed accountant of the MIA under the Account-
ants Act, 1967.

7 Any person who is authorised under sub-sec-
tion (2)/(6) of Section 8 of the Companies Act, 1965 to act as
an approved company auditor without limitations or conditions.

8 Any person who is granted limited or conditional approval
under sub-section (6) of Section 8 of the Companies Act, 1965
to act as an approved company auditor.

9 Any person who is an approved Tax Agent under Section 153
of the Income Tax Act, 1967.

Fellow Membership

1 A Fellow may be elected by the Council provided the appli-
cant has been an Associate Member for not less than five years
and in the opinion of the Council is a fit and proper person to
be admitted as a Fellow.

2 Notwithstanding, Article 8(1) of the Articles of Association, the
First Council Members shall be deemed to be Fellows of MIT.

Application of Membership

Every applicant shall apply in a prescribed form and pay pre-
scribed fees. The completed application form should be returned
accompanied by :

1 Certified copies of :

a) Identity Card.

b) All educational and professional certificates in support of
your application.

2 Two identity card-size photographs.

3 Fees :
Fellow Associate

(a) Admission Fee : RM300 RM200

(b) Annual Subscription : RM145 RM120

Every member granted a change in status shall thereupon pay
such additional fees for the year then current as may be prescribed.

The Council may at its discretion and without being required
to assign any reason, reject any application for admission to mem-
bership of the Institute or for a change in the status of a Member.

Admission fees shall be payable together with the application
for admission as members. Such fees will be refunded if the appli-
cation is not approved by the Council.

Annual subscription shall be payable in advance on and there-
after annually before 31 January of each year.
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1  Company Law Practice Board

Prescription of Submission of Company’s
Statement of Accounts.

Based on the Auditing Standard Board’s
advise that the term ‘modified’ audit report
be added in to ‘qualified’ and ‘unqualified’
report as prescribed in the International
Standards on Auditing (ISA) 700, the mat-
ter was proposed in the recent Company
Law Forum (CLF) held at the Bar Council.

Practical Problems in Dealing with ROC.
It was informed that in respect of the

practical problems in dealing with ROC
such as filing procedures, practitioners can
now refer to the ROC website. In view of
this, the Board decided that there would
be no dialogue sessions held between MIA
members and the ROC.

Limitation of the objects in the Memoran-
dum and Articles of Association to three core
businesses only.

It was clarified that the recent require-
ment by ROC on the limitation of objects
in the Memorandum and Articles of Asso-
ciation (M&A) to three objects refers to
three core businesses.

Proposal to Organise a Retreat to Staff of
the Secretarial Practice Firms.

It was proposed that a camp-like work-
shop be organised for the staff of secretarial
firms which will enable them to share their
knowledge and experience with each other.

2  Financial Reporting Board

Review of Standards Issued by the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards Committee
(IASC)

The Board reviewed and deliberated on
the provisions of the following documents :

i. IAS 40 :  Investment Property

ii. Implementation Guidance on IAS 39 :
Financial Instruments — Recognition
and Measurement

Review of Exposure Drafts Issued by the
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board
(MASB)

The Board deliberated on the following
exposure draft :

n MASB ED 26 :  Financial Reporting by
Unit Trusts

Comments on the following exposure
drafts have been submitted to MASB:

i. MASB ED 22 :  Segment Reporting

ii. MASB ED 23 :  Business Combinations

iii. MASB ED 24 :  Financial Instruments -
Disclosure and Presentation

iv. MASB ED 25 :  Impairment of Assets

Financial Statements Disclosure Checklist
The Board is currently reviewing the fi-

nal draft of the Financial Statements Dis-
closure Checklist.

Referral on Compliance with “Approved
Accounting Standards”

The Board had been requested by the
Investigation Committee (IC) of the Insti-
tute and the Kuala Lumpur Stock Ex-
change, to give its expert opinion on mat-
ters of compliance with approved account-
ing standards, for financial statements of
companies referred.

Matters raised and the Board’s deci-
sions, are as follows :

n Deferred Exchange Reserve
The Board was of the view that non-cash

transactions excluded under Paragraph
18(b), IAS 7, Cash Flow Statements should
be restricted to unrealised exchange dif-
ferences on monetary assets and liabilities
and not to deferral of exchange reserves
arising from translation of foreign cash and
cash equivalent at balance sheet date.

n Initial Public Of fer Expenses (‘IPO ex-
penses’)/Discontinued Operations on Infor-
mation Technology and Direct Selling Busi-
nesses treated as an Extraordinary Item

Whether a transaction gives rise to an
extraordinary item would depend on the
nature of the transaction. The standard
provides guidance on several factors,
which include the control over the occur-
rence of the transaction, the normality of
the transaction, and whether it is distinct
from the ordinary activity of the enterprise.

The Board considered these factors and
also the examples provided in paragraph
14 of IAS 8, and was of the view that nei-

ther IPO expenses nor discontinued opera-
tions on information technology and direct
selling businesses, falls within the defini-
tion of extraordinary item in paragraph 6
of IAS 8. As such, the treatment of the
above said expenses was incorrect.

n  Unrealised Foreign Exchange Gain
The Board was of the view that

unrealised foreign exchange gain should
be adjusted against the profit before taxa-
tion in reporting cash flows from operat-
ing activities, as required by paragraph
18(b) of IAS 7.

n  Non Disclosure of the Exceptional Gain
Arising from the Surplus from Insurance
Claims on Losses Suffered from a Massive
Fire Outbreak and the Appropriateness of
Recognition of a Contingent Gain

The Board agreed that the item on “ex-
ceptional gain” arising from surplus from
insurance claims on losses suffered from
a massive fire outbreak was not disclosed
on the face of the profit and loss account
as an exceptional item nor was it disclosed
with relevant explanation as to its nature
and amount in the notes to the accounts as
required by paragraph 16 of IAS 8.

The Board was also concerned as to the
appropriateness of recognising the excep-
tional gain when the insurance claim was
subject to agreement by the insurance
company. Paragraph 29 of IAS 10 states that
contingent gains should not be accrued in
financial statements. The existence of con-
tingent gains should be disclosed if it is
probable that the gain will be realised.

n Non Disclosure of the Amount of Restric-
tion on Title of Assets

The Board agreed that the amount of re-
striction on title of assets was not disclosed
as required by paragraph 67(b) of IAS 16.

n Non Disclosure of Purchase of Fixed As-
sets by means of a Hire Purchase or Finance
Lease under the Cash Flow Statement

The Board agreed that there was no dis-
closure of purchase of fixed assets by
means of a hire purchase or finance lease
during the financial year as required by
paragraph 43 of IAS 7.

MIA’S TECHNICAL AND PRACTICE NEWS
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List of New Books, Acts and Standards Available in
the MIA Resource Centre

BOOKS

Profile of Internal Auditing in Malaysia, Ernst &
Young, 2000.

Call No. :  657.45 595 072 MAL

Foreign Companies in Malaysia :  Yearbook 2000/
2001, London, Commercial Intelligence Service,
2000.

Call No. :  338.888 595 FOR

2000 XYX Model Financial Accounts, by Kevin
W. Neville, Victoria, Australia, Centre For Pro-
fessional Development, 2000.

Call No. : 657.3 NEV

Building Confidence :  Electronic Commerce and
Development, United Nations Conference on
Trade and Development (UNCTAD), 2000.

Call No. :  658.0564 BUI

Productivity Report 1999, Kuala Lumpur, NPC,
2000.

Call No. :  330.5 PRO

British Companies Cases 1999, Oxfordshire,
CCH, 2000.

Call No. :  346. 0668 0941 BRI

Cybertaxation :  The Taxation of E-commerce, by
Karl Freiden, Chicago, CCH Incorporated, 2000.

Call No. :  336.2 380 FRE
(Compliments from Arthur Andersen)

A Practical Guide to Malaysian Taxation :  Cur-
rent Year Assessment, by Jeyapalan Kasipillai,
Kuala Lumpur, Mcgraw-Hill, 2000.

Call No. :  336. 9009595JEY
(Compliments From the Author)

ACTS

Akta Lembaga Minyak Sawit Malaysia 1998
(Akta 582) & Malaysia Palm Oil Board Act 1998
(Act 582), Kuala Lumpur, International Law
Book Services, 1999.

Call No.  351.823 33 026 AKT

Companies (Amendment) Act 2000, Gazetted on
15 June 2000.

Code No. :  A1081

Securities Commission (Amendment) Act 2000,
Gazetted on 15 June 2000.

Code No. :  A 1074

Finance Act 2000, Gazetted on 15 June 2000.
Code No. :  A 600

Copyright (Amendment) Act 2000, Gazetted on
15 June 2000.

Code No. :  A 1082

STANDARDS

International Standard on Auditing 505 :  Exter-
nal Confirmations, by International Federation
of Accountants, New York, IFAC, June 2000.

Call No. :  657.45 0218 INT
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Financial Statements Review
The preliminary review findings by the

Secretariat on the financial statements of
the companies were considered by the
Board. Findings will be communicated to
the respective members.

3  Maref Board of Trustees

MAREF 2000 Scholarships.
Four candidates were selected to be

awarded the MAREF 2000 Scholarships of
RM5,000 per annum for a duration of four
years.

Completed Research titled ‘Survey and
Analysis of Financial Reporting of Islamic
Banks Worldwide’.

This research project was completed in
April 2000 and was fully sponsored by the
Arab-Malaysian Banking Group through
MAREF.

The research report will be published
and launched officially.

Approval of Research Grants.
The Trustees have approved funding for

the following two research projects :

n Employers’ Preferences on the Recruit-
ment of an Accountant.

n The Future of Accountants in Malaysia :
An Empirical Investigation on Why Ac-
countants are Joining Commerce and
Industry.

Guides for Research Proposal and Research
Report.

The Trustees approved the guides for
Research Proposal and Research Report
recommended by the Research Board.
This would ensure a standard format of all
research proposals and reports.

4  MAREF Research Board

Applications for Research Grant.
The Board considered the following ap-

plications for research grant :

i. Taxpayers’ Income Tax Knowledge and
its Relationship with Non-Compliant
Behaviour :  A Case of Small Business
Entrepreneurs.

ii. The Role of Accounting Disclosure in
the East Asian Financial Crisis :  An
Evaluation of the Lessons Learned.

International Standard on Auditing 100 :  Assur-
ance Engagements, by International Federation
of Accountants, New York, IFAC, June 2000.

Call No. :  657.45 0218 INT

MASB Standard 14 :  Depreciation Accounting,
by Malaysian Accounting Standards Board,
Kuala Lumpur, MASB, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB 14/2000

MASB Standard 15 :  Property, Plant and Equip-
ment, by Malaysian Accounting Standards
Board, Kuala Lumpur, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB 15/2000

MASB Standard 16 :  Financial Reporting of
Interest in Joint Ventures, by Malaysia Account-
ing Standards Board, Kuala Lumpur, MASB,
2000.

Code No. :  MASB 16/2000

Financial Reporting of Interest in Joint Ventures
(Revised) :  MASB Exposure Draft, by Malaysian
Accounting Standards Board, Kuala Lumpur,
MASB, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB ED (Revised) 14/2000

Segment Reporting :  MASB Exposure Draft, by
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board, Kuala
Lumpur, MASB, March 2000.

Code No. :  MASB ED22/2000

Business Combinations :  MASB Exposure Draft,
by Malaysian Accounting Standards Board,
Kuala Lumpur, MASB, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB ED23/2000

Financial Instruments :  Disclosure and Presen-
tation, by Malaysian Accounting Standards
Board, Kuala Lumpur, MASB, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB ED24/2000

Impairment of Assets :  MASB Exposure Draft,
by Malaysian Accounting Standards Board,
Kuala Lumpur, MASB, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB ED25/2000

Financial Reporting By Unit Trusts, by Malaysian
Accounting Standards Board, Kuala Lumpur,
MASB, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB ED26/2000

Property Development Activities :  MASB Expo-
sure Draft, by Malaysian Accounting Standards
Board, Kuala Lumpur : MASB, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB ED27/2000

MASB Statement of Principles 1 :  Exempt Enter-
prises, by Malaysian Accounting Standards
Board, Kuala Lumpur, MASB, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB SOP 1/2000

MASB Statement of Principles 2 :  Interim Finan-
cial Reporting, by Malaysian Accounting Stand-
ards Board, Kuala Lumpur , MASB, 2000.

Code No. :  MASB SOP 2/2000




